

MEDICAL SCIENCE & DISCOVERY

ISSN: 2148-6832 Lycia Press LONDON UK



# High Lights

- Atherosclerosis risk factors with the number of involved coronary arteries in angiography
- An early breathing disorder in a newborn: Jeune syndrome

International Journal of Medical Science and Discovery Open Access Scientific Journal

February 2016, Vol.3, No.2

www.medscidiscovery.com

Medical Science and Discovery (http://www.medscidiscovery.com) is an international open access, peer-reviewed scientific research journal that provides rapid publication of articles in all disciplines of human health, clinical and basic medical science such as Biophysics, Biochemistry, Histology, Physiology, Genetics, Pathology, Toxicology, Anatomical Sciences, Pharmacology, Embryology, Internal and Surgical Medicine.

The policy of top priority of MSD is to put forward and highlight medical innovations and inspiring patents.

MSD offers an exceptionally fast publication schedule including prompt peer-review by the experts in the field and immediate publication upon acceptance. The editorial board aims at reviewing the submitted articles as fast as possible and promptly including them in the forthcoming issues.

This journal is published under ethical publishing policy of international scientific Bioethics and publication rules.

MSD supports the Open Access Initiative. Abstracts and full texts (HTML and PDF format) of all articles published by MSD are freely accessible to everyone immediately upon publication.

Medical Science and Discovery has scientific affiliation with Istanbul University, Cerrahpaşa Medical Faculty

Indexed Databases: NLM Cataloq, Chemical Abstracts (CAS), Index Copernicus, Open Air, ULRICHS Database, Proquest, Advanced Science Index, Turkish Citation Index, Tubitak Ulakbim, Research Bible, Scholar Google

**Founder:** Lycia Press, Zafer AKAN **Concessionaire and Founding Editor :** Zafer AKAN (Assoc. Prof. Dr.) **Publisher:** Lycia Press, LONDON UK

## Editor in Chief and Chairman

Zafer AKAN (Assoc. Prof. Dr.) CBU, Faculty of Medicine Dept. of Biophysics, Manisa, TURKEY

## **Deputy Editor**

Mehmet Bilgehan YUKSEL (Assoc. Prof. Dr.) CBU, Faculty of Medicine Dept. of Urology, Manisa, TURKEY Michael George KEMP (Assoc. Prof. Dr.) University of North Carolina, Genetic Medicine Chapel Hill, NC 27599 USA

## **Honorary Editors**

Prof. Dr. Aziz SANCAR, University of North Caroline, Dept. of Biochemistry-Biophysics, Chapel Hill, NC, USA
Prof. Dr. Metin TULGAR ,YYU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics, Van, TURKEY
Prof. Dr. Giancarlo BAROLAT, Barolat Neuroscience Institute, Denver, Colorado, USA
Prof. Dr. Joyce REARDON, UNC School of Med. Dept. Of Biochemistry-Biophysics North Carolina, USA

## **Associate Editors**

Prof. Dr. Arash KHAKI, Tabriz University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Pathology, Tabriz, IRAN
Prof. Dr. Nobuo Inotsume, Hokkaido Pharmaceutical University, Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Otaru, Japan
Asist. Prof. Dr. Secil ILHAN YILMAZ, Erciyes University, Genom and Stem Cell Research Center
Asist. Prof. Dr. Younès Elbouzekri EL IDRISSI, Università degli Studi di Genova, ITALY
Asist. Prof. Dr. Yusuf Kemal DEMIR, Australian Government End. Research Fellow. Faculty of Pharmacy, AUSTRALIA

All the financial and ethical rights of the journal are reserved for the private ownership of Lycia Press Address: Lycia Press Inc., 4th Floor 86-90 Paul Street, EC2A 4NE, London, UK. Phone: +44 0 203 322 3097 Email: press [at] lycians.com Website: www.lycians.com

## **Editorial Board of Medical Science and Discovery**

### **Internal Medicine**

Asist. Prof. Dr.	Adnan ÇOBAN
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Ahmet ÇİNKAYA
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Ahmet YILMAZ
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Alparslan ŞAHİN
Prof. Dr.	Ayşe YÜKSEL
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Gökmen BILGILI
Prof. Dr.	Hatice Sınav USLU
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Huseyin GUDUCUOGLU
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Murat ÖZSARAÇ
Prof. Dr.	Muzaffer POLAT
Asc. Prof. Dr.	Sebnem SENOL
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Tarık ULUCAY
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Yalçın GÖLCÜK

## **Basic Sciences**

Prof. Dr.	Ahmet VAR
Dr.	Alper Tunga ÖZDEMİR
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Ayse Inhan GARIP
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Bahriye SİRAV
Prof. Dr.	Beki KAN
Prof. Dr.	Cevval ULMAN
Prof. Dr.	Halit DEMİR
Dr.	Harika ATMACA
Prof. Dr.	M. Ali KORPINAR
Prof. Dr.	Mustafa ÖZBEK
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Mujdat AYTEKİN
Prof. Dr.	Necip KUTLU
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Özdemirhan Serçin
Prof. Dr.	Seda VATANSEVER
Prof. Dr.	Sevinç İNAN
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Sule ONCUL
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Tamer ZEREN
Prof. Dr.	Tunaya KALKAN

Halic University, Faculty of Medicine Dept. of Psychiatry, Istanbul
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Radiation Oncology
Dicle University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Family Medicine
Dicle University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Eye
Yuzuncu Yil University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Public Health, Van
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Neonatology
ISMU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Nucleer Medicine, Istanbul
YYU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Microbiology, Van
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Pediatric Neurology
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Infection Diseases, Manisa
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Forensic Medicine
CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Forensic Medicine

CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biochemistry Manisa ME State Hospital Dept. of Medical Biochemistry Marmara University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics Gazi University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics Acıbadem University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biochemistry YYU Faculty of Science, Dept. of Biochemistry CBU, Faculty of Science, Dept. of Biology, Manisa Istanbul University, Cerrahpasa Medical Faculty, Dept. of Biophysics, Istanbul CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Physiology Haliç University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Clinical Biochemistry, Istanbul CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Physiology Interdisciplinary Research Institute, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Histology and Embryology CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Histology and Embryology Istanbul Medeniyet University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics Istanbul University, Cerrahpasa Medical Faculty, Dept. of Biophysics, Istanbul

# Editorial Board of Medical Science and Discovery

## **Surgical Medicine**

Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Abdullah BOYUK	Dicle University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of General Surgery
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Bekir Serhat YILDIZ	PAU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Cardiology, Denizli,
Assist. Prof. Dr.	Christopher Schmitt	University of California, San Francisco Cardiovascular Res. Inst.
Prof. Dr.	Cüneyt TEMIZ	CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Neuro Surgery
Prof. Dr.	Çetin DİNÇEL	Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Urology
Prof. Dr.	Gönül Tezcan KELEŞ	CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Anesthesiology and Rean.
Asc. Prof. Dr.	İlhan GEÇİT	YYU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Urology
Prof. Dr.	M. Derya BALBAY	Memorial Hospital, Dept. of Urooncology
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Murat YILDIR	BAU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of General Surgery
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Musa ŞAHİN	Yuzuncu Yil University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Cardiovascular Surgery
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Mustafa USLU	Duzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Orthopedics, Bolu
Prof. Dr	Nasuhi Engin AYDIN	Katip Çelebi University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Pathology
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Necip PİRİNÇÇİ	YYU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Urology
Assist. Prof. Dr.	Pinar HASDEMIR	CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Manisa
Prof. Dr.	Taçkın ÖZALP	CBU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Orthopedic Surgery
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Tevfik GUNES	PAU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Cardiovascular Surgery, Denizli,
Assoc. Prof. Dr.	Yusuf Izzettin ALIHANOGLU	PAU, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Cardiology, Denizli

	Statistical Editor	
Prof. Dr.	Sıddık KESKİN	YYU Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Medical Statistics
	Language Editor	
Asist. Prof. Dr.	Hakan ERGİN	Istanbul University, Dept. of Foreign Languages
	Editorial Office	
Typist	Office Lycia Press	office@lycians.com
Web	Web Lycia Press	info@lycians.com

## **Instruction for Authors**

- MSD Publications uses CrossCheck's iThenticate software to detect instances of similarity in submitted manuscripts. In publishing only original research, MSD is committed to deterring plagiarism, including self-plagiarism. Your manuscript may be screened for similarity to published material.
- Manuscript Preparation :
- Manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with the "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submission to Biomedical Journals" proclaimed by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (<u>www.icmje.org</u>).
- 1.Cover letter
- **a** A statement that the manuscript has been read and approved by all the authors.
- **b** That the requirements for authorship have been met for all the authors, based on the criteria stated by *ICMJE*.
- c- Approval of all the authors regarding the order in which their names have appeared.
- **d** That each author confirms the manuscript represents honest work.
- e- The name, address, and telephone number of the corresponding author who is responsible for communicating with other authors about revisions and final approval.
- **f** The letter should give any additional information that may be helpful to the editor, such as the type or format of the article. If the manuscript has been submitted previously to another journal or in another language, it is helpful to include the previous editor's and reviewers' comments with the submitted manuscript, along with the authors' responses to those comments. Submitting previous evaluatory review of another journal accelerates the review process.
- g- For accepted manuscripts, the authors are requested to fill and sign the journal's cover letter to express their consent for its publication.
- **h** To reproduce published material, to use illustrations or tables or report information about identifiable people, the author should submit a copy of the permission with the manuscript to the journal.
- 2.**Top Ethic Committee Approval** Inclusion of the approval letter from the relevant Ethics Committee or Institution's Review Board regarding the research protocol and the rights of the subjects (if applicable to the study)
- 3.Top Consent Form

Attach a copy of the consent form to the letter, if applicable. Consent forms would be evaluated by the Ethics Committee and then signed by the participant.

## • 4.Top RCT or NCT Registration

Emailing the letter denoting registration of RCTs or NCTs in domestic or international databases (The trial's registration number needs to be mentioned, too).

- 5. Manuscripts submitted in English, must be type written, double-spaced, on good quality A4 paper, or paper of similar format. Authors are requested to reserve margins of at least 2.5cm all around the paper. Original drawings of photos, tables and figures should be furnished together with the manuscripts.
- 6. Manuscripts should be kept to a minimum length and should be subdivided into labeled sections (Title page, Abstract, Keywords, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusion, Acknowledgement, andReferences).
- 7. A title page is to be provided and should include the title of the article, authors' names with full first name (with degrees), authors' affiliation, suggested running title and corresponding author. The affiliation should comprise the department, institution (usually university or company), city and state (or nation). The suggested running title should be less than 50 characters (including spaces) and should comprise the article title or an abbreviated version thereof. For office purposes, the title page should include the name and complete mailing address, telephone and fax number, and email of the one author designated to review proofs.
- 8. An abstract no longer than 250 words for reviews and research articles is to be provided as the second page. Abstract should be structured as objective(s) (including purpose setting), materials and methods, results, and conclusion.
- 9. A list of 3-8 keywords, chosen from the Medical Subject Headings(MeSH) list<u>http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html</u>, is to be provided directly below the abstract. Keywords should express the precise content of the manuscript, as they are used for indexing purposes. Provide abbreviations and nomenclature list in an alphabetical order and non-standard abbreviations contained in the manuscript (excluding references) with definitions after the keywords. Use abbreviations sparingly and only when necessary to save space, and to avoid repeating long chemical names or therapeutic regimes. In a figure or table, define the abbreviations used in a footnote.
- 10. Tables in limited numbers should be self- explanatory, clearly arranged, and supplemental to the text. The captions should be placed above.
- 11. Figures should be utilized only if they augment understandability of the text. The captions should be placed below. Drawings and graphs should be professionally prepared in deep black and submitted as glossy, black and white clean Photostats. Professionally designed computer generated graphs with a minimum of 300 DPI laser printer output is preferable. Color photographs are welcomed.
- 12. The same data should not be presented in tables, figures and text, simultaneously.

## **Instruction for Authors**

- 13. MSD uses **Vancouver** referencing Style. References in limited numbers and up-to-dated must be numbered consecutively in order of citation in the text (number in parentheses). Periodical titles should be abbreviated according to the PubMed Journals Database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=journals). Print surnames and initials of all authors when there are six or less. In the case of seven or more authors, the names of the first six authors followed by et al. should be listed.
- Please check all references with EndNote referencing System.Please check out and Download Vancouver Endnote Style

## • TYPE OF ARTICLES:

- Type of articles are based on PubMed defenitions. For more info please refer to:<u>http://dtd.nlm.nih.gov/publishing/tag-library/3.0/n-w2d0.html</u>
- Editorial :
- Editorial is Opinion piece, policy statement, or general commentary, typically written by staff of the publication (The similar value "article-commentary" is reserved for a commentary on a specific article or articles, which is written by an author with a contrasting position, not an editor or other publication staff.)
- Letters to the Editor about a recent journal article :
- Letters referring to a recent article in this journal must be received within three months of its publication. For example, a letter referring to an article published in the January issue must be submitted online no later than March 31st. Letters submitted after the allowed time will not be considered.
- The text, not including references, must not exceed 700 words. A maximum of three authors and 10 references are allowed. Neither tables nor figures are allowed.
- Letters to the Editor NOT referring to a recent journal article :
- Original research that is of interest but does not fulfill all the requirements needed for publication as a full-length manuscript can be submitted as a letter to the editor. The letter must have a title and a maximum of three authors.
- The text, not including references, tables, figures or legends must not exceed 700 words. No more than 10 references and either one table or one figure are allowed.
- Word Count Limit: Letters should contain 500 700 words, maximum number of references is 10, maximum Number of illustrations/Tables is 1.
- Original :
- The content of the paper must justify its length. For reports of original investigative work, traditional division into sections is required: Title, Keywords, Addresses and which author address for correspondence, Structured abstract, Background, Objectives, Materials/Patients and Methods, Results, Discussion, References and Acknowledgements, Legends for display items (Figures and Tables).
- Research articles should contain 2500 3500 words, maximum number of references is 35, maximum Number of illustrations/Tables is 5.
- **Review Article :**Review Articles should contain 3500 4000 words, maximum number of references is 50, maximum number of illustrations/Tables is 5. In a review article both abstract and text of the manuscript, include following items:
- 1) Context: Include 1 or 2 sentences describing the clinical question or issue and its importance in clinical practice or public heath.
- 2) Evidence Acquisition: Describe the data sources used, including the search strategies, years searched, and other sources of material, such as subsequent reference searches of retrieved articles. Explain the methods used for quality assessment and the inclusion of identified articles.
- 3) Results: Address the major findings of the review of the clinical issue or topic in an evidence-based, objective, and balanced fashion, emphasizing the highest-quality evidence available.
- 4) Conclusions: Clearly state the conclusions to answer the questions posed if applicable, basing the conclusions on available evidence, and emphasize how clinicians should apply current knowledge.
- CASE REPORT :
- A case report is a case study, case report, or other description of a case that should contain 1500 2000 words with a structured abstract of 200 words maximum. Case reports should comprise sections of Introduction, Case Presentation, and Conclusions in Abstract and Introduction, Case Presentation, and Discussion in full text with not more than 2 tables or figures and up to 20 references.
- Brief Report :
- Brief Reports should contain 1000 2000 words with a structured abstract of 200 words maximum. Short reports should comprise sections of Background, Objectives, Materials & Methods, Results and Discussion with not more than 2 tables or figures and up to 20 references.

## • Short Communication :

- Short Communication, follow the instructions for original articles, except that the total word number of the main text (excluding references, tables and figure legends) is limited to 2000 with no more than 2 figures and/or tables and no more than 15 references. An abstract, not exceeding 150 words, should be presented at the beginning of the article.
- News :
- News should contain 1000 2000 words with a structured abstract of 200 words maximum. News should comprise sections of Background, Objectives, Materials & Methods, Results and Discussion with not more than 2 tables or figures and up to 20 references.
- Submission and Review Process : Manuscripts must be written in English (use consistently either British or American spelling) and must be submitted online. To submit, go to <u>http://medscidiscovery.com</u> Full instructions for submission are detailed on the submission system.
- C. General Consideration:
- 1.Peer review process: All submissions will be reviewed anonymously by at least two independent referees. All manuscripts will be acknowledged upon presenting to the Journal office, provided that all stated requirements are met. Authors are encouraged to suggest names of three expert reviewers, but selection remains a prerogative of the Editor. The whole review process depends on receiving referees comments and revising the manuscripts based on these comments to the author. On receipt of the revised article from the author, and after final approving by referees, the letter of acceptance is issued to the author. Authors have the right to communicate to the editor if they do not wish their manuscript to be reviewed by a particular reviewer because of potential conflicts of interest. No article is rejected unless negative comments are received from at least two reviewers.
- 2.Conflicts of interest: Authors should disclose, at the time of submission, information on financial conflicts of interest or other interests that may influence the manuscript. Authors should declare sources of funding for the work undertaken.
- 3. The Journal's Policy on Plagiarism: Any practice of plagiarism will not be tolerated by the journal regarding submitted manuscripts. Non-identifiable quoted segments of articles or close paraphrases from other author/s or even submitting the author's previously published work are known as the act of plagiarism by this journal unless proper use of quotations or paraphrasing with decent citation or referencing are in place. Heavy use of one or a couple of articles is discouraged, even if paraphrased fully. Advertent practice of plagiarism will abort reviewing process or later submission to this journal. All submitted articles will evaluate by *iThenticate*software belonged to cross check for stop any plagiarism and improve publication quality.
- 4. Ethical consent: All submitted articles involving human experiments should be performed only in accordance with the ethical standards provided by the responsible committee of the institution and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (as revised in Edinburgh 2000), available at <a href="http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html">http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html</a>. Papers describing animal experiments can be accepted for publication only if the experiment conforms the National Institute of Health Guide (National Institute of Health Publications No. 80-23, Revised 1978) for the care and use of Laboratory Animals for experimental procedure. Authors must provide a full description of their anesthetics and surgical procedures. All manuscripts reporting the results of experimental investigations involving human subjects should include a statement confirming the informed consent was obtained from each subject or subject's guardian. All animal or human studies should be used after approval of the experimental protocol by a local ethics committee</a>
- 5.Acknowledgements:Contributors: In acknowledgement section, name people for their contributions or their permission to reproduce their published material, to use their illustrations or provide information about them- try to fully name people who have helped from the conception of the idea to adoption of the hypothesis, to finalization of the study, etc., earnestly.Statement of financial support: Aside from the title page, state any financial or other relationships that might lead to a conflict of interest.
- 6.Copyright: Please complete copyright form and send via email to editor. Download MSD Copyright Form
- 7.**Disposal of material:**Once published, all copies of the manuscript, correspondence and artwork will be held for 6 months before disposal.
- 8. This journal is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>.
- 9.Once a manuscript is accepted for publication it will be provided with a registered DOI number following the acceptance decision. Manuscripts accepted for publication by the **MSD** will be published as ahead of print articles prior to the printing date of their scheduled issue. Corresponding author will be provided with a PDF Proof by the publisher once the production process of an accepted manuscript is over.

## **Instruction for Authors**

## • 10. Briefly Sections of MSD article:

• Sections of article should insert into just one word document and uploaded to MSD submission system as manuscript document. Title page will detach from manuscript by MSD editors and manuscript will forward to referees without title page due to double blinded review rules.

## • 1-Title Page Section

- Article Type:
- Title of Article:
- Name Surname of Author<sup>1</sup>, Name Surname of Author<sup>2</sup>, ...
- <sup>1</sup>Author Name Surname, Affiliation, e-mail address
- <sup>2</sup>Author Name Surname, Affiliation, e-mail address
- \*Corresponding Author :
- Author Name Surname, Affiliation, Address, Phone, Fax, E-mail address,
- Corresponding Author should upload all file

## • 2-Manuscript Section

- Abstract ( Objective: Methods: Results: Conclusion: "200 words and Key words )
- Introduction, Material and Methods, Statistic, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgement, References

## • 3-Table and Figures Section

• Tables and Legends, Figures and Legends

## Article Processing Charge

- MSD is a non-profit Scientific Journal Platform; however, it uses professional services such as Language Editing, DOI, domain and hosting Services, iThenticate Plagiarism or similarity detection detection Software. All of these professional services are used for all the article processes and an inevitable cost arises with this.
- Unfortunately, like most open journals, fees of the publication with MSD are charged to Authors. Payment is under the responsibilities of corresponding Author(s). MSD does not charge any fee during the submission period. However, after the peer-review process, a non-refundable charge (100 USD) for each accepted manuscript must be paid by the author(s) via MSD's official PayPal account. An invoice will be sent for each accepted manuscript to corresponding author(s).
- Following with completion of payment procedure, the galey proof and acceptance letter of article will be send to authors for last check.
- Preperation of articles in PDF and HTMLformat is covered by Lycia Press Inc. (www.lycians.com) and Article Processing Charges paids to Lycia Press Inc. (www.lycians.com)

## Contents

## **Original Articles**

Independent Risk Factors for Failure of Nonoperative Management in Patients with Splenic Injury Zubeyir Bozdag, Abdullah Boyuk, Ahmet Turkoglu, Taner Ciftci, Omer Uslukaya, Abdullah Oguz, Metehan Gumus	60-4
Relation of atherosclerosis risk factors with the number of involved coronary arteries in angiography Ali Golmohammadi, Mohammadreza Taban Sadeghi, Mina Bakhshayeshi, Hossein Namdar, Ahmad Separham	65-70
The analysis of adult intoxication cases seen in Adıyaman Region and treated in intensive care unit Mehmet Duran, Oznur Uludag, Nureddin Yuzkat	71-5
The effects of glycemic control on malondialdehyde modified low-density-lipoprotein-immunglobulin G levels in type 2 diabetics Alper Tunga Ozdemir, Hale Aral, Fusun Erdenen, Rabia Bilge Ozgul Ozdemir, Omer Emecen, Guvenc Guvenen, Cuneyt Muderrisoglu	76-80
Relationship between Nurses' Spiritual Well-being and Nurses' perception of competence in providing spiritual care for patients Hossein Ebrahimi, Mohammad Asghari Jafarabadi, Hossein Namdar Arshetnab, Soraya Golipoor Khanmiri	81-6
One year experience of emergency service in patients with penetrating head trauma due to firearm Hamza Karabag, Mustafa Kilic, Kadri Burak Ethemoglu, Hasan Buyukaslan	87-90
<b>Could Computer Game Players React as Quick as Table Tennis Athletes and Perform the Right Action?</b> Senay Koparan Sahin, Engin Sagdilek	91-7
Diet induced weight loss reduces mean platelet volume in people with obesity Huseyin Kurt, Davut Demirkiran	98-102
Case Reports	
An early breathing disorder in a newborn: Jeune syndrome Fatma Narter, Ozlem Turkoglu, Hakan Sarbay, Muferret Erguven	103-6
Late Presentation of Pericarditis After Honey Bee Sting: Case report Celaleddin Soyalp, Suleyman Cagan Efe	107-8
A Case of Crohn's Disease Admitted with Acute Abdomen Pain Yeliz Cagan Appak, Guzide Dogan, Serdar Tarhan, Semin Ayhan, Erhun Kasirga	109-11
An unusual reason of abdominal pain: A case of Rapunzel's syndrome and literature review Sevgi Buyukbese Sarsu, Ali Karapur	112-5



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 60-4

## Original Article

ISSN: 2148-6832

Doi: 10.17546/msd.15377

# Independent risk factors for failure of non-operative management in patients with splenic injury

Zubeyir Bozdag<sup>1\*</sup>, Abdullah Boyuk<sup>1</sup>, Ahmet Turkoglu<sup>1</sup>, Taner Ciftci<sup>2</sup>, Omer Uslukaya<sup>1</sup>,

Abdullah Oguz<sup>1</sup>, Metehan Gumus<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

**Objective:** It is crucial to assess non-operative management (NOM) of risk failures before it is preferred as a management option for treatment of splenic trauma or rupture. The purpose of this study is to investigate the outcome of non-operative management of splenic trauma, and to determine the independent predictive factors effecting NOM failure.

**Material and Methods:** Seventy-seven patients among all of consecutive patients admitted with splenic trauma between January 2005 and June 2015 were included in the study. The patients were divided into two groups. Group 1: Successfully treated with non-operative management, and Group 2: The failure of non-operative management. Data recorded included patient demographics, vital signs, injury mechanism, Injury Severity Score (ISS), splenic trauma grade, hematologic parameters, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), transfusion requirements, and length of hospital stay.

**Results:** There were 66 (85.7 %) patients in group 1, while only 11 patients (14.3%) in group 2. Mechanism of injury was blunt in seventy-one patients and, penetrating in 6 patients. ISS [Odds Ratio=1.293; 95% CI=1.045-1.601; p=0.018] and blood transfusion [Odds Ratio=2,739; 95% CI= 1.140-6,581; p=0.024] were detected to be an independent predictive factors for the failure of non-operative management. Group 1 has significantly higher hospitalization period ( $7.73\pm2.867$  vs  $6.67\pm2.289$ ).

**Conclusions:** Non-operative management failure risk is crucial and higher in patients with high ISS and in patients who require much blood transfusion in first 24 hours. Special attention should be paid to these patients if non-operative management becomes the preferred management option.

Key words: Non-Operative Management, NOM, Splenic Rupture, Risk Factors

## Introduction

The spleen is one of the most commonly injured organs in abdominal trauma. Historically, the best treatment option for patients with traumatic splenic injury was splenectomy (1). Procedures for preservation of the spleen have attracted more attention since the description sepsis of postsplenectomy by Singer (2).

Developments in the intensive care units and in the field of radiology have provided an opportunity for application of spleen preservation procedures and nonoperative management (NOM). Nowadays, the standard treatment choice of hemodynamically stable patients with blunt splenic trauma is NOM, although it is associated with a potential risk of failure.

The greatest advantage of NOM is the preservation of splenic function.

In many studies, 78-98% success rates for NOM have been described (1, 2, 3, 4, 5). However, many risk factors have been described in the literature that may lead to failure of NOM. Hemodynamic instability, age above 55 years, multiple organ injuries, higher splenic trauma grade, Injury Severity Score (ISS) and transfusion requirement, lower blood pressure and GCS at admission, degree of hemoperitoneum, and contrast extravasation are patient-related factors frequently reported to be associated with failure of NOM (1, 6). However, there is no consensus on the predicting factors that may lead to NOM failure.

In this study, the outcomes of splenic trauma of NOM were retrospectively investigated and determined the independent predictive factors effecting NOM failure.

Received:21-10-2015, Accepted 22-10-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Department of General Surgery, School of Medicine, Dicle University, Diyarbakır, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Department of Anestesia and Reanimasyon, School of Medicine, Trakya University, Edirne, Turkey.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Zubeyir Bozdag E-mail: zubeyirbozdag@gmail.com

### **Material and Methods**

The study was conducted at the Dicle University after approval of study by the ethical committee. A total of 256 patients with splenic trauma had been admitted to our clinic during January 2005 to June 2015. Patients who received NOM treatment and met the following criteria were included in the study; hemodynamically stable, no demonstrable peritoneal irritation finding on physical examination, and no injuries on computed tomography (CT) scans requiring operative intervention. All but unstable patients were evaluated with imaging modalities like ultrasonography (US) and CT. Exclusion criteria are factors like high bleeding risk such as coagulopathy, use of anticoagulants. A total of 77 patients with splenic trauma meeting the above criteria were included in the study.

Records of these patients were retrospectively evaluated. Patient demographics, vital signs, injury mechanism, Injury Severity Score (ISS), splenic trauma grade, hematologic parameters, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score, transfusion requirements, and length of hospital stay were recorded. This data was then compared between two groups which were defined as Group 1; patients were successfully treated with NOM and Group 2; patients requiring operation due to the failure of NOM. Patients were monitored closely in an intensive care unit or monitored setting. Oral intake was restricted, parenteral fluids were given, and bed rest was ordered. Immediate operation were performed when patients exhibited any abnormality requiring operative management like instable hemodynamic condition, continuing bleeding, or positive peritoneal irritation signs. American Association for the Surgery of Trauma (AAST) classification was used for grading splenic trauma (7).

#### Statistical analysis

SPSS package program (SPSS for Windows 16.0, SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL) was used for statistical analysis. Chi square or Fischer's exact test was used for comparisons of percentages, while independent t-test was used for the mean values. Multivariate regression analysis was used to detect the independent factors effecting failure of NOM of splenic trauma. A p < 0.05 was accepted as being statistically significant.

### Results

NOM procedures were followed for a total of 77 patients. However, NOM had failed in 11 patients (14.3%), and splenectomy was performed. The clinical finding and patients' demographics are demonstrated in Table 1. Mechanism of injury was blunt in seventy-one patients, and penetration in six in injuries. Mean length of hospital stay was  $6.67\pm2.289$  for group I,  $7.73\pm2.867$  for Group II. There were no mortalities.

While patient demographics, vital signs, GCS, number of additional organ injury were not different at a statistically significant level between the groups in a univariate analysis, Splenic trauma grade, ISS, Hg levels, and transfusion requirements were different. So they entered into a multivariate logistic regression analysis. ISS [Odds Ratio (OR) =1,293; 95% Confidence Interval (CI) = 1,045-1,601; p=0.018] and blood transfusion [Odds Ratio (OR) = 2,739; 95% Confidence Interval (CI) = 1,140-6,581; p=0,024] were determined to be independent predictive factors for the failure of NOM (Table 2). Length of hospital stay was significantly higher in Group 1 than in Group 2 ( $6.67\pm2.289$  vs  $7.73\pm2.867$ ).

Table 1	l: Com	parison c	of de	emograpl	nic and	clinical	charact	teristics	s of tł	ne i	patients
I HOIC I		ipanoon c	· 1 • • •	onnograpi	me and	emmean	enarae		<i>, ,,,</i> ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	10 1	partentes

	Group 1(NOM) (n = 66)	Group 2 (NOM failure) $(n = 11)$	P value
Age (years)	30.86±11.124	30.91±14.543	0.484
SBP(mmHg)	112.27±13.103	$100.91 \pm 11.362$	0.271
ISS	$5.64 \pm 3.728$	$15.36 \pm 6.652$	0.018
GCS	$13.88 \pm 1.504$	$13.55 \pm 1.508$	0.167
Grade of splenic injury n (%)			
Ι	20 (30.3%)	0	
II	35 (53%)	1(%9)	< 0.0001
III	7 (10.6%)	5 (45.5%)	
IV	4 (6.1%)	5 (45.5%)	
Hgb (g/dL)	12.58±1.683	$10.21 \pm 1.600$	0.699
Blood transfusion (IU)*	$0.62 \pm 1.212$	2.82±0.751	0.024
EAI	23 (34.8%)	6 (54.5%)	0.314
IAI	27 (40.9%)	6 (54.5%)	0.515
LS(days)	6.67±2.289	7.73±2.867	0.001

SBP: Systolic blood pressure, ISS: Injury Severity Score, GCS: Glasgow Coma Scale, EAI: Extraabdominal organ injury, IAI: Intraabdominal organ injury, LS: Length of Stay in Hospital \*Within first 24 hours

Variables	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	p Value
		(Lower-Opper)	
ISS	1.293	(1.045 - 1.601)	0.018*
Grade of splenic injury	1.042	(0.064-17.005)	0.977
SBP(mmHg)	0.952	(0.851-1.065)	0.388
Hgb levels	0.853	(0.381-1.909)	0.699
Blood transfusion	2.739	(1.140-6.581)	0.024*

 Table 2: "Binary Logistic Regression" to detect predictors for the failure of non-operative treatment

ISS: Injury Severity Score SBP: Systolic blood pressure.

\*ISS and blood transfusion was significant independent predictive factor for non-operative management.

### Discussion

The NOM of splenic trauma has gained increasing acceptance in adults recently [8]. The benefits of NOM of splenic trauma include the followings: preservation of splenic function, avoidance of overwhelming post-splenectomy sepsis, avoidance of potential postsplenectomy thrombocytosis and avoidance of the risks associated with nontherapeutic laparotomy [9]. It is critically important to predict in which patients NOM will fail. However, the absence of a consensus regarding which patients NOM should be administered requires further study. A positive correlation was founded between the splenic trauma grade and NOM failure in many studies (1, 10, 11, 12, 13).

217 patients were identified splenic trauma grade of 3 or higher on CT as an independent predictive factor for failure of NOM by Velmahos et al (14). However, it was reported that trauma grade was not identified as a predictive factor for failure of NOM 815). We found the correlation between splenic trauma grade and NOM failure to be statistically significant but the splenic trauma grade was detected not to be predictive factor for NOM failure our study. We attribute this to the bias we have as we were inclined to administer NOM on lower grades of splenic trauma.

There is no consensus in the literature regarding the relationship between NOM failure rates and the number of blood transfusion requirements. In a study, more than 1 IU of RBC transfused was identified as predictive factor for failure of NOM [14]. Velmahos et al [14] also identified the higher failure rate in patients who were transfused more than 1 IU of RBC. Also, Sartorelli et al. (16) proposed that the failure rate is higher in patients who received more than 4 IU of RBC. Boyuk et al (10) proposed that the failure rate is higher in patients who received more than 2 IU of RBC. Hsieh et al (17) reported that patients with a low hemoglobin level at admission and a high number of transfusion requirement in the intensive care unit were predictive for NOM failure.

In the review of Olthof et al. (1), no evidence was found between hemoglobin/hematocrit levels and predictive factors for NOM failure in patients with blunt splenic trauma. In our study, the rate of NOM failure was higher in patients who required more than 2 IU of RBC in first 24 hours.

NOM is not proper management option in elderly patients, especially 55 years and over (18,19, 20). Rodrigeus et al (21), proposed that contraction and retraction of intra-parenchymal vessels are limited due to less elastic splenic capsule with increasing age. Failure of NOM may occur due to restricted splenic distention in the spleens of the elderly (10). In the report of Renzulli et al. (22), where they investigated the factors leading to NOM failure in patients with blunt splenic trauma, age over 40 years was the only independent predictive factor for failure of NOM. Whereas, age was not found to be limiting factors for NOM administration in many other studies (11, 12, 13, 14). Similarly, we also found age to not be a factor leading to NOM failure.

In the past, patients with altered mental status were not treated conservatively because of overlooked that injuries might intra-abdominal require laparotomy. According to Pal [24] the CT scans represent a very effective diagnostic method for hemodynamically stable patients with altered mental status. In our study GCS was not different between the two groups. In eight studies, where Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP) was analyzed (11, 14, 17, 19. 24, 25, 26, 27), only one study determined a correlation between failed NOM and statistically significantly lower SBP in admission (12).

Rosati et al (9) reported patients managed by immediate splenectomy had a significantly lower SBP as compared with those managed by NOM. The proportion of patients who presented with an SBP of <90 was also significantly higher in the group managed by immediately splenectomy. There was no difference between SBP of two groups compared in this study.

### Bozdag et al.

In review of Olthof et al. (1), ISS was found to be a strong prognostic factor for failure of NOM in patients with traumatic blunt splenic trauma. ISS was suggested as an independent predictor of failure by Bee et al. (27) and Malhotra et al. (29).

Velmahos et al. (14) observed a higher mean ISS in patients with NOM failure. ISS of greater than 25 was statistically significant in a univariate analysis. However it was not an independent predictive factor in multivariate analysis. It was demonstrated that patients who failed NOM were more likely to have 25 or higher ISS values (1). In the study of Rosati et al (9), patients undergoing immediate splenectomy had a higher ISS as well as higher morbidity and mortality rates compared to patients successfully managed nonoperatively. In our study, ISS was found to be an independent predictive factor for failure of NOM.

Gender is not considered as an important factor for NOM failure in the literature. However, one study determined a higher NOM failure in men (11). Gender was not found to be a predictive factor in our study.

Although NOM approaches have been considered as standard of care in hemodynamically stable patients with blunt splenic trauma for a long time, it is also being increasingly utilized in patients with penetrating abdominal trauma, including the settings of solid organ injury. Despite this evolution of clinical practice in penetrating splenic trauma, safety and efficacy of NOM is not known exactly (26). In addition to blunt trauma, NOM also can be applied for penetrating traumas. Dematriades et al (30) applied it liver in 28.4% of selected patients, kidney in 14.9%, and spleen in 3.5%. In our study, seventy-one patients who suffered from blunt and, six from low-grade penetrating injuries were treated non-operatively.

Hospitalization in NOM of splenic trauma varies between 3 to 7 days, if no other injuries are present to elicit a prolonged stay (31). NOM failure increased length of hospital stay and increased mortality in selected subsets of patients (9, 32). Accordingly, NOM has shorter length of hospital stay than operative management in patients with isolated solid organ injuries (30). In contrast, the length of hospital stay of NOM group was shorter in this study.

There are no comprehensive guidelines for management and follow-up of patients who were planned for NOM in evidence-based setting (33). In the report of Renzulli et al. (22), patients with splenic trauma were admitted to an intermediate care unit the first 24–48 hours. Hemoglobin was measured per four-six hours in the first day and daily after that, and 1–7 days bed rest was recommended. Restrictions on the activities of patients after discharge varied between 4 and 12 weeks based on the grade of splenic trauma and the demand of the activity. Strict bed rest for 48–72 hours and then limited bed rest for one

Medical Science and Discovery, 2016; 3(2): 60-4

# doi http://dx.doi.org/10.17546/msd.15377

week were recommended by the Renzulli et al (22), and patient's injuries and status depended limitations were prescribed.

### Conclusion

Currently, NOM is the standard treatment for treating hemodynamically stable patients with splenic trauma without additional traumas which require laparotomy. We found the chance of NOM failure to be higher in patients with a higher ISS, and in patients requiring blood transfusion in first 24 hours. Special attention should be paid to these patients when they are treated with NOM approaches. Predicting NOM failure reduces the frequency of non-operative treatment failure, especially in severe splenic trauma; however, it is still necessary to perform prospective, randomized clinical investigations.

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to Dicle University DUBAP for their sponsorship regarding English editing of this manuscript.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

### References

- Olthof DC, Joosse P, van der Vlies CH, de Haan RJ, Goslings JC. Prognostic factors for failure of nonoperative management in adults with blunt splenic trauma: a systematic review. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2013;74 :546-57.
- 2. Singer DB. Post-splenectomy sepsis. Perspect Pediatr Pathol 1973;1: 285–311.
- Galvan DA, Peitzman AB. Failure of nonoperative management of abdominal solid organ injuries. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2006;12:590-4.
- Watson GA, Rosengart MR, Zenati MS, et al. Nonoperative management of severe blunt splenic trauma: are we getting better? J Trauma. 2006;61:1113-8; discussion 1118-9.
- Smith J, Armen S, Cook CH, Martin LC. Blunt splenic trauma: have we watched long enough? J Trauma. 2008;64:656-63. discussion 663-5
- Tugnoli G, Bianchi E, Biscardi A, et al. Nonoperative management of blunt splenic trauma in adults: there is (still) a long way to go. The results of the Bologna-Maggiore Hospital trauma center experience and development of a clinical algorithm. Surg Today. 2014 Dec 5. [Epub ahead of print]
- Moore EE, Cogbill TH, Jurkovich GJ, Shackford SR, Malangoni MA, Champion HR. Organ injury scaling: spleen and liver (1994 revision). J Trauma. 1995;38:323–4
- Notash AY, Amoli HA, Nikandish A, Kenari AY, Jahangiri F, Khashayar P. Non-operative management in blunt splenic trauma. Emerg Med J. 2008;25:210-2

#### Bozdag et al.

- Rosati C, Ata A, Siskin GP, Megna D, Bonville DJ, Stain SC. Management of splenic trauma: a single institution's 8year experience. Am J Surg. 2015;209:308-14. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.06.034. Epub 2014 Oct 7
- Böyük A, Gümüş M, Önder A, et al. Splenic injuries: factors affecting the outcome of non-operative management. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery. June 2012;38:269-74
- Gonzalez M, Bucher P, Ris F, Andereggen E, Morel P. Splenic trauma: predictive factors for failure of nonoperative management [in French]. J Chir (Paris). 2008;145:561-7.
- Jeremitsky E, Kao A, Carlton C, Rodriguez A, Ong A. Does splenic embolization and grade of splenic trauma impact nonoperative management in patients sustaining blunt splenic trauma? Am Surg. 2011;77:215-20.
- Nix JA, Costanza M, Daley BJ, Powell MA, Enderson BL. Outcome of the current management of splenic trauma. J Trauma. 2001;50:835-42.
- Velmahos GC, Chan LS, Kamel E, et al. Nonoperative management of splenic trauma: have we gone too far? Arch Surg. 2000;135:674–9.
- Sharma OP, Oswanski MF, Singer D, Raj SS, Daoud YA. Assessment of nonoperative management of blunt spleen and liver trauma. Am Surg. 2005;71:379–86.
- Sartorelli KH, Frumiento C, Rogers FB, Osler TM. Nonoperative management of hepatic, splenic, and renal injuries in adults with multiple injuries. J Trauma. 2000;49:56-61; discussion 61-2
- Hsieh TM, Cheng Tsai T, Liang JL, Che Lin C. Nonoperative management attempted for selective high grade blunt hepatosplenic trauma is a feasible strategy. World J Emerg Surg. 2014:25;9:51. doi: 10.1186/1749-7922-9-51. eCollection 2014
- Ochsner MG. Factors of failure for nonoperative management of blunt liver and splenic injuries. World J Surg. 2001;25:1393–6
- McIntyre LK, Schiff M, Jurkovich GJ. Failure of nonoperative management of splenic injuries: causes and consequences. Arch Surg. 2005;140:563–8; discussion 568–9
- Bala M, Edden Y, Mintz Y, et al. Blunt splenic trauma: predictors for successful non-operative management. Isr Med Assoc J. 2007;9:857–61.

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.17546/msd.15377

- Rodrigues CJ, Sacchetti JC, Rodrigues AJ Jr. Age-related changes in the elastic fiber network of the human splenic capsule. Lymphology. 1999;32:64–9.
- Renzulli P, Gross T, Schnüriger B, et al. Management of blunt injuries to the spleen.Br J Surg. 2010;97:1696-703. doi: 10.1002/bjs.7203
- Pal JD, Victorino GP. Defining the role of computed tomography in blunt abdominal trauma.Use in the hemodynamically stable patient with a depressed level of consciousness. Arch Surg. 2002;137:1029-33.
- Sosada K, Wiewióra M, Piecuch J. Literature review of non-operative management of patients with blunt splenic trauma: impact of splenic artery embolization.Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2014;9:309-14. doi: 10.5114/wiitm.2014.44251. Epub 2014 Jul 23.
- Meguid AA, Bair HA, Howells GA, Bendick PJ, Kerr HH, Villalba MR. Prospective evaluation of criteria for the nonoperative management of blunt splenic trauma. Am Surg. 2003;69:238-42.
- Berg RJ, Inaba K, Okoye O, et al. The contemporary management of penetrating splenic trauma. Injury. 2014 Sep;45:1394-400. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2014.04.025. Epub 2014 Apr 18.
- Schurr MJ, Fabian TC, Gavant M, et al. Management of blunt splenic trauma: computed tomographic contrast blush predicts failure of nonoperative management. J Trauma. 1995;39:507-12; discussion 512-3
- Bee TK, Croce MA, Miller PR, Pritchard FE, Fabian TC. Failures of splenic nonoperative management: is the glass half empty or half full? J Trauma. 2001;50:230–6.
- Malhotra AK, Latifi R, Fabian TC, et al. Multiplicity of solid organ injury: influence on management and outcomes after blunt abdominal trauma. J Trauma. 2003;54:925-9.
- Demetriades D, Hadjizacharia P, Constantinou C, et al. Selective nonoperative management of penetrating abdominal solid organ injuries. Ann Surg. 2006;244: 620– 8.
- Beuran M, Gheju I, Venter MD, Marian RC, Smarandache R. Non-operative management of splenic trauma.Med Life. 2012 Feb 22;5(1):47-58. Epub 2012 Mar 5.
- Pachter HL, Guth AA, Hofstetter SR, Spencer FC. Changing patterns in the management of splenic trauma: the impact of nonoperative management. Ann Surg. 1998;227:708–17.

Copyright © 2014 The Author(s); This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. All Rights reserved by international journal of Medical Science and Discovery.

doi



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 65-70

## Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.23422

# Relation of atherosclerosis risk factors with the number of involved coronary arteries in angiography

Ali Golmohammadi<sup>1</sup>, Mohammadreza Taban Sadeghi<sup>1</sup>\*, Mina Bakhshayeshi<sup>1</sup>, Hossein Namdar<sup>1</sup>, Ahmad Separham<sup>1</sup>

### Abstract

**Introduction:** Coronary artery disease is the first leading cause of mortality in modern societies and formed the first cause of health expenditure. Male gender, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, family history of ischemic heart disease, personal history of ischemic heart disease, age, height, weight and smoking are the main risk factors for atherosclerosis and coronary artery diseases. Despite the abundant existing information about relation of these risk factors and atherosclerosis, there are different results regarding the relationship between these risk factors and the number of involved coronary arteries. The aim of this study is to determine the relation of these risk factors of coronary atherosclerosis with the number of involved coronary artery in angiography.

**Material and Methods:** In this cross-sectional study, a total of 300 patients during 8 months in ShahidMadani heart hospital were carried out as convenience sampling. Data was collected by questionnaire including age, sex, weight, height and body mass index, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, family history of coronary heart disease, smoking, drug addiction, occupation, place of residence and education were studied. Number of coronary arteries stenosis revealed by angiography. Data were analysed by software 17SPSS, Chi-square test, T test and ANOVA.

**Results:** A total of 300 patients with a mean age of  $63.3\pm11.2$  year were enrolled. Collected data showed that 71% were male, 33.3% smokers, 57.3% hypertensive, 30% diabetic, 27.7% with hyperlipidaemia, 70.34% obese and 14% with a family history of heart disease. Frequency of one, two and three vessel involvement was respectively 30%, 32% and 38%. There was a statistically significant relationship between ages, history of ischemic heart disease with the number of involved coronary artery. But there was no significant relationship with gender, body mass index, smoking and drug addiction, hypertension, family history of heart disease, location and education level with number of involved coronary artery.

**Conclusions:** Our study showed that despite the known role of conventional risk factors with the incidence and growth rate of atherosclerosis, but there is no direct correlation with some of these risk factors and the number of involved coronary arteries in coronary angiography

Key words: Coronary artery disease, Risk factors, Stenosis

### Introduction

Coronary artery disease is one of the most common diseases of our era. It is one of the most important causes of mortality and morbidity in developed and developing countries (1). The World Health Organization predicts that in the next years in developing countries, the prevalence of the disease not only will not reduce but also until 2020 the mortality rate will reach 25 million per year (2).

Each year, people in the United States were diagnosed with coronary artery disease that annually causes the death of half a million people and this statistics is more than mortality of cancer, accidents and diabetes mellitus in this country (3,4,5). Cardiovascular disease, with a prevalence of 39% is considered the first cause of mortality in Iran. Studies showed between 900 to 1,200 people die each month in Tehran due to heart disease (6, 7, 8).

Coronary artery disease is not only affecting mortality, but also can lead to disability, handicap, loss of productivity, poor quality of life; impose high expenditures and many social problems (9, 10). The costs associated with this disease in the United States is estimated about four hundred billion dollars (11). With increasing prevalence of coronary heart disease, factors that could affect incidence and mortality of these diseases come calling attention to the researchers.

Received:15-10-2015, Accepted 04-11-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016 1 Cardiovascular research center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran \*Corresponding Author: Mohammadreza Taban Sadeghi E-mail: m\_r\_taban@yahoo.com The results of this research led to a number of factors were known as cardiovascular risk factor including some social, environmental and behavioural factors that may increase the risk of atherosclerosis (12).

Framingham studies showed that coronary artery disease does not occur completely random and highrisk individuals can be detected based on number of some risk factors before the onset of clinical symptoms and concluded that a combination of these risk factors increased the risk of coronary heart disease (13). Hypercholesterolemia leads to atherosclerosis plaque formation and accumulation of these plaques cause narrowing of the coronary arteries and causes heart attack (14, 15). Cigarette smoking is one of the main preventable risk factors in the US and is allocated one-fifth of deaths from cardiovascular disease. Also, there are nearly 37 million deaths from cardiovascular disease in non-smokers due to contact with smokers (passive smokers). Clinically, smoking reduces high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and increases very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and blood glucose levels. After quitting smoking, the risk of cardiovascular disease can decrease up to 50 percent, and within 15 years the mortality due to cardiovascular disease will be similar to non-smokers (16, 17). The influence of drugs is not fully expressed in various studies, but some research showed that medication is effective on some risk factors for coronary heart disease (18).

Diabetes mellitus is one of the risk factors for cardiovascular disease (19). Diabetes is not only involved in the development of coronary artery disease, but also plays a role in various other diseases (20, 21). In many studies, hypertension is one of the risk factors on intensifying the coronary artery disease. Although, in some studies it has been rejected, but in general hypertension has been accepted as an important risk factor in coronary heart disease (22). Obesity, especially abdominal is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Obese patients have glucose intolerance and insulin resistance more than thin or normal weight people. Patients with visceral obesity usually have disruption of plasma lipids and more risk of cardiovascular disease (23).

Other factors that increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases are aging and gender (male with a greater increase). Age of mortality of cardiovascular disease has decreased in the past few decades, so that the age of death in the United States in 2006 compared to 1950 for coronary artery disease, 69% and for ischemic heart disease, 76% decreased (24). There is a misconception that cardiovascular diseases often occur in men. Although before 60 decades the prevalence of cardiovascular disease is higher in men, after the 60s and 70s the prevalence of this disease is equal in both genders (25).

Inflammation implicated in atherosclerosis and acute coronary syndromes and atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. White blood cells play an important role in the onset and progression of atherosclerosis (26). Also, along with risk factors the average of white blood cells increases significantly (27).

According to items listed above and due to different cultures, social environments and living conditions, the prevalence of risk factors for coronary artery disease have been different. Identifying the risk factors of this disease has great importance to health programming. Furthermore, any plan for the prevention of coronary artery disease requires sufficient information about its epidemiology and identification associated of high risk groups and factors. So, the aim of this study is to find the relationship between risk factors for coronary artery disease with the number of coronary artery stenosis in angiography for proper planning based on the results to reduce causes comes into action.

### Material and methods

This cross- sectional study was carried out for eight months in ShahidMadani heart hospital as convenience sampling. The study population included 300 patients with coronary artery disease which was confirmed by coronary angiography and were hospitalized in ShahidMadani heart hospital. Data was collected by questionnaire including age, sex, weight, height and body mass index, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, family history of heart disease, smoking, drug addiction, occupation, place of residence and education. Number of stenotic arteries was revealed by angiography. Data were analyzed by Chi-square test, T test and ANOVA with software 17SPSS. P value equal to or less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Results

Of the total 300 patients included in this study, 213 patients were male (71%) and 87 patients were female (29%). The mean age of participants were  $63.3\pm11.2$  years (Min = 25 years and Max = 84 years). The mean age of women was significantly higher than the mean age of men (P= 0.04). 42 patients (14%) had a positive family history of ischemic heart disease. Mean left ventricle Ejection Fraction of patients were  $47.6 \pm 8.9$ .

Out of, 300 patients, 87 admitted with ST elevation myocardial infarction, 35 patients with Non ST elevation MI, 124 patients with unstable Angina, 49 patients with chronic stable Angina and 5 patients due to positive exercise test or heart scan underwent coronary angiography (Figure 1).

In our study, 57.3% of patients had a history of hypertension, 33.3% had a history of smoking, 1.7% had a history of opiate drug addiction, 0.7% had a history of alcohol and 1% had a history of smoking shisha. The average body mass index (BMI) of the

### Golmohammadi et al.

patients were 27.7 $\pm$ 4.9 (Min=16.4 and Max=54.9)). Incidence of three, two and one vessel involvement did not differ among women and men (P=0.07). Most coronary artery involvement related to three vessels disease by 38% and 14 patients (4.67%) had involvement of left main coronary lesion. The age of patients with the number of coronary artery involvement had direct and significant correlation (P=0.02).

After examining the relationship of the past medical history with the number of stenotic coronary arteries, we conclude that just in patients with a history of ischemic heart disease there were significant differences among the groups with one, two and three vessel involvement (P< 0.001)(Table 1). There were no significant correlations among the other past medical history with the number of stenotic coronary arteries. Left ventricular ejection fraction had direct and significant correlations with number of involved coronary arteries. (Table 2).

Table 1: Qualitative data	of patients based or	the number of	1 Vessel involv	ed	
Variables	Categories	1 Vessel involved	2 Vessel involved	3 Vessel involved	P- Value
Gender	Male	65 (30.5%)	75 (35.2%)	73 (34.3%)	0.07
	Female	25 (28.7%)	21 (24.1%)	41 (47.1%)	
	Illiterate	35 (32.7%)	29 (27.1%)	43 (40.2%)	
	Undergraduate	39 (29.3%)	43 (32.3%)	51 (38.3%)	
Education	Diploma	8 (20.5%)	19 (48.7%)	12 (30.8%)	0.18
	Bachelor	4 (66.7%)	1 (16.7%)	1 (16.7%)	
	Higher education	1 (50%)	1 (50%)	0 (0%)	
Desident	Urban	70 (29.5%)	77 (32.5%)	90 (38%)	0.92
Kesiuelli	Rural	20 (31.7%)	19 (30.2%)	24 (38.1%)	
Blood pressure	Yes	43 (25%)	59 (34.3%)	70 (40.7%)	0.09
Diabetes mellitus	Yes	20 (22.2%)	29 (32.2%)	41 (45.6%)	0.15
Henerlinidamia	Yes	26 (31.3%)	29 (34.9%)	28 (33.7%)	0.69
пурегирисения			67 (30.9%)	86 (39.6%)	
Ischemic heart disease	Yes	10 (14.3%)	25 (35.7%)	35 (50%)	
Positive family history	Yes	13 (31%)	13 (31%)	16 (38.1%)	0.98
Smoking	Yes	27 (27%)	36 (36%)	37 (37%)	0.53

Table 2: Quantitative of	of patients based on tl	ne number of Vessel	involved	
Variables	1 Vessel Disease	2 Vessel Disease	<b>3</b> Vessel Disease	P- Value
BMI	$27.85 \pm 5.04$	$27.96\pm5.35$	$27.44 \pm 4.64$	0.72
EF (%)	$49.11\pm9.46$	$48.02\pm7.04$	$45.95\pm\!\!9.39$	$0.03^{*}$
Age	$58.85 \pm 12.73$	$65.65 \pm 12.12$	$63.29 \pm 10.11$	$0.02^{*}$



**Figure 1.** Frequency of the number of Vessel involved. 1VD: 1 Vessel Disease; 2VD: 2 Vessels Disease; 3VD: 3 Vessels. Disease Data are represented as % of involvement.

### Discussion

This study showed that age has a direct impact on the number of involved coronary arteries confirmed by coronary angiography and by increasing age, number of involved coronary arteries increase too. Several previous studies described the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors with severity of coronary artery involvement and shown that patient with abnormal angiography had a higher mean age than people with normal angiography (28). Studies have also showed that, by increasing age, coronary artery involvement increases too (29-32).

Our study also showed that gender had no effect on the number of involved coronary arteries. The impact of gender on the number of coronary arteries involved has been different and some studies have reported similar results (30). But in some studies the number of coronary arteries involved in women was higher than men (33). While the results of some studies have reported that the number of coronary arteries involved in men was higher than women (29, 34), in our study, ineffectiveness of gender in the number of coronary arteries involved may be due to older women in the study group compared to men.

In our study, BMI was not associated with the number of involved vessels. Similar results were obtained in other studies too (37). In several studies, the average body mass index with the number of vessels involvement has been shown significant difference (20, 35,36). In our study, due to no difference between the sets of data, there may be higher prevalence of obesity in the younger population than in previous decades and so neutralizes the effect of it through the impact of age on the number of involved vessels.

Also, there was not a statistically significant relationship between hypertension and the number of involved vessels. In previous studies, it has been shown that hypertension associated with a greater coronary artery disease (38, 39). Despite of proved relation among hypertension, atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease, other studies have not shown relationship between hypertension and number of involved vessels (40).

In this study, smoking and drugs addiction and alcohol use were not significantly associated with the number of occluded coronary arteries. In spite of relevance of cigarette smoking, drug addiction and alcohol use with atherosclerosis, some other studies have not shown the relationship between these factors and the number of involved vessels (1, 29, 31 and 40). Due to the increase in Cigarette use in youth and starting at a younger age, it can be adjusted with age factor. Disaffiliation of the number of involved vessels with alcohol also may be due to the small number of patients taking alcohol. It has been shown that drug addiction more than two years can be a risk of coronary artery stenosis (41).

Medical Science and Discovery, 2016; 3(2): 65-70

doi

Moreover, there was no significant association between diabetes mellitus and number of involved coronary artery (according to the classification in one, two and three vessel), but there was a possible significant difference if it was analyzed based on one vessel and more than one vessel. In other studies it has been shown that diabetics are more prone to multi vessel coronary disease (42).

There was not significant correlation between history of diagnosed hyperlipidemia before admission and the number of affected coronary arteries. However, similar results were obtained in some studies (29). However, other studies have shown that increase of low-density lipoprotein is a risk factor of severity and number of coronary arteries involvement (43). In our study cause of no relationship between hyperlipidemia and number of involved coronary artery may be use of history of hyperlipidemia based on presence or absence of diagnosed disease before admission but other studies asses' relationship between serum Lowdensity lipoprotein and cholesterol level and severity of coronary artery involvement.

Left ventricular ejection fraction was different in the three groups and had a significant relationship with the number of stenotic coronary arteries (P=0.03). Previous studies showed there was significant relationship between Left ventricular ejection fraction and the number of involved coronary arteries (29). In our study, there was no significant relationship among their level of education, place of residence and occupation with the number of stenotic coronary arteries. A study has shown similar results (35). In contrast, a different study showed significant association between these factors and the number of affected coronary arteries (29).

### Conclusion

In this study, age had a direct relation with number of coronary artery stenosis in angiography (P=0.02). There was no significant difference between men and women in the number of involved vessels (P=0.07). Other known risk factors of atherosclerosis had no statistically significant correlation with the number of coronary arteries stenosis. There was a significant relation between the left ventricular ejection fractions of patients with number of involved coronary artery.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

### References

 ZandParsa AF, Ziai H &Fallahi B. The relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and the siteand extent of coronary artery stenosis during angiography, School of Medicine of Tehran Medical Sceiences Journal 2010; 68(3): 182-7.

- Lukkarinen, H., Hentinen, M. Treatments of coronary artery disease improve quality of life in the long term, Nurs Res 2006; 55: 26-33.
- Martin C, Martin A. Mortality Trends in Cardiovascular Disease: a New Model to Visualise the Contribution of Specific Diseases, Cohort Effects and Coding Changes to Overall Mortality Improvement. Value Health. 2015 Nov;18(7):A383.
- Ordunez P, Prieto-Lara E, Pinheiro Gawryszewski V, Hennis AJ, Cooper RS. Premature Mortality from Cardiovascular Disease in the Americas - Will the Goal of a Decline of "25% by 2025" be Met? PLoS One. 2015 Oct 29;10(10)
- Rodrigues PC, Santos ES, Ignotti E, Hacon SS. Space-Time Analysis to Identify Areas at Risk of Mortality from Cardiovascular Disease. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:841645.
- KariminejadA.Investigate thegeneticpolymorphism ofACEas a cause ofcardiovascular diseasein thepopulation, genetic2010;8(1): p1(Persian).
- Sadegi M. Prevalence of coronary artery disease in centralIranAriaJournal 2006; 6(35):70-74. (Persian).
- Sarraf-Zadegan N, Boshtam M, Malekafzali H, Bashardoost N, Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Rafiei M, Khalili A, et al. Secular trends in cardiovascular mortality in Iran, with special reference to Isfahan. Acta Cardiol. 1999 Dec;54(6):327-33.
- Allen NB, Badon S, Greenlund KJ, Huffman M, Hong Y, Lloyd-Jones DM. The association between cardiovascular health and health-related quality of life and health status measures among U.S. adults: a cross-sectional study of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 2001-2010. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015 Sep 22;13(1).
- Rodrigues GH, Gebara OC, Gerbi CC, Pierri H, Wajngarten M. Depression as a Clinical Determinant of Dependence and Low Quality of Life in Elderly Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2015 Jun;104(6):443-9.
- Gazianojm, LibbyP, Bonow Ro. Globa burden of cardiovascular disease.Braunwalds Heart Deases 2005; 7:423-55.
- Pourmand K, Sadeghi M, Sanei H, Akrami F, Talaei M.¬ 2007. Which major atherosclerosis' risk factor represents the extent of coronary artery disease?, J Isfahan Med Sch ,25: 61-71.
- Scott MG, Gary JB, Michael HC. Primary prevention of coronary heart disease: Guidance from Framingham. Circulation 199; 97:1876-87.
- Grundy SM, Bilheimer D, Blackburn H. Rationale of the diet-heart statement of the American heart association. Circulation 1982 ;65(4):839-54.
- 15. Kartz M. Dietary cholesterol, atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease.HandbExp Pharmacol2005; 170:195-213.
- American Heart Association. 1998. Heart and stroke statistical update heart and stroke statistical update. Texas: American Heart Association.
- Fellows JL, Trosclair A. Annual smoking-attributable mortality, years of potential life lost and economic costs:United States 1995-1999, MMWR Morb Mort Wkly, 2002;51(14):300-3.

Medical Science and Discovery, 2016; 3(2): 65-70

- Asgary S, Sarrafzadegan N, Naderi GA, Rozbehani R. Effect of opium addiction on new and traditional cardiovascular risk factors: do duration of addiction and route of administration matter. Lipids Health Dis 2008; 7: 42.
- Molstad P. 2007. Coronary heart disease in diabetics: prognostic implications and results of interventions. Scand Cardiovasc J ,41: 357-362
- Pourmand K, Sadeghi M, Sanei H, Akrami F, Talaei M. Which major atherosclerosis' risk factor represents the extent of coronary artery disease?, J Isfahan Med Sch 2007; 25: 61-71.
- Molstad P. Coronary heart disease in diabetics: prognostic implications and results of interventions. ScandCardiovasc J 2007; 41: 357-362.
- Jankowski P, Kawecka-Jaszcz K, Bilo G, PajakA. Determinants of poor hypertension management in patients with ischaemic heart disease. Blood Press 2005; 14: 284-292.
- Saedi M, AkhavaTabib A, Jokar MH, Yazdani A Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in male individuals with hypertriglecamic waist phenotype. Med J MashadUniv Med Scince 2007; 50: 259-268.
- Murray CJL, Lopez AD.. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997; 349:1498-1504..
- Kreatsoulas C, Natarajan MK, Khatun R, Velianou JL, Anand SS. Identifying women with severe angiographic coronary disease. J Intern Med 2010;268: 66-74.
- Elkind MS, Sciacca R, Boden-Albala B, Homma S, Di Tullio MR. Leukocyte count is associated with aortic arch plaque thickness. Stroke 2002; 33(11): 2587-92.
- Zeltser D, Rogowski O, Fusman R, Rotstein R, Rubinstein A, Koffler M, et al. The multiplicity of atherosclerotic risk factors corresponds to the appearance of increased leukocyte count in the peripheral blood, relevance to the pathogenesis of the disease, JCardiovasc Risk 2001; 8 (6): 379 82.
- Humphries KH, Pu A, Gao M, Carere RG &Pilote L. Angina with "normal" coronary arteries: Sex differences in outcomes. American Heart Journal 2008; 155(2): 375-81.
- Masoomi M &Nasri HR. Relationship between coronary risk factors and the number of involved vessels in coronary angiography. Journal of Hormozgan University of Medical Sciences 2006;10(1): 29-34
- Bigi R, Cortigiani L, Colombo P, Desideri A, Bax JJ,Parodi O. Prognostic and clinical correlates of angiographically diffuse non-obstructive coronary lesions. Heart 2003; 89: 1009-1013.
- Darabian S, Abbasi A. The correlation of ischemic risk factors with left main tract disease. Feyz2007; 11: 31-35.
- Veeranna V, PradhanJ, Niraj A, Fakhry H, Afonso L. Traditional cardiovascular risk factors and severity of angiographic coronary artery disease in the elderly. prevcardiol 2010;13: 135- 140.
- Hochner-Celnikier D, Manor O, Gotzman O, Lotan H, Chajek-Shaul T. Gender gap in coronary arteryndisease: comparison of the extent, severity and risk factors in men and women aged 45-65 years. Cardiology2002 ;97(1):18-23.

- 35. HosseiniA, Abdullah A, Behnam pour N, Salehi A. peace be upon him, calledpornography, Relationship betweencardiovascular risk factorsandvasculardiseasebased on theresults ofangiography, ParamedicalFaculty ofTehranUniversity of Medical Sciences (Payavardhealth) 2011;6(5):391-383.
- Niraj A, Pradahan J, Fakhry H, Veeranna V & Afonso L. Severity of Coronary Artery Disease in Obese Patients Undergoing Coronary Angiography: Obesity Paradox Revisited. ClinCardiol 2007; 30(8): 391–6
- Auer J, Weber T, Berent R, Lassnig E, Maurer E, Lamm G, et al. Obesity, body fat and coronary atherosclerosis. International Journal of Cardiology 2005; 98(2): 227–35.
- 38. Guo YH, Zhang WJ, Zhou YJ, Zhao D, Zhou ZM, Zhang H. Study of the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and severity of coronary artery disease in patients underwent coronary angiography. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi. 2005 May;33(5):415-8.

doi

- Veeranna V, PradhanJ, Niraj A, Fakhry H, Afonso L. Traditional cardiovascular risk factors and severity of angiographic coronary artery disease in the elderly. prev cardiol, 2010. 13: 135- 140.
- Aygul N, Ozdemir K, Abaci A, Aygul MU, Duzenli MA, Yazici HU, et al. Comparison of Traditional Risk Factors, Angiographic Findings, and In-Hospital Mortality between Smoking and Nonsmoking Turkish Men and Women With Acute Myocardial Infarction. ClinCardiol 2010 ; 33(6): 49–54.
- Sadeghi A, Nizal S, Naderi Gh. A, RozbehaniR. Effect of opium addiction on new and traditional cardiovascular risk factors: do duration of addiction and route of administration matter? Lipids in Health and Disease 2008; 7(42):1-5.
- 42. Uddin SN, Malik F, Bari MA, Siddiqui NI, Khan GK, Rahman S., et al. 2005. Angiographic severity and extent of coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Mymensingh Med J ,14(1):32-7.
- Hong MK, Romm PA, Reagan K, Green CE, Rackley CE. Usefulness of the total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol ratio in predicting angiographic coronary artery disease in women. Am J Cardiol 1991; 68(17):1646-50.

Copyright © 2014 The Author(s); This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. All Rights reserved by international journal of Medical Science and Discovery.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 71-5-

## Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.41912

# Analysis of adult intoxication cases treated in ICU: A sample from Adıyaman Region of Turkey

Mehmet Duran<sup>1\*</sup>, Oznur Uludag<sup>2</sup>, Nureddin Yuzkat<sup>3</sup>

## Abstract

**Objective:** We determined the patient profile and aim to look into the distribution of age and sex, intoxication route, the duration of the stay in ICU and prognosis of the cases we accepted to our ICU presenting with intoxication.

**Material and Methods:** Before the research, approval was granted by the Ethical Committee. 259 intoxication patients, accepted and treated in the ICU of Adiyaman University Hospital between the dates of 2012-2014, were included in the research.

**Results:** Total of 259 as 83 male, 176 female patients were examined. 75.7% of the cases were below age of 30. 92% of the cases received in ICU were suicidal and 8% of them were accidental intoxication cases. When the causes were observed, 85.7% of the cases were intoxicated by drug intake. Most frequently used drugs were antidepressants (43.6%). The mean number of the days in intensive care unit was 2.02 days.

**Conclusion:** As a result, most of the intoxication cases in intensive care unit were made up by young age cases who received antidepressants with suicidal intentions. Acute drug intoxications have better response to intensive care treatments and shorter duration of stays while non-pharmacological intoxications have longer duration of stays.

Key words: Adıyaman Region, adult cases, Intensive Care Unit, acute poisoning, suicide

### Introduction

Intoxication is the occasion of unwanted signs or symptoms in the organism caused by a toxic substance or a non-toxic substance received at a toxic dose (1). Intoxications can emerge as intake of drug or substance with an aim of suicide, unintentional usage of overdose medication or uncalled drug reactions (2,3). Intoxication cases constitute about 5-14% of the patients in intensive care unit (4). In Turkey, it is stated that the percentage of the intoxication cases in all the cases rushed to the emergency service is 0.91% and the percentage of intoxication cases is 5.11% in all the cases treated in intensive care unit (3).

Besides emergency treatment, in intoxication cases, preventing absorption of toxic substance by the gastrointestinal system, accelerating the excretion, giving specific antidote, offering supportive care, emergent dialysis under certain conditions can be applied among the main treatment principles (5).

We aim to look into the distribution of age and sex, the way of intoxication and its type, the duration of the stay in intensive care and prognosis of the cases we accepted to our intensive care unit presenting with intoxication.

### **Material and Methods**

Before the research, approval was granted by the Ethical Committee of Adıyaman University Training and Research Hospital non-invasive Clinical Research (28/04/2015-0316). 259 patients, treated for the reason of intoxication in the intensive care unit of Adıyaman University Training and Research Hospital between the dates of 2012-2014, were included in the research. Demographical data and clinical features of the cases were determined by scanning file records.

The cases were evaluated under the titles of demographical data, intoxication type (Suicide, accident), agents exposed, duration of intensive care, drug intake, and discharge type from the intensive care unit and mortality.

**Statistic:** The collected data were installed and evaluated by computer program SPSS 15.0 (Statistical Package for Social Science).

Received 24-11-2015, Accepted 04-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Adıyaman University, Education and Research Hospital, Dept. of Anesthesiology, Adıyaman-Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Adıyaman University, School of Medicine, Department of Anestesia and Reanimasyon, Adıyaman, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Yuzuncu Yıl University, Dursun Odabas Medical Center, Dept. of Anesthesiology ve Reanimation Van, Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Mehmet Duran E-mail: md021979@hotmail.com

The descriptive statistics for the continuous variable in the research were stated as: mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values, and categorical variables were stated as numbers and percentage. For the comparison of two independent group, Independent T-Test was used and p<0.05 value was statistically found meaningful.

### Results

259 patients, followed and treated for the reason of intoxication in the intensive care unit of Adıyaman University Training and Research Hospital between the dates of January 2012- December 2014, were observed. 83 (32%) of the cases were male and 176 (68%) of them were female. The mean age of the cases was 25.72. The youngest age was 15 and the oldest age was determined as 81 (Table 1).

The cases were studied in five categories according to the age groups, which were: 15-20, 21-30, 31-40, 41-50 and above. In intoxication, when looked into all age groups, it was determined that females were 68%and males were 32% (p<0.05). 75.7% (n: 196) of the cases were below the age of 30. Considering the intoxication taking place under the age of 30 the percentage of the females was meaningfully higher than the males (p<0.05). Furthermore, the intoxications cases after the age of 50 the rates of the males were found as 57% (Table 2). 92% of the cases received in ICU were suicidal and 8% of them were accidental intoxication cases (p<0.05). The rate of suicidal intoxication cases were identified 94% for females and 87% for males (p>0.05) (Table 2).

When the causes of intoxication cases were observed, it was seen that 85.7% (n: 222) of the cases were intoxicated by drug intake and 14.3% (n: 37) of them were intoxicated by non-pharmacological reasons. 74.8% of drug intake cases were single drug intake while 25.2% were multiple drug intakes. The mean number of the days in intensive care unit was 2.02. Duration of the stay in ICU was determined as 1.84 days for single drug intake cases, 1.91 days for multiple drug intake cases and 3.0 days for the cases of non-pharmacological intoxications (p<0.05). The longest duration of stay in ICU occurred in alcohol, pesticides and organophosphate intoxications (Table 3) (Figure 1).

In the cases intoxicated by drug intake, it was seen that the most frequently used drugs were antidepressants (43.6%), the second most frequently used drugs were analgesic anti-inflammatory drugs (17%). In non-pharmacological intoxications organophosphates (7%) were stated to be the most frequent cause (Table 4).

In our research, mortality was defined as 0.38%. While 63.7% of the cases were discharged, 34.7% of them were transferred to the service (Table 5).

Table 1: The data	regarding the demog	raphical features and t	the number of the day	s in intensive care unit.
Sex	N	Age (year)	Numbe	er of the days
Sex	14	(Mean±SD)	In	ICU (day)
Male	83 (32%)	28.67±12.98	2.	.41±2.47
Female	176 (68%)	24.23±9.12	1.	.84±0.99
Total	259	25.72±10.78	2.	.02±0.63
р		0.01		0.008
SD: Standart devia	ation ICU: Intensive	Care Unit		
Table 2: The dis	tribution of age grou	os by the sex		
	unoution of 480 8			
Intoxication T	ype N	F/M	Male	F/M (%)
Suicide	238 (929	%) 166 (94%)*	* 72 (87%)	70/30
Accident	21 (8%	<sup>6</sup> ) 10 (6%)	11 (13%)	48/52
Age Groups (y	ear)			
15-20	110 (42.5	5%) 79	31*	72/28
21-30	86 (33.2	2%) 62	24*	72/28
31-40	37 (14.3	3%) 21	16	57/43
41-50	19 (7.3	%) 10	9	53/47
50+	7 (2.7	%) 3	4	43/57
Total	259 (100	9%) 176	83	68/32
(*) shows the val	lues lower than p<0.0	)5.		
· · ·	-			

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Table 3: The	causes of	intoxications and	the num	ber of the day	s in ICU				
ingle Drug fultiple Drug fultiple Drug son-Pharmacological output ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons $\hline Drug Name Number Percent (%) Antidepressant 113 43.6 Analgesic-anti-inflammatory 44 17 Antibiotics 88 3 Other Drugs 23 88.8 Unknown 25 9.66 \hline Total 222 85.7\%Organophosphates 18 6.9Alcohol 3 1.2Bleach 3 1.2Pesticides 6 2.3Fungi 3 1.2Other Total 37 14.3\%ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosisN \ Discharged \ Transfer to ant Service \ Service $	The car	uses of int	oxications		Number (%)	)	Duration	of stay in IC	U (day	
	Single Drug				166 (64%)			1.84		
	Multiple Dr	ug			56 (22%)					
Total         259 (100%)         2.02           0.001         0.001           oble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons           Drug Name         Number         Percent (%)           Antidepressant         113         43.6           Antidepressant         113         43.6           Antidepressant         113         43.6           Antidepressant         113         43.6           Antibiotics         8         3           Other Drugs         23         8.8           Unknown         25         9.6           Total         222         85.7%           Organophosphates         18         6.9           Alcohol         3         1.2           Bleach         3         1.2           Pesticides         6         2.3           Fungi         3         1.2           Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Anale         83<49 (59%)	Non-Pharm	acologica	1		37 (14%)		3.0			
$ \frac{0.001}{ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 4: The chart of the intoxications reasons} = 0.001 \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline ceitale 176 116 (65.9%) 58 (33%) - 2 (1.1%) \\ uicide 238 151 (63.4\%) 84 (35.3\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceital 259 165 (63.7\%) 90 (34.7\%) 1 (0.4\%) 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline ceitale 3 1 1.2 (1.4\%) 1 $	Total				259 (100%)	)		2.02		
	р						0.001			
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline Drug Name & Number & Percent (%) \\ Antidepressant & 113 & 43.6 \\ Analgesic-anti-inflammatory & 14 & 17 \\ Analgesic-anti-inflammatory & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antihypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antihypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibiotics & 8 & 3 \\ Other Drugs & 23 & 8.8 \\ Unknown & 25 & 9.6 \\ \hline \hline Total & 222 & 85.7\% \\ \hline Organophosphates & 18 & 6.9 \\ Alcohol & 3 & 1.2 \\ Pesticides & 6 & 2.3 \\ Fungi & 3 & 1.2 \\ Other & 4 & 1.5 \\ \hline Total & 37 & 14.3\% \\ \hline ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline N & Discharged & Transfer to & Death & Advanced Centre \\ fale & 83 & 49 (59\%) & 32 (38.6\%) & 1 (1.2\%) & 1 (1.2\%) \\ \hline create & 176 & 116 (65.9\%) & 58 (33\%) & - & 2 (1.1\%) \\ \hline auxicide & 238 & 151 (63.4\%) & 84 (35.3\%) & 1 (0.4\%) & 2 (0.8\%) \\ \hline otal & 259 & 165 (63.7\%) & 90 (34.7\%) & 1 (0.4\%) & 3 (1.2\%) \\ \hline \hline & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 &$	able 4: The	chart of th	e intoxications re	easons						
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline Prug & Antidepressant & 113 & 43.6 \\ Analgesic-anti-inflammatory & 44 & 17 \\ Antidyprensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibiotics & 8 & 3 \\ Other Drugs & 2.3 & 8.8 \\ Unknown & 25 & 9.6 \\ \hline \hline Total & 222 & 85.7\% \\ \hline Organophosphates & 18 & 6.9 \\ Alcohol & 3 & 1.2 \\ Pesticides & 6 & 2.3 \\ Fungi & 3 & 1.2 \\ Other & 4 & 1.5 \\ \hline Total & 37 & 14.3\% \\ \hline \end{tabular}$				Drug Nar	ne	Numb	er	Percent	(%)	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline Prug & Analgesic-anti-inflammatory & 44 & 17 \\ Antibypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibypertensive & 9 & 3.7 \\ Antibicits & 8 & 3 \\ Other Drugs & 23 & 8.8 \\ Unknown & 25 & 9.6 \\ \hline \hline Total & 222 & 85.7\% \\ \hline Organophosphates & 18 & 6.9 \\ Alcohol & 3 & 1.2 \\ Pesticides & 6 & 2.3 \\ Fungi & 3 & 1.2 \\ Other & 4 & 1.5 \\ \hline Total & 37 & 14.3\% \\ tble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline N & Discharged & Transfer to & Death & Transfer to an Advanced Centre 4 & 1.5 \\ \hline Total & 37 & 14.3\% \\ tble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis \\ \hline N & Discharged & Transfer to & Death & Transfer to an Advanced Centre 4 & 1.5 \\ \hline Total & 32 (38.6\%) & 1 (1.2\%) & 1 (1.2\%) \\ transfer to 31 & 20 & 0.05 \\ \hline table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.1\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation of stay in ICU (day) & -2 (0.0\%) \\ table 5: The data regarding the relation$			Antidepre	ssant		113		43.6		
Antihypertensive       9       3.7         Antibiotics       8       3         Other Drugs       23       8.8         Unknown       25       9.6         Total       222       85.7%         Organophosphates       18       6.9         Alcohol       3       1.2         Bleach       3       1.2         Bleach       3       1.2         Pesticides       6       2.3         Fungi       3       1.2         Pesticides       6       2.3         Total       37       14.3%         ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         Alate       83       49 (59%)       32 (38.6%)       1 (1.2%)       1 (1.2%)         emale       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         unicide       238       151 (63.4%)       84 (35.3%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         ccident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         otal       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         opigigigin			Analgesic	-anti-infla	ammatory	44	ļ	17		
Prug       Antibiotics       8       3         Other Drugs       23       8.8         Unknown       25       9.6         Total       222       85.7%         Organophosphates       18       6.9         Alcohol       3       1.2         Bleach       3       1.2         Pesticides       6       2.3         Fungi       3       1.2         Other       4       1.5         Total       37       14.3%         ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         Alee       83       49 (59%)       32 (38.6%)       1 (1.2%)         icitide       238       151 (63.4%)       84 (35.3%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         vecident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         of an up o			Antihyper	tensive	-	9		3.7		
Other Drugs         23         8.8           Unknown         25         9.6           Total         222         85.7%           Organophosphates         18         6.9           Alcohol         3         1.2           Bleach         3         1.2           Pesticides         6         2.3           Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Alee         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           Venale         176         116 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           venale         176         16 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           venale         176         16 (65.9%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.8%)           vecident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           Venale         105         100         100         100         100         100         100           Votal         259         165 (63	Drug		Antibiotic	S		8		3		
Unknown         25         9.6           Total         222         85.7%           Organophosphates         18         6.9           Alcohol         3         1.2           Bleach         3         1.2           Pesticides         6         2.3           Fungi         3         1.2           Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           tble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to Service         Death         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Alace         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           remale         176         116 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           recident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.8%)           vecident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           >0,05         Transfer to grass of the gras of the grass of the gras of the grass of the gra			Other Dru	gs		23		8.8		
Total         222         85.7%           Organophosphates         18         6.9           Alcohol         3         1.2           Bleach         3         1.2           Pesticides         6         2.3           Fungi         3         1.2           Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           state regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           N         Discharged         Transfer to Death         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Alle         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           vecident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (4.8%)         2 (0.8%)           vecident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           >0         Sign provide graph of the provide grap			Unknown			25	i	9.6		
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline \text{Von-pharmacological} \\ \hline \text{Non-pharmacological} \\ \hline \text{Son-pharmacological} \\ \hline \text{Susses} \\ \hline \text{N} \\ \hline \text{Discharged} \\ \hline \text{Total} \\ \hline \text{Total} \\ \hline \text{Total} \\ \hline \text{Transfer to} \\ \hline \text{Service} \\ \hline \text{Death} \\ \hline \text{Restriction causes and sex with prognosis} \\ \hline \text{N} \\ \hline \text{Discharged} \\ \hline \text{Transfer to} \\ \hline \text{Service} \\ \hline \text{Death} \\ \hline \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \ \text{Alcohol} \\ \hline \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$			Total			222		85.7%	6	
Non-pharmacological Causes       Alcohol       3       1.2         Non-pharmacological Causes       Bleach       3       1.2         Pesticides       6       2.3         Fungi       3       1.2         Other       4       1.5         Total       37       14.3%         ble 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         Male       83       49 (59%)       32 (38.6%)       1 (1.2%)         Yemale       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         Varied       238       151 (63.4%)       84 (35.3%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         Vecident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (4.8%)         Votal       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         >0,05       Star in ICU (day)       7,67       -			Organoph	osphates		18		6.9		
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $				Alcoho	1	3		1.2		
Causes         Pesticides         6         2.3 Fungi           Fungi         3         1.2 0ther         3         1.2 1.2           Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           able 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Alae         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           remale         176         116 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           viccide         238         151 (63.4%)         84 (35.3%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.8%)           viccident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           Duration of stay in ICU (day)         7.67         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           0	Non-pharma	acologica	1	Bleach Pesticides				1.2		
Fungi       3       1.2         Other       4       1.5         Total       37       14.3%         able 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         M       Discharged       Transfer to Service       Death       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         Male       83       49 (59%)       32 (38.6%)       1 (1.2%)       1 (1.2%)         Yemale       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         Service       Death       Transfer to an Advanced Centre         Yemale       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         Vaccident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         Yemal       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Outation of stay in ICU (day)       7.67       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Discharged       Service in graph of	Causes	0					6		2.3	
Other         4         1.5           Total         37         14.3%           table 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Alae         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           Alae         176         116 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           Service         Death         Advanced Centre         1 (4.8%)           Stucide         238         151 (63.4%)         84 (35.3%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.8%)           Ceident         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (4.8%)           Otal         259         165 (63.7%)         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           Outation of stay in ICU (day)         7,67         7,67         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           Outation of stay in ICU (day)         7,67         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.0%)				Fungi		3		1.2		
Total         37         14.3%           able 5: The data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis         Transfer to Service         Death         Transfer to an Advanced Centre           Aale         83         49 (59%)         32 (38.6%)         1 (1.2%)         1 (1.2%)           Vermale         176         116 (65.9%)         58 (33%)         -         2 (1.1%)           vincide         238         151 (63.4%)         84 (35.3%)         1 (0.4%)         2 (0.8%)           vincide         21         14 (66.7%)         6 (28.6%)         1 (1.2%)         3 (1.2%)           Votal         259         165 (63.7%)         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           votal         259         165 (63.7%)         90 (34.7%)         1 (0.4%)         3 (1.2%)           votal         1.8         1.91         1.8         2.56         3         3         2           0         and young young         and young y				Other			4			
the first of the data regarding the relation of intoxication causes and sex with prognosis N Discharged Transfer to Service Death Transfer to an Advanced Centre Alle 83 49 (59%) 32 (38.6%) 1 (1.2%) 1 (1.2%) remale 176 116 (65.9%) 58 (33%) - 2 (1.1%) Service 238 151 (63.4%) 84 (35.3%) 1 (0.4%) 2 (0.8%) Accident 21 14 (66.7%) 6 (28.6%) 1 (4.8%) Total 259 165 (63.7%) 90 (34.7%) 1 (0.4%) 3 (1.2%) >0,05 Duration of stay in ICU (day) 7,67 			Total			37	1	14.39	6	
Male       83       49 (59%)       32 (38.6%)       1 (1.2%)       1 (1.2%)         Female       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         Suicide       238       151 (63.4%)       84 (35.3%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         Accident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Jotal       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution         Outation of stay in ICU (day)       7.67       Solution		N	Discharge	ed	Transfer to Service	De	ath	Transfer Advanced	to an Centre	
Temale       176       116 (65.9%)       58 (33%)       -       2 (1.1%)         Suicide       238       151 (63.4%)       84 (35.3%)       1 (0.4%)       2 (0.8%)         Accident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Solution       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%)         Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution       Solution         Duration of stay in ICU (day)       7.67       Solution       <	Male	83	49 (59%	ó)	32 (38.6%)	1 (1	.2%)	1 (1.2	%)	
Suicide 238 151 (63.4%) 84 (35.3%) 1 (0.4%) 2 (0.8%) Accident 21 14 (66.7%) 6 (28.6%) 1 (4.8%) Stotal 259 165 (63.7%) 90 (34.7%) 1 (0.4%) 3 (1.2%) >0,05	Female	176	116 (65.99	%)	58 (33%)		-	2 (1.1	%)	
Accident       21       14 (66.7%)       6 (28.6%)       1 (4.8%)         Total       259       165 (63.7%)       90 (34.7%)       1 (0.4%)       3 (1.2%) $>0,05$ $>0,05$ $>0,05$ $>0,05$ $>0,05$ $0$ $1,84$ 1.91       1.8 $2,56$ $3,33$ $2$ $0$ <	Suicide	238	151 (63.49	%)	84 (35.3%)	1 (0	.4%)	2 (0.8	%)	
Duration of stay in ICU (day) $7,67$ $8$ $1,84$ $1.91$ $1.8$ $2,56$ $3$ $3,33$ $2$ $0$ $1,84$ $1.91$ $1,84$ $1.91$ $1.8$ $2,56$ $3,33$ $2$ $0$ $1,84$ $1.91$ $1,84$ $1.91$ $1.8$ $0$ $1.02$ $0$ $1.02$ $0$ $0.02$ $0$ $0.02$ $0$ $0.02$	Accident	21	14 (66.79	%)	6 (28.6%)			1 (4.8	%)	
>0,05	Total	259	165 (63.79	%)	90 (34.7%)		1 (0.4%)		3 (1.2%)	
Duration of stay in ICU (day) 7,67	р					>0,05				
Duration of stay in ICU (day) 7,67 8 6 4 1,84 1,84 1,84 1,84 1,84 1,91 1,8 Clemical Limitake Clemical Limitake Solvent biosphates Solvent biosphates Clemical Limitake Clemical Besticide Besticide Carbon Besticide Clemical Clemic										
e b b c c c c c c c c c c c c c	8 -			Ouration of	of stay in ICU	(day) 7,6	7			
Pesticide Pesticide Intarke Carbon Intarke Pesticide Pestici										
Alcohol Multiple drug Single drug Solvent Pesticide	6 -									
Alcohol Multiple drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Single drug Chemical Alcohol Multiple drug Solvent Chemical Pesticide Pesti					_					
Single drug iintake Chemical Alcohol Pesticide Carbon Multiple drug intake Solvent Pesticide Pesticide Carbon Multiple drug initake Solvent Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Poisoning Pesticide Pesticide	4		2,56	3	3	3,33	2			
Single drug intake Multiple drug intake Chemical substance Organo phosphates Fungal poisoning Pesticide Pesticide Carbon monoxide	2	1,84	1,91 1,8					2		
Single drug intake Multiple drug intake Chemical substance phosphates Fungal poisoning poisoning Pesticide Pesticide Carbon monoxide	0 -									
Single dr intake Multiple dr intake Chemic substan phospha Pungé poisoni poisoni Pestici Pestici monoxi		an Bu	sal ug	o tes	la l	ent lot	de	ide n		
Single inta intak intak intak intak Puosr Pois S A A A A Che Rubs Pois Pes Ca Rubs Rubs Rubs Rubs Rubs Rubs Rubs Rubs		, dri Ike	e dr ce mic tanc	gan(	ingi	olvi lcoł	itici	rbo loxi		
		gle nta	iple itak itak itak	Or <u>ę</u> Iosf	Fu vois	A S	Pes	Са		
Ξ.	1	ц	S C E	- 4	臣			p		
		Si.	ul							

Figure 1: The graphic of the relation between the cause of intoxication and the duration of stay in ICU.

### Discussion

Intoxication is defining a chemical substance's potential of harming the body. In our age the rate of the intoxication cases around the world is increasing day by day due to the changing life style and social behaviours. 5-30% of intensive care unit beds are occupied by intoxication cases (5,6). In acute intoxication cases by evaluating the patient's clinic and laboratory symptoms, and the causes of intoxication, the cases with life threatening situations are accepted to the ICU, followed and treated.

The cause of intoxication varies according to the geographic conditions, age, sex, education level, traditions of the region and seasons (7). Research studies state that intoxication cases are more common among young female population.

A study in Turkey (8), it was reported that 0.64% of the patients presented in emergency service were acute intoxication cases. It was also identified that the mean age of all the cases was  $28.16\pm11.74$ , and 68.6%of them were female. 84.9% of these intoxications were suicidal and 15.1% of them were accidental exposure. In our study, 68% of the cases were female and 32% of them were male. The mean age of all the cases was  $25.72\pm10.78$ .

75.7% of the cases were the patients under the age of 30 in our study. It was notified that the rate of the female intoxications was meaningfully higher in comparison with the males regarding the intoxications under the age of 30 while the rates were similar concerning the intoxications above the age of 30.

In our study 92% of the intoxication cases received at ICU, were for suicidal reasons and 8% of them were accidental exposure. In the study held by Demirel et al. (9) female/male rate in 457 acute intoxication cases, treated in intensive care unit, was found 2.46. 92.2% of these intoxications were because of suicidal reasons and 7.8% of them were accidental exposure cases, and similar results were gathered in our research. Abdollahi et al. (2) reported that accidental exposure in children and suicidal intoxication in women was more common. We consider that the high rates of female suicidal intoxications under the age of 30 are due to the fact that they are more emotional.

Technological and socio-economic improvements make drug and chemical substance access much easier (10). According to the information provided by Ministry of Health in Turkey, the most frequent acute intoxication factors are respectively, drugs (analgesic, antidepressant, antihistaminic etc.), agricultural pesticide and insecticide (organophosphates etc.), domestic chemicals (bleach, detergents etc.), toxic gases (carbon monoxide, choking gases), other chemicals, plants and nutrition (fungi, saloon plants, fish, andromedotoxine, apricot seed, etc.) and venomous animal bites and stings (scorpion, snake, spider, bee etc.) (11).

Demirel et al. (9) as drugs are defined as the most frequent cause of intoxications; it was stated that 28.6 of the cases received more than one drug and the drugs taken by 6.56% of the cases were unidentified. It is stated that antidepressants (23.8%) are known as the most common cause of intoxications and they are followed by analgesic-anti-inflammatory (18.1%) and antihistaminic (7%) in intoxication cases. Mortality rate in the research was calculated as 0.21%. In the research of Ayan et al. (12) the rate of intoxications was found as: 47% drug, 22% carbon monoxide and 8.3% agricultural pesticide. When literature is reviewed it comes out that the most important cause of intoxications are drugs (5,13). In our research it was also seen that 222 (85.7%) of the cases were intoxicated by single or multiple drug intake and 37 (14.3%) of the cases were intoxicated by exposition to non-pharmacological factors. In 9.6% of drug intake cases, the drugs received were unidentified. Besides, Ergun et al. (8) reported that out of 1380 acute drug intoxication 48.1% of them occurred by psychoactive drugs (n:664), and 33.5% of them were analgesic (n: 463). Mortality rate in the research was calculated as 0.58%. Considering the most common reason of intoxications is suicidal, we think that easy access to drugs allows abusing and for this reason it becomes the most frequent factor for intoxications.

The patients having depression treatment have higher suicide attempt and it is determined that these patients attempt to commit suicide with their own medication. The research upon this matter indicated that 50% of the cases attempting suicide were the patients with earlier history of psychiatric problems (14,15). In our study the rate of intoxication with an antidepressant is 43.6%. The second frequent cause becomes analgesic-anti-inflammatory (17%) drugs. The most common non-pharmacological intoxication is due to organophosphates (6.9%).

In our study the mean duration of stay in ICU was 2.02 days. The length of stay in intensive care unit was found 3.5 days by Kurt et al. (16) and by Yagan et al. (1) the duration was found 3.77 days and by Ersoy et al. (17) the duration was found 3 days. The duration of stay was calculated lower compared to the literature. Besides, it was determined that for single drug intake cases mean duration of stay was 1.84 days, for multiple drug intake cases the mean was 1.91 days and for non-pharmacological intoxication cases mean stay was 3 days. In acute drug intoxications, early diagnosed good treatment response is seen with symptomatic treatments like stomach lavage that decrease absorption and increase excretion, and there are opportunities of specific antidotes.

For this reason the duration of stay in our research was short. In non-pharmacological intoxication cases the mean length of stay in intensive care was found meaningfully longer. And the longest stay in ICU was in alcohol intoxications.

It was notified in the studies that mortality rate in intoxications varied between %0.03-27 (18,19). Mortality rate of our research was found as 0.38%. The only case progressing mortal was acute alcohol intoxication. We related the reason of low mortality rate to the high rate of drug intoxication and new antidepressants being less toxic.

### References

- Yagan O, Akan B, Erdem D, Albayrak D, Bilal B, Göğüş N. The retrospective analysis of the acute poisoning cases applying to the emergency unit in one year. The Medical Bultein of Şişli Etfal Hospital. 2009; 43: 60-64.
- Abdollahi M, Jalali N, Sabzevari O, Hoseini R, Ghanea T. A retrospective study of poisoning in Tehran. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1997; 35: 387-393.
- Goktas U, Isık Y, Cegin MB, Soyoral L, Kati I. A Retrospective analysis of the poisoning cases who were followed in our intensive care unit. Journal of Anesthesia 2011; 19: 114-116.
- Richard S. Irwin, James M. Rippe. Farmakoloji, Doz Aşımı ve Zehirlenmeler. In: Irwin ve Rippe'nin Yoğun Bakım Tıbbı (6rd ed) 2014, (Çeviri Ed: Tulunay M,
- 5. Cuhruk H). Güneş Tıp Kitapevleri: Ankara; 2014 pp. 1433.
- Cegin MB, Soyoral L, Yuzkat N, Isık Y, Dumanlıdag S, Andıc O, Goktas U. The intoxication cases in our intensive care units: The data of last 3 years. Mitteilungen Klosterneuburg 2015; 65: 341-346.
- Henderson A, Wright M, Pond SM. Experience with acute overdose patients admitted to an intensive unit over six years. Med J Aust, 1993; 158: 28-30.
- Ozdemir R, Bayrakcı B, Zehirlenmeler ve Hacettepe Deneyimi. Katkı Ped Derg 2009;31: 47-87.
- Ergun B, Cevik AA, Ilgın S, Atlı O, Saracoglu A, Acar N, Uzuncakara D. Acute Drug Poisonings in Eskisehir, Turkey: A retrospective study. Turk J Pharm Sci 2013; 10: 303-312.
- Demirel İ. A Retrospective Analysis of intoxication cases in intensive care unit of elaziğ education and research hospital. Fırat Tıp Dergisi 2010; 15: 184-187.

### Conclusion

As a result, most of the intoxication cases in intensive care unit were made up by young age female cases who received antidepressants with suicidal intentions. Acute drug intoxications have better response to intensive care treatments and shorter duration of stays while non-pharmacological intoxications have longer duration of stays. By the reason of easy access to drugs, we consider that they are open to abuse and some precautions are needed to be taken.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

- 11. Islambulchilar M, Islambulchilar Z, Kargar-Maher MH. Acute adult poisoning cases admitted to a university hospital in Tabriz, Iran. Human & Experimental Toxicology, 2009; 28: 185-190.
- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Birinci Basamağa Yönelik Zehirlenmeler Tanı ve Tedavi Rehberleri 2007. Ed: Tunçok Y, Kalyoncu Nİ. Akut zehirlenmelere genel yaklaşım pp.1-22.
- Ayan M, Başol N, Karaman T, Taş U, Esen M. Retrospective Evaluation of Emergency Service Patients with Poisoning: a 20 Month Study. JAEM 2012; 11: 146-50.
- Deniz T, Kandiş H, Saygun M, Büyükkoçak Ü, Ülger H, Karakuş A. Kırıkkale Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Acil Servisine başvuran zehirlenme olgularının analizi. Düzce Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2009; 11: 15-20.
- 15. Beskow J. Depression and suicide. Pharmacopsychiatry 1990; 23: 3-8.
- 16. Cheng AT. Mental illness and suicide. A case-control study in East Taiwan. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995; 52: 594-603.
- Kurt I, Erpek AG, Kurt MN, et al. Epidemiology of adult poisoning at the Adnan Menderes University. ADU Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2004; 5: 37-40.
- Ersoy A, Kara D ve ark. Evaluating Intoxicated Patients In Intensive Care Unit. Ok Meydani Tip Dergisi 2013; 29: 72-75.
- Linden CH, Burns MJ. Ilnesses due to poisons, drug overdosage, and envenomation. In: Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. Braunwald E, Fauci AS, Kasper DL (eds). New York: McGraw Hill Company, 2001. pp. 2595–2616.
- Goksu S, Yıldırım C, Koçoğlu H, Tutak A, Öner U. Characteristics of acute adult poisoning in Gaziantep, Turkey. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 2002; 40: 833–837.

Copyright © 2014 The Author(s); This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. All Rights reserved by international journal of Medical Science and Discovery.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 76-80

## Original Article

ISSN: 2148-6832

## Doi: 10.17546/msd.91056

# The effects of glycemic control on malondialdehyde modified low-densitylipoprotein-immunglobulin G levels in type 2 diabetics

Alper Tunga Ozdemir<sup>1\*</sup>, Hale Aral<sup>2</sup>, Fusun Erdenen<sup>3</sup>, Rabia Bilge Ozgul Ozdemir<sup>4</sup>, Omer Emecen<sup>5</sup>, Guvenc Guvenen<sup>6</sup>, Cuneyt Muderrisoglu<sup>3</sup>

## Abstract

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of glycemic control on the levels of malondialdehyde-low-density-lipoprotein-immunglobulin G (MDA-LDL-IgG) which is supposed to be positively correlated with myocardial infarction risk in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM).

**Material and Method:** Glucose, triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density-lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C), low-density-lipoprotein-cholesterol(LDL-C), hemoglobin A1c (A1C) and MDA-LDL-IgG levels were evaluated in subjects with well-controlled DM (W-DM, <7% HbA1c, n=18), poorly-controlled DM (P-DM, >7% HbA1c, n=22) as well as in non-diabetics (Non-DM, n=15).

**Results:** There were no significant differences between P-DM and W-DM groups in terms of triglyceride, total cholesterol and LDL-C levels, however the test results were significantly low for the Non-DM group in comparison with other groups (respectively, p=0.002, p<0.001 and p=0.001). There was no significant difference between W-DM and Non-DM groups with regard to MDA-LDL-IgG levels, however they were significantly higher in P-DM group compared to W-DM and Non-DM (p=0.002). There was a positive correlation between A1C and MDA-LDL-IgG levels (r=0.463, p=p=0.001).

**Conclusion:** These findings suggest that the normalization of blood glucose levels in type 2 diabetics may persuade the reduced rate of formation of new antigenic epitopes on the LDL via non-enzymatic glycosylation. The regulation of diabetes may be improved by reducing antibody formation against the MDA-LDL although there is no effect on lipid levels. A1C may not only be a good indicator of blood glucose control but also a good predictor for diabetes-related macro vascular complications

Key words: Type 2 diabetes mellitus, A1C, glycemic control, Cholesterol, MDA, LDL

## Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a complex disease with obesity, autoimmunity associated and inflammatory disorders (1-3). Type-2 DM is the most common type of DM worldwide and its incidence is increasing in Western societies (4). Severe complications may occur as a result of all these factors related with DM. Most common complications can be classified as macro-vascular (myocardial infarction, and peripheral arterial stroke, disease) and microvascular (retinopathy, nephropathy, neuropathy) (5,6).

Lipid abnormalities are common in patients with Type 2-DM and are generally characterized by decreased serum levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), increased triglycerides (TG),

total cholesterol (TC) and low density lipoprotein (LDL-C) particles (1). Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease which is strictly related with serum lipid abnormalities and diabetics are predisposed to atherosclerosis process in earlier stages of their lives (3).

Cellular uptake of cholesterol takes place via clathrin mediated low-density-lipoprotein (LDL) receptors and these receptors regulate themselves with feedback mechanisms (7,8). However, macrophage cells phagocyte the modified LDL molecules in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis by endocytosis via scavenger receptors which are distinct from classical LDL receptors.

Received: 24-11-2015, Accepted 16-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Ege University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Stem Cell, Izmir- Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinical Biochemistry Laboratory, Istanbul-Turkey

<sup>3</sup> Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Istanbul-Turkey

<sup>4</sup> Manisa State Hospital, Department of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Manisa-Turkey

<sup>5</sup> Giresun State Hospital, Clinical Biochemistry Laboratory, Giresun-Turkey

<sup>6</sup> Bezmialem University School of Medicine, Clinical Biochemistry Laboratory, Istanbul-Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Alper Tunga Ozdemir E-mail: alpertungaozdemir@mail.ege.edu.tr

The accumulation of modified LDL in macrophages and other phagocytes leads to the formation of foam cells (9). Due to exposure to different molecular modifications, LDL is a critical molecule which plays an important role in development of atherosclerosis. Advanced glycosylation and oxidation of LDL are both well-known modifications for pathogenesis of atherosclerosis leading to formation of neo-antigenic epitopes on the LDL thus transforming it into a highly immunogenic molecule (10–12). Modified LDL induces the innate and adaptive immune cells, as a result, stimulating the formation of the foam cell and auto-antibodies against LDL(13,14).

MDA-LDL is an oxidatively modified LDL molecule and plays an important role in the progression of atherosclerosis. Macrophage cells transform into foam cells by the over-uptake of MDA-LDLs via scavenger receptors while in addition , humoral immune response develops against neoepitopes resulting from lipoprotein modification (9,11). The immune complexes of oxidized-LDL and IgG have been demonstrated to be more potent activators of macrophages in comparison with just oxLDL(26). MDA-LDL-IgG is an autoantibody against MDA-LDL and previous studies have shown that immune complexes of MDA-LDL and IgG are strong predictors for acute events such as myocardial infarction and stroke in patients with type 2-DM (23).

The formation of immune complexes of immunoglobulin G (IgG) and malondialdehyde modified LDL (MDA-LDL) increases the proinflammatory immune response and leads to progression of atheroma plaque (19,20,21). Clinical studies on type1-DM have shown that high levels of MDA-LDL and Ig complexes are associated with increased odds for developing diabetic nephropathy and progression of retinopathy (22). Furthermore, it is reported that increased levels of MDA-LDL immune complexes are strong predictors of myocardial infarction in patients with type2-DM (23).

Currently, studies usually focus on the effects of MDA-LDL in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications. Most of these studies suggest a strong correlation between MDA-LDL/Ig complexes and the diabetic complications. Based on these studies, we tried to investigate whether there is a relationship or not between diabetes regulation and serum levels of MDA-LDL-IgG in subjects with type 2-DM. In this study, we evaluated the levels of glucose, TG, TC, HDL-C, LDL-C and MDA-LDL-IgG in subjects with well-controlled DM (W-DM, <7% HbA1c), poorly-controlled DM (P-DM, >7% HbA1c) and non-diabetic (Non-DM) subjects.

### **Material and Methods**

This study was performed at the Istanbul Research and Education Hospital, Medical Biochemistry Laboratory. doi

The serum samples and demographical data were obtained from our laboratory and laboratory information system (LIS). The groups were created according to ICD-10 (International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems) E11 codes. Serum samples were separated into groups as P-DM (n=22), W-DM (n=18) and Non-DM (n=15) according to inclusion criteria. MDA-LDL-IgG ELISA analyses were performed on waste serum samples.

A1C levels were evaluated using Synchron LX-20 (Beckman-Coulter) auto-analyzer in the complete blood count samples drawn into vacutainer 2 mL volume tubes containing 3.6 mg K2 EDTA. The serum glucose, TG, TC, HDL-C and LDL-C (direct method) levels were evaluated via Synchron LX-20 (Beckman-Coulter) auto-analyzer in the serum samples drawn into vacutainer 10mL volume SST<sup>TM</sup> tubes with Silica Clot Activator (Becton Dickison). Finally, serum MDA-LDL-IgG levels were evaluated via the ELISA method according to manufacturer instructions (LDN, Labor Diagnostika Nord GmbH & Co. KG).

Descriptive statistics for the studied variables (characteristics) were presented as median, mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values (Table 1). One-way ANOVA test was performed to compare all groups. The Bonferroni method was used for homogeneous variances and the Tamhane's T2 method was used for nonhomogeneous variances. The correlation analysis of parameters was performed using nonparametric Spearman's rho correlation method. Statistical significance level was considered as 5% and SPSS (ver: 20) statistical program was used for all statistical computations.

### Results

All groups of glucose, TG, TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, HbA1c and MDA-LDL-IgG levels were summarized in Table-1. There were no significant differences between P-DM and W-DM groups for TG, TC and LDL-C levels, howeverthese tests were significantly low in Non-DM group in comparison with other groups (respectively, p=0.002, p<0.001 and p=0.001). No statistically significant difference was observed between groups in terms of HDL-C (p=0.081). There were significant differences between the three groups in terms of glucose (p<0.001) and A1C (p<0.001) levels.

There was no significant difference between W-DM and Non-DM groups in terms of MDA-LDL-IgG levels, however they were significantly higher for the P-DM group in comparison with W-DM and Non-DM (p=0.002). There was a strong positive correlation (Correlation Coefficient=0.463) between A1C and MDA-LDL-IgG levels (p=0.001). The comparison chart of all parameters is shown in Figure 1.

doi

Table	1:	Evaluation	of all	parameters	and	comparison	between	the	groups	of	poorly	controlled	DM
(P-DM, n=22), well controlled DM (W-DM, n=18), and non-diabetic subjects (Non-DM, n=15).													

Parameters	Group	Median	Mean	SD	Min	Max	n 15).	
		191 50 a	215 21	07.27	02	551	P	
Glucose	P-DM	181,30 <b>a</b>	213,31	97,57	93	331		
(mg/dL)	W-DM	135,50 <b>b</b>	155,27 37,36		100	233	<0,001	
	Non-DM	93,00 <b>c</b>	94,26	6,56 79 1		110		
Triglyceride	P-DM	185,00 <b>a</b>	198,63	80,40	110	465		
(mg/dL)	W-DM	209,90 <b>a</b>	221,66	135,25	60	595	0.002	
	Non-DM	75,00 <b>b</b>	100,33	57,39	45	210	0,002	
	P-DM	247,00 <b>a</b>	236,54	37,81	156	313		
<b>Total Cholesterol</b>	W-DM	225,50 <b>a</b>	227,77	29,23	161	300	<0,001	
(mg/dL)	Non-DM	176,00 <b>b</b>	174,93	12,47	152	196		
HDL-C	P-DM	54,00 <b>a</b>	55,09	12,25	37	89		
(mg/dL)	W-DM	48,00 <b>a</b>	48,61	7,26	38	67	0,081	
	Non-DM	55,00 <b>a</b>	54,53	6,71	41	68		
LDL-C	P-DM	146,50 <b>a</b>	141,72	39,49	62	222		
(mg/dL)	W-DM	134,00 <b>a</b>	134,83	29,05	84	196	0,001	
	Non-DM	108,00 <b>b</b>	100,33	19,21	71	134		
A1C (%)	P-DM	9,80 <b>a</b>	10,26	1,73	8,6	14,8		
	W-DM	6,80 <b>b</b>	6,60	0,67	5,3	7,9	<0,001	
	Non-DM	5,00 <b>c</b>	4,95	0,26	4,5	5,5		
MDA-LDL-IgG	P-DM	358,35 <b>a</b>	504,27	260,67	267,30	1102,20		
(U/L)	W-DM	320,60 <b>b</b>	342,15	115,58	204,80	619,60	0,002	
	Non-DM	332,70 <b>b</b>	298,91	63,85	188,90	605,20		

It is a statistically significant difference between the groups with different letters; a, b and c (p<0.05) Min:Minumum; Max:Maximum; SD: standard deviation



**Figure 1:** The comparison chart of the levels of all parameters. Data are presented as mean±SD (standard deviation). P-DM: poorly controlled diabetes mellitus, W-DM: well controlled diabetes mellitus, Non-DM: non-diabetic subjects, TG: Triglyceride, TC: Total cholesterol, HDL-C: High density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C: Low density lipoprotein cholesterol, MDA-LDL-IgG: Malondialdehyde modified low density lipoprotein IgG

### Discussion

In this study, we observed that the regulation of DM did not affect serum lipid levels. There was no significant difference between P-DM and W-DM subjects for TG, TC, HDL-C and LDL-C, but serum lipid levels of both groups were significantly higher in comparison with the Non-DM group. Subjects of the P-DM group have the highest level of MDA-LDL-IgG but there was no significant difference between the W-DM and Non-DM groups.

Glycosylation is the reaction by which a carbohydrate is covalently attached to a target protein. Glycosylation is a mandatory process to produce functional proteins and is usually performed with the assistance of an enzyme (24). However, there is also another non-enzymatic version of glycosylation. The non-enzymatic glycosylation of proteins is an uncontrolled process and is responsible for the immunogenicity of protein (10). The oxidation of glycosylated proteins plays an important role in initiating lipid oxidation. Furthermore the resultant lipid peroxidation products, which have "neoself determinants" recognized by the immune cells (12,25).

Glycemic control significantly reduces the risk of microvascular complications in diabetic patients. It is considered that a 1% reduction in A1C decreases the risk of retinopathy, neuropathy and nephropathy by about 40% (15,16).

In contrast, there is a limited number of studies on the effect of glycemic control on macro vascular complications of DM, such as myocardial infarction, stroke (17,18).

Persistent high blood glucose is one of the major causes which leads to non-enzymatic glycosylation of proteins. A1C is the well-known form of glycosylated proteins and it is a laboratory test that shows how well your diabetes is being controlled (27). In this study subjects diagnosed with type 2-DM were divided into two groups as W-DM and P-DM according to A1C levels. Although there were significant differences between the levels of glucose and HbA1c, a significant difference was not found between the two groups in terms of serum lipid levels and especially LDL. However, we observed a significant difference between the MDA-LDL-IgG levels for P-DM and W-DM groups in which it is reported as a predictor for macro vascular complications of DM (11,12,14).

There are some limitations in this study. The appearance of diabetes-related complications is related to disease duration. High levels of MDA-LDL-IgG in subjects with P-DM may be associated with the duration of the disease. It is not easy to acquire reliable information about the age of diabetes, because the subjects do not know the beginning of the diabetic process, as a high serum glucose level, for themselves; they are followed later in the duration of diabetes.And even the known duration of diabetes mellitus for each

### Conclusion

doi

We observed a significant difference between P-DM and W-DM groups in terms of their MDA-LDL-IgG levels. Furthermore, it was observed that the levels of MDA-LDL-IgG were similar in subjects with W-DM and Non-DM, and were significantly lower compared to P-DM subjects. These findings suggest that the normalization of blood glucose levels in type 2 diabetics may persuade the reduced rate of formation of new antigenic epitopes on the LDL via nonenzymatic glycosylation. Although there is no effect on lipid levels, the regulation of diabetes may be improved by reducing antibody formation against MDA-LDL.

In addition, there was a positive correlation between A1C and MDA-LDL-IgG levels in type 2 diabetics. A1C may not only be a good indicator of blood glucose control but is also a good predictor for diabetes-related macro vascular complications. Further prospective studies are needed to confirm these findings.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The authors are solely responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

### References

- Calti Gur C, Polat H, Muderrisoglu C, Altunoglu E, Yilmaz M. In Patients with Type-2 Diabetes, Diabetes Regulation, Hba1c, Duration of Diabetes, BMI, Dyslipidemia, and Microalbuminuria Compared with Macrovascular Complications. Istanbul Medical Journal. 2013 Dec 19;14(4):243–7.
- Çetinkalp DŞ. Tip 1 Diyabet ve Otoimmunite. Turkiye Klinikleri J Endocrin-Special Topics. 2010;3(2):51–8.
- Dursunoğlu D, Evrengül H, Kaftan A, Kiliç M, Sermez Y. Koroner Ateroskleroz ve Diyabet. Turkiye Klinikleri J Cardiol. 2004;17(1):55–60.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2014 [Internet]. 2014. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics/2014statisticsre port.html
- Çeviker T, Sametoğlu F, Aksoy F, Özdemir AT, Aral H, Güvenen G. The Evaluation of TNF-α and CRP as Inflammatory Markers in Type 2 Diabetes-Related Complications. Istanbul Med J. 2008;9(4):58–60.

- Gurcan Z, Polat H, Muderrisoglu C, Besler M, Ozgul RB. A Comparison of Insulin Resistance Between Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Istanbul Medical Journal. 2011;12(2):65–8.
- Poda M. Kalıtsal Dislipdemi Fenotipleri ve Genetik İlişkiler Üzerine (Derleme). Deneysel Tıp Araştırma Enstitüsü Dergisi. 2011;1(2):14–9.
- Goldstein JL, Brown MS. History of Discovery: The LDL Receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009 Apr;29(4):431–8.
- Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Biochem. 1983;52:223–61.
- Parmaksız İ. Advanced Glycation End-Products in Complications of Diabetes Mellitus. MMJ. 2011;24(3):141–8.
- Kurban S, Mehmetoğlu İ. Okside Düşük Dansiteli Lipoprotein Otoantikorları ve Klinik Önemi. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci. 2005;25(1):73–84.
- Binder CJ, Shaw PX, Chang M-K, Boullier A, Hartvigsen K, Hörkkö S, et al. Thematic review series: The Immune System and Atherogenesis. The role of natural antibodies in atherogenesis. J Lipid Res. 2005 Jul 1;46(7):1353–63.
- Hansson GK, Libby P, Schönbeck U, Yan Z-Q. Innate and Adaptive Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis. Circulation Research. 2002 Aug 23;91(4):281–91.
- Andersson J, Libby P, Hansson GK. Adaptive immunity and atherosclerosis. Clinical Immunology. 2010 Ocak;134(1):33–46.
- Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet. 1998 Sep 12;352(9131):837–53.
- Lathief S, Inzucchi SE. Approach to diabetes management in patients with CVD. Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine [Internet]. [cited 2015 Nov 13];0(0). Available from: http://www.tcmonline.org/article/S1050173815001504/abst ract
- Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HAW. 10-Year Follow-up of Intensive Glucose Control in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2008 Oct 9;359(15):1577–89.

http://dx.doi.org/10.17546/msd.91056

doi

- Long-Term Effects of Intensive Glucose Lowering on Cardiovascular Outcomes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2011 Mar 3;364(9):818–28.
- Palinski W, Rosenfeld ME, Ylä-Herttuala S, Gurtner GC, Socher SS, Butler SW, et al. Low density lipoprotein undergoes oxidative modification in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989 Feb;86(4):1372–6.
- Virella G, Lopes-Virella MF. Lipoprotein autoantibodies: measurement and significance. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2003 Jul;10(4):499–505.
- Li W, Febbraio M, Reddy SP, Yu D-Y, Yamamoto M, Silverstein RL. CD36 participates in a signaling pathway that regulates ROS formation in murine VSMCs. J Clin Invest. 2010 Nov;120(11):3996–4006.
- 22. Lopes-Virella MF, Baker NL, Hunt KJ, Lyons TJ, Jenkins AJ, Virella G, et al. High concentrations of AGE-LDL and oxidized LDL in circulating immune complexes are associated with progression of retinopathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2012 Jun;35(6):1333–40.
- Lopes-Virella MF, Hunt KJ, Baker NL, Moritz T, Virella G. The Levels of MDA - LDL in Circulating Immune Complexes predict Myocardial Infarction in the VADT study. Atherosclerosis. 2012 Oct;224(2):526–31.
- Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, et al. Essentials of Glycobiology. 2009 [cited 2015 Nov 17]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1908/
- Bucala R, Makita Z, Koschinsky T, Cerami A, Vlassara H. Lipid advanced glycosylation: pathway for lipid oxidation in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Jul 15;90(14):6434–8.
- Saad AF, Virella G, Chassereau C, Boackle RJ, Lopes-Virella MF. OxLDL immune complexes activate complement and induce cytokine production by MonoMac 6 cells and human macrophages. J Lipid Res. 2006 Sep;47(9):1975–83.
- Erciyas F, Taneli F, Arslan B, Uslu Y. Glycemic control, oxidative stress, and lipid profile in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Arch Med Res. 2004 Apr;35(2):134–40.

Copyright © 2014 The Author(s); This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. All Rights reserved by international journal of Medical Science and Discovery.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 81-6

## Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.94530

# **Relationship between Nurses' Spiritual Well-being and Nurses' perception** of competence in providing spiritual care for patients

Hossein Ebrahimi<sup>1</sup>\*, Mohammad Asghari Jafarabadi<sup>2</sup>, Hossein Namdar Arshetnab<sup>3</sup>, Soraya Golipoor Khanmiri<sup>4</sup>

### Abstract

**Objective:** As an important factor affecting human's health consequences, spiritual well-being has been the center of attention in recent years. According to literature, nurses' spiritual well-being affects how they provide spiritual care. This paper, thus, aims to find the relationship between nurses' spiritual well-being and their perception of their competence in providing spiritual care for patients in Tabriz Educational-Therapeutic centers

**Material and Methods:** This is cross sectional-analytical research which is conducted on 555 nurses of medicaleducational centers in Tabriz in 2014. Data were gathered using three-part questionnaire including demographic information and Spiritual Care Competence Scale (SCCS) and spiritual well-being scale (SWBS). Data analysis was done using descriptive (frequency, percent, mean, standard deviation) and inferential (independent t, Pearson, Spearman, ANOVA Tukey test) statistics using SPSS 21 software.

**Results:** Results showed that nurses' spiritual well-being is significantly and directly associated with their perception of spiritual care delivery (P<0.05). Also, Mean score of nurses' perception of their care competence 95.2 (14.4) and Mean score of spiritual well-being 92.4 (12.3) were both above average (P<0.05). Type of employment and experience in participating workshops had significant relationship with the nurses' perception of their competence for providing spiritual care and spiritual well-being (P<0.05).

**Conclusion:** Research findings indicate that nurses' perception of their spiritual well-being and spiritual care competence were above average. There was also a significant and positive correlation between spiritual health and the nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence

Key words: spiritual care, spirituality, spiritual well-being, nurses

### Introduction

Spirituality is a dimension of human existence inducing people a sense of being with qualities such as mettle, a capacity for internal recognition and reinforcement resource, sacred mental experience, individual's ascendency to the love capacity and superior knowledge, integrating with a general shadow of the whole life and finding a meaning for the person's existence (1). The spiritual dimension including biological, mental and social is one of the quadruplet holistic dimensions, which is especially important. Nursing is a holistic field of study according which human being is a multidimensional creature with the spirituality at the center of these dimensions playing a key role in being healthy. Therefore, spiritual care and paying attention to patients' spiritual needs shape an important part of nurses' performance (2).

Spiritual care is a set of used skills in the professional field or nursing process which includes therapeutic relationship between nurse and patient, being accessible for patient, active listening, showing empathy, and hope, providing religious facilities for patients with certain religious beliefs, helping patients and etc (3).

Spiritual care is an important nursing responsibility. American Nurses Association regards spiritual care as of important nursing responsibilities.

Received 14-09-2015, Accepted 01-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1.</sup> Department of psychiatric nursing, nursing and midwifery faculty, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

<sup>2.</sup> Road Traffic Injury Research Center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran.

<sup>3.</sup> Department of psychiatric nursing, nursing and midwifery faculty, Medical Sciences University, Tabriz

<sup>4.</sup> Department of psychiatric nursing, nursing and midwifery faculty, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Soraya Golipoor Khanmiri E-mail: sgolipoor351351@gmail.com

Providing spiritual care for patients is a therapeutic solution having good benefits for patients and the treatment team. At first, it reduces the length of hospital stay among patients. Noticing patients' spiritual problems, identifying their spiritual needs, and giving them a chance to express their spiritual beliefs decrease the use of health resources and consequently their physical and mental problems and raise their satisfaction. Patients are, thus, expected to stay for a shorter time in the hospital (4).

Spiritual well-being produces an integrated and coordinated link between inner forces. It is identified by fixed characteristics of life, peace, the sense of a close connection with self, God, society and the environment. It consists of two dimensions. First, religious well-being is associated with the quality of people's perceptions of health in the spiritual life when in relation with a supreme power. Second, the existential well-being relates to social and mental concerns and how people connect with God, society and self (5). When the spiritual well-being is seriously threatened, individuals may suffer from mental disorders such as feeling of loneliness, depression, and meaninglessness (6). The more nurses become aware of their spiritual condition, they will be more aware of the spiritual state of their patients. This awareness and spirituality in nurses is a prerequisite for creating commitment in the spiritual care process (7). When nurses are completely healthy, they would deliver higher quality care and patients are more satisfied of their professorial services (8).

Studying the connection between nurses' spirituality and spiritual care delivery, Vance indicated that there was a significant positive correlation between nurses' spiritual well-being and the quality of spiritual care (9). According to Walter, spiritual care delivery is not a job all nurses can handle it. It depends on nurses' situation and their spiritual context (10).

In a study on 685 nurses, Ross found out that nurses being aware of their inner spirituality delivered better spiritual cares (11). He relates self-awareness and spiritual care delivery and argues that those nurses seeking their life goal and meaning may provide deeper spiritual cares in spite of identifying limited spiritual needs than those lacking such quality (12). Nurses should be able to completely look after patients. In such all-inclusive investigation, studying the patients' spiritual dimension and considering their spiritual well-being matters more. Therefore, it should be cleared how informed they are of spirituality and spiritual care. Folton recommends that nurses' knowledge and information about spirituality should be expanded up in order to enjoy a better understanding of patients' spirituality and their spiritual needs (13).

The importance of spiritual well-being among nurses and its effect on their perception of spiritual care competence, at the same time lack of literature on this lead us to conduct this research to find an answer for this question: how are nurses' spiritual well-being connected with their perception of their competence in providing spiritual care

### **Material and Methods**

This is a Cross sectional-analytical research. Study population was all nurses who were nurse or nursing manager in one of the medical-educational centers of Tabriz University of Medical Sciences (head nurse, supervisor, and director of nursing care) and have study criteria (one year work experience and university degree). In order to determine sample size, Morgan table was used (considering 95% and error 5%). Sample consisted of 555 nurses in hospitals related of Tabriz University of medical sciences. Multistage random sampling was used and suitable assignment was used for allocation to wards. Therefore, after selecting hospital, samples were selected randomly considering number of nursing staff in different wards of hospitals. In order to gather data, first, researcher submitted her request from research deputy to related hospitals. Then, researcher referred to selected wards and after explaining the purpose and delivered questionnaires to nurses in there different shifts to complete. Researcher returned one week later to take back questionnaires. Data were entered into SPSS21 and was analyzed.

In order to gather data from demographic questionnaire , Spiritual Care Competence Scale (SCCS) and spiritual well-being questionnaire were used.

Spiritual Care Competence Scale (SCCS) were designed by Van Leeuwen and Cusveller (2009) (14). This scale has 27 questions with 5 point Likert scale (1. Strongly disagree, 2. Disagree, 3. Neutral, 4. Agree, 5. Strongly agree) which is divided to 6 categories individual support and consultation with patient (6 questions 1-6), being professional and improving quality of spiritual care (6 questions, 7-12), attitude toward religious states (4 questions, 13-16), communication (2 questions, 17-18), evaluating and implementing spiritual care (6 questions, 19-24) and referral to experts (3 questions, 25-27).

Questionnaire has minimum 27 score and maximum 135 score such that below 64 is low spiritual competence, 64-98 indicates average spiritual care, and above 98 shows high spiritual competence. In order to obtain perceived mean for each aspect of questionnaire, following procedure was used. Individual support, professionalism, evaluating and implementing spiritual care includes 6 questions in 5-point Likert scale from1 to 5;
therefore, their score range between 6 to 30 with mean 18. Attitude toward religious states has 4 questions ranging 4 to 20 with mean 12. Communication field with score 2 to 10 has mean 6. Referral to expert ranges 3 to 15 with mean 9.

Back translation to Persian was done by two English language experts. Then Persian version was translated again into English. Content validity of Persian version was done by experts' opinion such that the scale was delivered to 10 faculty members of nursing to study questions regarding ease, being clear and relevant. Cronbach alpha was used for reliability of scale and its coefficient was .93. Cronbach alpha was calculated .60 to .89 for each categories. It should be mentioned that said questionnaire as .56 to .82.(14) Reliability and validity was measured by Khalaj et.al in 2013 and Cronbach alpha of questionnaire was .77 and for subscales was .65 to 0.85 (15).

Developed by Palutzian and Ellison in 1982, the spiritual well-being scale (SEBS) includes 20 items. Even questions measure existence well-being and odd questions evaluate regional well-being, and their sum forms the total score of spiritual well-being. Items are measured on the 6-point Likert scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree). Therefore, the score of spiritual well-being range between 20 and 120 and it was investigated in the religious and existential dimensions in the range of 10 to 60. Spiritual wellbeing was divided into three groups of low (20 to 40), average (41-99), and high (100-120). This questionnaire was employed in various studies inside and outside of the country with reliability and validity confirmed. Palutzian and Ellison validated it and reported the Cronbach's alpha coefficients of religious and existential well-being and the total scale 0.91, 0.91, and 0.93 respectively (16). In their study, Dehshiri et al. estimated the Cronbach's alpha coefficients of religious and existential well-being and the total scale at 0.90, 0.82, and 0.87, and by testretest at 0.85, 0.78, and 0.81. Here, the same values were calculated by Cronbach's alpha at 0.83, 0.60, and 0.83.

doi http://dx.doi.org/10.17546/msd.94530

Data analysis was done using SPSS software version 21 and by using descriptive statistics and inferential statistics through t-test, Pearson correlation and Spearman and ANOVA and Tukey test (18).

Before implementing study, proposal was approved by ethics committee of Tabriz University of Medical Sciences. Required information and rights of participants were given to research units and confidentiality of responses was emphasized

#### Results

Results indicate that, 88.5 percent of participants were women and 11.5 were men. In terms of education, 91.7 percent held Bachelor's Degree, 4.5 had Master's Degree, and 3.1 percent were with Associates Degree. 429 were married, 118 were single, and 4 were divorced. Regarding the employment conditions, 51.9 percent were contract workers, 34.2 percent were employed on a formal contract, and 13.9 worked in a project. Fewer had participated in morality workshops.

According to findings, the mean score of perception of spiritual care competence (95.2 (14.5)) and spiritual well-being (92.4 (12.3)) were significantly average (see table 1).

Findings showed that the mean score of each items of questionnaire on the perception of spiritual care competence and spiritual well-being were significantly above average (see table 2).

Results disclosed that a significant direct correlation between the mean score of the perception of spiritual care competence and spiritual well-being (p < 0.05) (see table 3).

According to findings, the mean scores of the perception of spiritual care competence and spiritual well-being were found to have a significant difference with the type of employment and participating workshops (p < 0.05) (see tables 4 and 5). No significant difference was observed in other items (sex, education, working turn, revenue, and position) (p > 0.05).

Table 1: one-sample t-test results to obtain the mean score of nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence and spiritual well-being

Variable	Mean Score	<b>Standard Deviation</b>	Significance Level
Nurses' perception of their	95.2	14.4	0.000
spiritual care competence			
spiritual well-being	92.4	12.3	0.000

Variable	Items	Mean	Average
		(Standard	
		Deviation)	
Spiritual care competence	Individually supporting and	21.1 (4.0)	18
	counseling with patients		
	Professional and high quality	20.5 (4.3)	18
	spiritual care		
	Attitude toward patients'	16.0 (2.5)	12
	religious spirits		
	Communication	7.8 (1.4)	6
	Evaluating and delivering	20.0 (4.3)	18
	spiritual care		
	Visiting specialists	9.5 (2.3)	9
spiritual well-being	Religious health	49.6 (7.3)	35
	Existential health	42.7 (5.8)	35

# Table 2: one-sample t-test results to compare means in the areas of studying questionnaire

Table 3: simple correlation coefficient between the nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence and their spiritual well-being

<b>Criterion Variable</b>	Statistical Index	<b>Correlation Coefficient (r)</b>	Significance Level
Nurses' perception of their	Nurses' spiritual	0.374	0.000
spiritual care competence	well-being		

Table 4: comparing the total mean-scores for the nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence and their spiritual well-being in Tabriz Educational-Therapeutic centers participating in moral workshops based on independent t-test

Variable	Participating	Number (%)	Mean	Standard	Statistical test
	in Workshop			Deviation	results (p-value)
Spiritual care	Yes	59 (10.6)	100.8	14.9	0.002
competence					
competence	No	496 (89.4)	94.5	14.2	
spiritual well-being	Yes	59 (10.6)	95.5	12.0	0.036
	No	496 (89.4)	92.0	12.2	

Table 5: Comparing the total mean-scores for the nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence and their spiritual well-being in Tabriz Educational-Therapeutic centers with employment based on ANOVA test

Variable	Employment	Number	Mean	Standard	Statistical Test
		(%)		Deviation	Results (p-value)
Spiritual care	Plan	77 (13.9)	90.7	16.4	0.002
competence	Contractual	288 (51.9)	94.9	12.4	
	Formal	190(34.2)	97.4	14.9	
spiritual well-being	Plan	77 (13.9)	90.4	12.7	0.045
	Contractual	288 (51.9)	91.8	12.6	
	Formal	190 (34.2)	94.8	11.4	

doi

# Discussion

Providing spiritual care for patients are influenced by personal, cultural, and educational factors (23). and those who present these cares should have spiritual and ethical competence. Findings of research show that scores for nurses' spiritual competence care is between (38-135) with mean 95.2 (14.5). which indicates perception of nurses from providing spiritual care for patients is average. Most nurses participated in this research gained average score. In other study, mean spiritual care competence of nurses was 97.5 (13.6) which is consistent with our study (3).

Results showed that the mean scores for each item were significantly above average. The highest and lowest scores respectively related to the attitude toward patients' religious spirits and visiting specialists.

According to findings, the mean score for participating nurses' spiritual well-being was 92.4 (12.3) with the level of spiritual health between 31 and 115. This shows the participants with average spiritual level. Our findings relatively agree with results Akeberi et al. achieved (94.3 (16)) (20). In their study, Farahani et al. also reported an average spiritual level for nursing students (6). The mean scores among participants on religious and existential well-being were reported 49.6 (7.3) and 42.7 (5.8) respectively. This reveals that the mean score of religious health is higher than the existential well-being. This agrees with scores claimed by Fatemi et al. for religious wellbeing (53.0 (6.1)) and existential well-being (48.3 (5.2)) (20). Such results are not unexpected for our society respecting religious and spiritual values. Regarding the importance of spirituality and spiritual care and their relation with spiritual well-being, nurses' spiritual well-being seems to be improved. On the other hand, Iran's religious attitudes might have helped participants answering the questionnaire items and evaluating themselves in higher level.

A significant direct association was observed between nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence and their spiritual well-being (p < 0.05). Put it differently, spiritual well-being increases with their perception of their spiritual care competence. Fatemi et al. reported a significant correlation between nurses' spirituality and patients' satisfaction (20).

Many researchers believe that the capacity of providing spiritual care intensifies with higher awareness of spirituality and spiritual well-being (6).

Improved spiritual well-being and higher perception of spiritual care delivery seems to be linked with nurses' performance and spiritual care competence. This should be studied further in future.

Studying the relationship between the mean scores of spiritual care competence and spiritual well-being with nurses' individual characteristics disclosed a significant difference between the type of employment and attending workshops (p < 0.05). According to ANOVA and Tukey test results, such difference was observed in working as formal nurses. Formal nurses got higher mean scores for spiritual well-being and the perception of their spiritual care competence. This indicates that formal nurses have higher level of spiritual health and competence than other groups. Maslow has specified the last category of the basic needs pyramid to ego ascendancy. He believes that those with satisfied low level needs may achieve deeper needs (21). Frankle and Travellbee regard spiritual needs as the deepest ones in human being. If people can identify such needs, they will be able to moderately act at the time of crises and find the meaning, value, goal and the hope of their life (8). Formal nurses seem to identify a degree of such deep spiritual needs and seek to satisfy them. The t-test results also show a significant difference between attending workshop and the scores of spiritual health and the perception of spiritual care competence. This means that those who had participated in courses and workshops on spiritual well-being and spiritual care received higher scores. Ours results agree with what Sabzevari et al. found on this subject (8). Regarding the effect of participating in morality workshops on spiritual well-being and spiritual care, hospitals are suggested to provide the required ground for nurses to participate in training courses, workshops and congresses on spiritual well-being

# Conclusion

As to the association between the spiritual well-being and nurses' perception of their spiritual care competence, improved spiritual well-being increases the nurses' perception of their spiritual care delivery to patients. Therefore, it is necessary to hold training workshops and courses for increasing the nurses' spiritual well-being and their competence in providing spiritual care within training programs delivering health and treatment services. **Limitations:** One of the research limitations was that this research was conducted only on a group of nurses in Tabriz and this sample is not representative of large nurses' society. Future study can be for other areas' nurses with different culture and religious beliefs. Qualitative research can be promising in implementing higher spiritual care for patients and promoting competence of nurses.

#### References

- Nasehi A, Rafiee H, Jafari M, eth. Vetting nursing students in providing spiritual care to patients. Journal of Clinical Nursing.2013;3(2): 1-8.
- 2 Tiew LH,Creedy DK. Development and preliminary validation of a composite spirituall care-giving scale. International Journal of Nursing study . 2012;49(6): 682-90
- 3 Sabsevari S, Jafari M, Bonashi M, Borhani F. Competence spiritual care in nursing and nursing students of Kerman University of Medical Sciences .Journal of Medical Jurisprudence. 2013;5(15,16):123-38. (persian)
- 4 Fallahi khoshknab M, Mzaheri M. Spiritualty, spiritual Care and spiritual therapy.2008. (persian)
- 5 Omidvari S, Spiritual health, its nature and the instruments used,in; Abstracts of the 10th consecutive Annual Meeting of the Iranian psychiatric Association, Iranian Journal of psychiatry and clinical psychology.2010;16(3):274. (persian)
- 6 Farahiniya M, Abbasi M, Gauri A, Hagani H. Spiritual health student nurses and their views on spirituality and spiritual care of patients. Iranian Journal of Nursing. 2005;18(44): 7-13.
- 7 Fortinash, K M& Holoday- Worret, P A, Psychiatric Mental Health Nursing. (2th ed). Mosby Company. 2000; 767-768
- 8 Farahininia M, Abbasi M, Spirituality and spiritual cares in Nursing. Tehran university medical scinces. 2010.
- 9 Vance D I, Nurses Attitudes towards spirituality and patient care.Medsurg Nursing. 2001;10(5): 204-278.
- 10 Mauk K L, Schmidt N K, spiritual care in Nursing practice. Lippincott Company 1,4,6. 2004; 303-330
- 11 Stranhan S, spiritual perception, Attitudes about spiritual care and spiritual care practices Ameny nures practitioners. Western Journal of Nursing research.2001; 23(1):90-104.

Acknowledgments: Researchers want to appreciate all nurses participated in this study and others who helped the research

- 12 Mcsherry W, Making sense of spirituality in Nursing practice. Churchil Livingston Company. 2000; 7(58):95-150.
- 13 Lemmer C. Teaching The spiritual Dimension of Nursig Care.Journal of Nursing Education. 2002;41(11):482-85.
- 14 van Leeuwen R, Tiesinga LJ, Middel H. et al, The validity and reliability of an Instrument to assess Nursing Competencies in Spiritual Care. J clin Nurs. 2009;18(20):2857-69.
- 15 Khalaj M, Pakpour Hajiagha A, Mohammadizerd.I. Validity and reliability of a Persian version of nursing students' competence scale in spiritual care. JQUMS. 2013;17(2):63-70. (persian)
- 16 Safay Rad, Karimi L. shomoossi N, et al, The relationship beiween spiritual well-being and Mental health of university students quarterly. Journal of Sabzevar university of medical sciences.2010;17(4):274-80. (persian)
- 17 Vahedi S, Eskandari F, The Validation and multigroup confirmatory factor analysis of the satisfaction with life scale in nurse and midwife undergraduate students. Iranian Journal of nursing research..2010;5(17):68-79. (persian)
- 18 Asghari Jafarabadi M, Mohammadi SM. Statistical Series: Summarizing and Displaying Data. Journal of Diabetes and Lipid Disorders. 2013;12(2): 83-100.
- 19 Mitchell DL, Bennett Mj, Manfrin-ledet L. spiritual development of Nursing students.developing competence to provide spiritual care to patients at the end of life Journal of Nursing education.2006;45(9):365-70.
- 20 Fatemi M, Nazari R, Safavi M, et al,. Relevance of spirituality for nurses on patient satisfaction with nursing care. Journal of Medical Ethics.2011;5(17):141-59.
- 21 Memarian R, the application of nursing concepts and theories. Tarbiat Modarres University Publication Center.2010;5(117):19-30. (persian)



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 87-90

# Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.21213

# One year experience of emergency service in patients with penetrating head trauma due to firearm

Hamza Karabag<sup>1</sup>\*, Mustafa Kilic<sup>1</sup>, Kadri Burak Ethemoglu<sup>1</sup>, Hasan Buyukaslan<sup>2</sup>

# Abstract

**Objective:** We aimed to share the features of 45 patients with firearm injuries related head traumas and our experiences in their treatments.

**Methods:** Our cases consisted of 36 males 45 patients in total between the ages of 18-65, who were brought to the emergency service of our hospital due to firearm injuries. For this retrospective study, it was accessed to the patient data from the archival records of our hospital. The demographical data of the patients like age and gender, and the records such as type of injury, injured area in head, diagnosis, treatment and follow ups were reviewed.

**Results:** There were sinus injury related epidural haemorrhages in 8 of patients who underwent urgent surgical intervention (17.8%). In 18 of the patients (39.95%) who underwent surgery had supratentorial injuries and 7 (15.55%) had infratentorial injuries. All these 25 patients (55.50%) who underwent surgery had multiple intracranial injuries (compression fracture + subdural haemorrhage + contusion + pneumocephalus + SAH + brain edema). Four of these 6 patients with multiple injuries had abdominal injuries. Two patients had haemopneumothorax. There were vertebra and extremity injuries in 2 patients with abdominal injuries.

**Conclusions:** Brain injuries occurring with the firearm head injuries are seen as multiple injuries and their rate of mortality is quite higher.

Keywords: Head Injuries, Firearm, Penetrating, Surgical Intervention

## Introduction

Head traumas take an important place among the physical traumas caused by a variety of reasons. Head trauma accompanies to 50% of deaths based on all traumas and constitutes a substantial part of trauma related death cases (1).

Two types of accidents that causes to bodily injuries typically accompanied by head traumas occurs in our region frequently. The first type is the traffic accidents connected with commonly used motorcycles and the second type is the traumas related to falling down from the top of the flat roofed houses, which are used for a variety of reasons in summer months. In line with the precautions to be taken for these reasons, it is thought that the rate of such traumas will decrease with the modification of the physical environment.

The types of injury in case of war occur through high energy weapons, bombs and cluster bombs. Considering the main purpose of producing such weapons is to kill, the severity of injuries in war is estimable. While injuries occurring in such environments end up with death, the survival of those who reach to hospitals alive for treatment is a struggle against weapons produced to kill.

In this study, we aimed to share the features of 45 patients with firearm injuries related head traumas and our experiences in their treatments

## **Material and Methods**

Our cases consisted of 36 males 45 patients in total between the ages of 18-65, who were brought to the emergency service of our Hospital due to firearm injuries between August 2012 and September 2013 (M=80% and age average=28,2). For this retrospective study, it was accessed to the patient data from the archival records of our hospital. Only the patients with head trauma or multiple organ injuries accompanied by serious head trauma were involved in the study. Patients without head traumas were excluded from the study.

Received:11-12-2015, Accepted 13-01-2016, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neuro Surgery, Harran University, Faculty of Medicine, Urfa, Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Department of Emergency Medicine, Harran University, Faculty of Medicine, Urfa Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Hamza Karabag E-mail: hamzakarabag@yahoo.com

The demographical data of the patients like age and gender, and the records such as type of injury, injured area in head, diagnosis, treatment and follow ups were reviewed.

#### **Findings**

When they were brought to the emergency service, all patients had undergone brain computerize tomography (BCT). Urgent surgical interventions were implemented to 33 of these 45 patients (73.3%) (Table). There were sinus injury related epidural haemorrhages in 8 of these patients who underwent urgent surgical intervention (17.8%). There were sagittal sinus injuries in 6 and transverse sinus injuries in 2 of these patients.

All patients with sinus injury were operated and their postoperative follow ups and treatments were performed in the intensive care unit, and they were all lost on the postoperative 1st - 9th days during their intensive care unit follow ups.

In 18 of the patients (39.95%) who underwent surgery had supratentorial injuries and 7 (15.55%) had infratentorial (posterior fossa) injuries. All these 25 patients died while they were being followed up between the postoperative 5th and 13th days. These 25 patients (55.50%) who underwent surgery had multiple intracranial injuries (compression fracture + subdural haemorrhage + contusion + pneumocephalus + SAH + brain edema). Four of these 6 patients with multiple injuries had abdominal injuries. We maintained General Surgery, abdominal surgical intervention and then cranial intervention in 3 of 6 patients with coexisting abdominal injuries in the same session. A patient with grade 2 liver injury was suggested clinical follow up without the need for general surgery.

Two patients had haemopneumothorax and one was implemented right tube thoracostomy and the other was implemented bilateral tube thoracotomy. Also, there were vertebra (lomber-1 in one and lomber-5 in the other) and extremity injuries (humerus in one and both femur and tibia fractures in the other) in 2 patients with abdominal injuries. 2 patients with extremity injuries were evaluated by orthopedists in the emergency service. Urgent surgery was not planned. doi

Both were implemented splinting in the emergency service. Immediate treatments were not preferred for these 2 patients due to their bad general conditions.

Due to the type of firearm injuries occur mostly through high energy weapons, 36 of 45 patients died as a result of these injuries, while 5 patients were discharged with motor deficit. 4 patients were transferred to infection diseases due to meningitis



**Image 1 A, B.:** Foreign body from the shrapnel in the left parietal region with part a result of parenchymal injury, small bone fragments, bleeding and contusions in areas considered

Table 1. Clamar mj	unes caused by meanins			
	Operated n=33 (%73.3)		Non-operated r	n=12 (%26.7)
Sagittal sinus injuries	Complicat	ted injury		
Dural sinus injury + epidural haemorrhage	Supratentorial haemorrhage (Compression fracture + subdural haemorrhage + contusion + pneumocephalus + SAH + brain edema)	Infratentorial haemorrhage (Compression fracture +contusion +pneumocephalus + brain edema)	Subarachnoid Haemorrhage + pneumocephalus	Contusion + pneumocephalus + SAH + cerebral edema
n=8, (%17.8)	n=18, (%39.95)	n=7, (%15.55)	n=3, %6.6	n=9, %20.1

Medical Science and Discovery, 2016; 3(2): 87-90



**Image 2 (A,B,C,D):** Foreign body left orbital gunshot wounds to the right pariatooksipital region extending from the inner wall. It is seen outside the left eye, bone fragments extending into the parenchyma, contused area and especially intraventricular hematoma seen in the area.

# Discussion

As a result of a shot through the head, various degrees of injuries occur according to the type of weapon, shooting distance, angle and speed of bullet entry to the head (10). Various degrees of skull fractures occur in the area of bullet entry to the head in connection with the bullet mass and speed. Bullet leads to both damage through direct effect and damage to distant tissues through shock waves by dragging the pieces of fractured bones (9).

Penetrating head injuries are seen in males more in the literature searches (2,4,5,8,11,14). In our study, such injuries were also determined higher in males in comparison to females (males: 80% and females: 20%).

The reasons for this may be males to be keen on weapons more, carry guns more and fight directly in front in wars. In our study, a significant part of the cases were patients coming from Syria, where war continues 50 km away from our hospital.

The purpose of the surgical intervention in firearm head injuries is to implement decompression in intracranial pressure increase and clean the injury to prevent infections that could occur due to foreign substances and necrotic tissues. We implemented surgery to 33 patients. There were sinus injuries in a substantial part of the patients we implemented surgery and urgent surgery was implemented to these patients for sinus repair. Combined injuries were detected in the CT examinations of the other patients underwent surgery.

Dural sinus injuries are seen in 10% of firearm injuries (7). In our study, the dural sinus injuries were determined a bit higher comparing to the literature (17.8%). This can be explained with a substantial part of the patients involved in our study to have injuries from a war environment.

Subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) is a pathology that is frequently seen in penetrating head traumas. It was reported 31% to 80% in researches in the literature. This rate was determined as 93% in the study performed by Ziyal et al. (15). And in our study, it was determined at the rate of 82.2%. The reason for observing a high rate of SAH can be bullet entering the head to move through the parenchyma and lead to vascular injuries. Even if SAH is not seen alone frequently, it is often observed in patients with multiple intraparenchymal injuries.

With the effect of the bullet, pieces of bone and hairs, and foreign substances like stones and grains on the ground, where wounded person fell, are carried to brain parenchyma tissue. If patient had undergone surgery, these foreign substances must be cleaned as much as possible during the operation. Even if the wounded person is operated, the brain tissue cannot be cleaned off these foreign substances. Foreign substances can be reason for infection and meningitis and they frequently require antibiotherapy during the follow up periods. The BOS leak occurring as a result of the penetrating injuries also poses a great risk for meningitis and intracranial abscess (4, 3, 13). The second surgical intervention to remove foreign substances may cause increase of neurological symptoms and bacterial propagation (12). In our cases, any second intervention was not performed in order to remove foreign substances.

Arterial dissection, dural venous sinus injuries may occur following the firearm head injuries (15). SAH may develop following the vascular injuries. Both vascular injuries and SAH increase the rate of mortality and morbidity in penetrating head injuries due to reasons such as pneumocephalus, compression fracture and brain edema (6). The mortality following the firearm injuries was determined between 16% and 32%. In our study, this rate was determined much higher as 80%. Patients involved in our study to come from the nearby war territory and the use of high energy weapons and cluster bombs during the war can be the reason for this higher mortality.

#### Conclusion

Brain injuries occurring with the firearm head injuries are seen as multiple injuries and their rate of mortality is quite higher.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

### References

doi

- Alewander RH, Proctor HJ (1993)Head Trauma in: Advanced Trauma Life Support. 3 Edition. American College of Surgeons. Chicago,pp159–183.
- Benzel AC, Day WT, Kesterson L, Willis BK, Modling D, Hadden TA (1991) Civilian craniocerebral gunshot wounds. Neurosurgery 29: 67-71.
- Erdoğan E, Gönül E, Seber N (2002). Craniserebral gunshot wounds. Neurosurgery Quarterly 12:1-18
- Gönül E, Baysefer A, Kahraman S, Çıklatekerlioğlu O, Gezen F, Yayla o, Seber N (1997) Cause of infections and management results in penetrating craniocerebral injuries. Neurosurg Rev 20: 177-181.
- Grahm TW, Williams FC, Harrington T, Setzler RF (1990) Civilian gunshot wounds to the head: A prospective study. Neurosurgery; 27: 696-700.
- Jinkins J, DadsefAn M, Sener R (1992) Value of acut phase angiography in the detection of vascular injuries caused by gunshot wounds to the head. Analysis of 12 cases. AJR 159: 365-36
- 7. Kapp JP, Gielchinsky I (1972) Management of combat wounds of the dural venous sinuses. Surgery 71 :913
- Kaufman HH, makela ME, Lee KF, Haid RW, Gildenberg PL (1986) Gunshot wounds to the head. A perspective. Neurosurgery 18: 689-695.
- Liebenberg WA, Demetriades AK, Hankins M, Hardwidge C, Hartzenberg BH (2005)Penetrating civilian craniocerebral gunshot wounds: A protocol of delayed surgery. Neurosurgery 57:293-299.
- Matson DD, Wokin J (1981)Hematomas associated with penetrating wounds of the brain. J Neurosurg54: 44-48.
- 11. Meirowsky AM (1984) Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma. Springfield, III Thomas
- Meirowsky AM (1982). Seconderyremovel of retained bone fragment in missile wound of brain J Neurosurg 57: 617-621
- Rish BL, Caveness WF, Dillon JD (1981). Analysis of brain abcess after penetrating craniocerebral injuries in Vietnam. Neurosurgery 9:535-541
- Stone JL, Lichtor T, Fitzgerald LF (1995) Gunshot wounds to the head in civilian practice. Neurosurgery 37: 1104-1110.
- Ziyal İM, Kılınçoğlu BF, Şahin Y, Aydın Y (1999) Penetrating cranicerebral gunshot wounds. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg. 5: 238-241



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 91-7

# Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.09883

# **Could Computer Game Players React as Quick as Table Tennis Athletes and Perform the Right Action?**

Senay Koparan Sahin<sup>1</sup>, Engin Sagdilek<sup>2\*</sup>

# Abstract

**Objective:** Table tennis athletes have short reaction times and specialized skills. Computer games may also decrease reaction times. However the actions of the computer game players are limited to mouse/keyboard/joystick use. The objective of the study is to compare the reaction times and the achievement levels on selective action array of athletes and players.

**Material and Methods:** 10 medical school students that played computer games 10 hours a week for at least 5 years, and 9 table tennis athletes that were trained 10 hours a week for at least 5 years were included in the study. Right/left-hand/foot reaction times against auditory and visual stimuli were recorded for each subject. Selective action array was implemented utilizing a table tennis robot. The robot was set up to send 120 balls in different colors, to different points on the table, in random colors and 90 balls per minute at the same speed. The subjects were asked to ignore the white balls, to touch the yellow balls and to hold the pink balls. The actions that the subjects took, or did not take against each ball were transformed into points.

**Results:** It was found that the mean reaction time for athletes was 196.8ms and 196.0ms for the players. The selective action array total points were similar in athletes and players. While the athletes scored better with yellow and pink balls, players scored better with the white balls.

**Conclusion:** The similar scores and reaction times by players and athletes could be interpreted that it could be beneficial to prioritize visual perception, attention and focusing in selecting athletes and in designing training programs.

Key words: Computer games, table tennis, reaction time, selective action array

#### Introduction

Table tennis is one of the sports that are technically difficult to learn and play. The athlete has to perceive the ball within a small space, in various rotations, aiming at different points on the table in various speeds, and perform the correct action to send the ball to the opponent's side to force him to fail. This sport where the ball could reach high speeds within a range of 3-5 m is considered among reaction sports (1).

Table tennis table is 152.5 by 274 cm and the diameter of the table tennis ball is 40 mm and it weighs 2.7 grams. Measurements taken with professional athletes demonstrated that the maximum speed of the ball could reach 31 m/s (2), and with that speed it could traverse the table within approximately 90 ms. With an average speed of 10 m/s, the time that the ball covers the length and back between two athletes that stand 30 cm from the table is approximately 300 ms. Although the maximum speed that the ball could reach in table tennis is almost half the speed it could reach in other sports played with racket such as tennis, squash and badminton, the relatively shorter space between the two athletes in table tennis requires a relatively shorter time of reaction by table tennis athletes when compared to other racket sports athletes and many other sports athletes and to individuals that do not participate in sports (1,3-6).

Computer games play an increasingly important part in our lives and became one of the most prevalent entertainment tools of the younger generation. During recent years, international tournaments for computer games are organized and even the term electronic athlete / e-athlete is being used in the literature (7-11).

The intrinsic concept of movement in sports does not completely exist in electronic sports, which became the main topic of the argument on whether these games should be considered as sports at all.

Received 13-11-2015, Accepted 22-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Uludag University, Sport Science Faculty, Dept. of Physical Education and Sport Teaching Bursa-Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Uludag University, Faculty of Medicine, Dept. of Biophysics Bursa-Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Engin Sagdilek E-mail: esagdilek@hotmail.com

Success in computer games is related to attention and concentration. Especially in action games, it is an expected fact that the visual perception of the players should be advanced and their reaction times should be short. However, the actions of these players could not reach beyond the use of mouse, keyboard and joystick. The objective of the study is to compare the reaction times for advanced level table tennis athletes and computer game players and the accuracy rates of the required actions utilizing a new test to determine selective reactions of table tennis athletes and computer game players

#### **Material and Methods**

The study was conducted in Uludağ University, Faculty of Sport Sciences, during the months of March and April 2013. An approval was obtained from the "Uludağ University, Faculty of Medicine, Clinical Research Ethics Board". The subjects were included in the study after obtaining their consent.

## **Study Groups**

Professional or amateur table tennis athletes, who were licensed in various table tennis clubs in Bursa, Turkey, were provided information on the study and participated in the study on a voluntary basis. The criterion for acceptance in the study was at least 10 hours training per week for at least 5 years. 9 table tennis players with a mean age of 20.1 years that met the criterion participated in the study [Table Tennis Athletes Group (TT)].

Computer game players that met similar conditions with the table tennis athletes were scanned among university students and it was found that mostly medical students met the criterion. Instead of forming a mixed group from different departments, a homogenous group was formed including only Faculty of Medicine students. Since the objective of the study was to compare advanced table tennis athletes and computer game players, educational status of table tennis athletes and computer game players was not considered as a significant issue for the assessed parameters and assessment methods. An announcement was made for freshmen, sophomore and junior Faculty of Medicine students and volunteers that met the study criteria were included in the study. 10 computer game players with a mean age of 19.6 years, who were playing computer games for at least 10 hours per week for at least 5 years participated in the study [Computer Game Players Group (CG)].

It was made sure that the subjects did not suffer from an active disease and the tests were implemented at the same hour of the day. Subjects with acute infections or had taken alcohol within one day of the tests were excluded from the study.

#### **Reaction Time Measurements**

Reaction time was measured using specialized equipment produced for these tests. This equipment consisted of a button to enter the stimulus, a second button to determine the type of the stimulus (sound or light) and a digital screen where the reaction time could be read. Sound stimulus was given using a loudspeaker mounded on the equipment; light stimulant was given by a LED lamp, connected to the equipment with cables and mounted on a support that sits exactly at the opposite of the subject. At one end of the apparatus shaped like a "U" sits the light source and at the other end, there is an optic sensor. Placing the hand or foot of the subject in the middle of the apparatus would prevent the light to reach the sensor. After the stimulus is given, subject moving hand or foot at east for 1 cm would close the circuit and the measurement is taken.

Measurements were taken in a dimly lit and silent room. First measurements were taken with the sound stimuli. After right hand/left hand auditory left hand/right measurements, hand light measurements were taken. Then, feet measurements were taken. The experiment was completed after right foot/left foot light measurements and left foot/right foot sound measurements were implemented. The stimuli were initiated by the researcher in random intervals; constant intervals were avoided. Before the actual measurement, participants were informed about the procedure, the sound and the light were introduced and a trial was conducted.

10 different measurements were taken for each stimulus (sound/light) and for each extremity. Maximum 2 values and minimum 2 values among these 10 measurements were ignored and the mean of the remaining 6 measurements was accepted as the reaction time. A total of 80 stimuli were given to each subject within 3 minutes.

Reaction times were compared among the two groups based on left-right, hand-foot and light-sound.

#### **Selective Action Array**

Selective action array was implemented using a table tennis robot (Butterfly/Amic-3000). The robot was set up to send a total of 120 balls in different colors (white, yellow and pink, 40 each) to different points on the table, with the same speed, in random colors and 90 balls per minute. The subjects were asked to ignore the white balls, to touch the yellow balls and to hold the pink balls after the balls hit the table once and using their dominant hands. It was made sure that the subjects did not witness the experiment previously. After the initial test, the second experiment was recorded on video.

The actions that the subjects committed or did not commit were transferred into points using a scoring scale within the range of 0 to 6 points (Table 1). Results were given as total points and the percentage success of the action worth 6 points for each color of ball, namely "6 points success percentage."

#### Statistics

All statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS V. 22.0. The results were given as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values. Shapiro Wilk test was used as normality test. Comparisons of intra-group dependent variables are conducted using Wilcoxon signed rank test when data were not normally distributed. Comparisons of intergroup continuous variables were conducted using Mann-Whitney U test when the data were not normally distributed. Significance level was accepted as p<0.05.

# Results

Mean age for the groups, hand/foot preferences and the period that the subjects actively played computer games or engaged in sports were presented in Table 2.

There was no significant difference between the groups based on their age and the period that they actively played computer games or were engaged in sports.

Reaction times are displayed in Table 3. The average of 8 reaction times given to each extremity and stimulus was given as "mean reaction time".

The most rapid reactions were those given to sound using hands, while the lowest ones were given to light using left foot. Values fewer than average 200 ms were obtained in 5 of the total 8 different reaction times for both groups. There was no significant difference between the reactions of the subjects given to sound with their dominant hands, and right or left hand sound reaction times.

Mean reaction times for both groups were very similar (TT Group 196.8 ms; CG Group 196.0 ms).

Comparisons conducted within groups are displayed in Tables 4 and 5. Right side was found as more rapid in reactions given to sound using foot in CG group and given to light using hand in TT group. There was no difference between right and left sides in other comparisons.

In total, reactions given with hand were more rapid than reactions given with foot with an average 15.7 ms. Reactions given to sound were more rapid than reactions given to light with an average 20 ms.

There was no significant difference between table tennis athletes and computer game players based on the reaction times for each extremity or stimulus.

Table 6 demonstrates the total points obtained in selected action array and 6 points success percentages

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 91-7

for each colored ball. No significant difference was observed between the groups.

While table tennis athletes demonstrated the best success rates with yellow and pink balls, computer game players were most successful with the white ball.

Table 1: Scoring Scale.

White Ball > No reaction	Points
No reaction	6
Reacted but did not touch	4
Touched	2
Held	0
Yellow Ball > Touch	
No reaction	0
Reacted but could not touch	4
Touched	6
Held	2
Pink Ball > Hold	
No reaction	0
Reacted but could not touch	2
Reacted but could not hold	4
Held	6

**Table 2:** General characteristics of computer game players (CG) and table tennis athletes (TT).

Groups	CG Players	TT Athletes
n	10	9
Age (year)	19.6±1.5 (18-22)	20.1±4.9 (15-30)
Active time (year)	10.6±3.4 (6-15)	12.3±4.8 (5-20)
Left hand	1	2
Left foot	2	0

		CG	TT			
	ht)		Right	$201.0\pm20.2\;(172.0\text{-}239.7)$	189.9 ± 7.8 (179.8-202.5)	
	(Lig	Hand	Left	198.4 ± 15.5 (182.8-221.3)	$200.8 \pm 13.2 \; (178.8\text{-}218.0)$	
(ms	sual	Foot	Right	213.3 ± 13.7 (182.5-228.2)	$212.0\pm10.7~(191.8\text{-}232.5)$	
time	Vi		Left	215.2 ± 7.3 (207.8-228.2)	220.5 ± 14.5 (199.7-246.5)	
tion		Trad	Right	176.1 ± 15.2 (156.5-203.7)	$180.0 \pm 10.0 \ (166.3 \text{-} 191.3)$	
Reac	itory ind)	Hand	Hand	Left	183.1 ± 21.1 (151.2-210.7)	179.0 ± 17.4 (159.5-208.8)
H	Audi (Sou	East	Right	184.9 ± 13.9 (168.0-215.5)	196.1 ± 16.9 (175.7-219.5)	
		Foot	Left	196.1 ± 19.7 (171.7-232.3)	195.8 ± 16.4 (175.0-228.2)	
Dominant Hand / Sound		$177.5 \pm 15.5 \ (156.5203.7)$	$182.5 \pm 10.3 \; (166.3 \text{-} 196.2)$			
Mean Reaction Time		$196.0 \pm 12.8 \ (175.6\text{-}212.5)$	196.8 ± 9.6 (182.6-212.9)			

**Table 3:** Reaction times. (Red areas depict minimum values, blue areas depict maximum values, and green areas depict values below 200 ms.) CG: Computer game players group; TT: Table tennis athletes group.

Table 4:	Intra-group	comparisons	among the	computer	game players	(CG) group.
----------	-------------	-------------	-----------	----------	--------------	-------------

	CG			n	р	
	Right hand	X	Left hand	10	>0.05	
Sound	Right foot	x	Left foot	10	0.022	First of the two differences between right and left. Right foot is 11.2 ms quicker in average.
	Hand	Х	Foot	20	0.008	Hand is 10.9 ms quicker than the foot in average.
Light	Right hand	X	Left hand	10	>0.05	
Light	Right foot	X	Left foot	10	>0.05	
	Hand	X	Foot	20	0.001	Hand is 14.5 ms quicker than the foot in average.
<b>Right Hand</b>	Sound	X	Light	10	0.005	
Left Hand	Sound	X	Light	10	0.047	
Hand	Sound	X	Light	20	0.001	Sound is 20.1 ms quicker than light.
<b>Right Foot</b>	Sound	X	Light	10	0.005	
Left Foot	Sound	X	Light	10	0.013	
Foot	Sound	X	Light	20	0.0001	Sound is 23.7 ms quicker than light.
	Hand	X	Foot	40	0.0001	In total, hand is 12.7 ms quicker than the foot in average.
	Sound	X	Light	40	0.0001	In total, sound is 21.9 ms quicker than light in average.

	ТТ			n	р	
Sound	Right hand	X	Left hand	9	>0.05	
	Right foot	X	Left foot	9	>0.05	
	Hand	X	Foot	18	0.001	Hand is 16.5 ms quicker than the foot in average.
Light	Right hand	X	Left hand	9	0.021	Second of the two differences between right and left. Right hand is 10.9 ms quicker in average.
	Right foot	Х	Left foot	9	>0.05	
	Hand	Х	Foot	18	0.0001	Hand is 21.0 ms quicker than the foot in average.
						]
<b>Right Hand</b>	Sound	Х	Light	9	0.028	
Left Hand	Sound	Х	Light	9	0.008	
Hand	Sound	X	Light	18	0.0001	Sound is 15.8 ms quicker than light in average.
<b>Right Foot</b>	Sound	Х	Light	9	0.021	
Left Foot	Sound	Х	Light	9	0.008	
Foot	Sound	Х	Light	18	0.0001	Sound is 20.3 ms quicker than light in average.
						]
	Hand	Χ	Foot	36	0.0001	In total, hand is 18.7 ms quicker than the foot in average.
	Sound	Χ	Light	36	0.0001	In total, sound is 18.1 ms quicker than light in average.

Ta	ble 5	<b>5:</b> ]	Intra-group	comparisons	in tab	ble tenni	s ath	letes	(TT)	) group
----	-------	-------------	-------------	-------------	--------	-----------	-------	-------	------	---------

**Table 6:** Total points and 6 points success percentages obtained in selective action array. CG: Computer game players group; TT: Table tennis athletes group.

	Total point	6 points success percentage				
	i otai point	White	Yellow	Pink		
CG	156.3 ±10.1 (139.6-167.8)	$90.0\pm7.9\;(73.1100.0)$	79.8 + 10.7 (58.1-92.6)	56.6 ± 21.4 (8.3-79.4)		
ТТ	158.1 ±10.8 (140.6-172.8)	87.6 ± 10.3 (69.7-100.0)	81.3 ± 11.5 (53.3 - 93.3)	68.8 ± 17.7 (44.4-89.3)		

## Discussion

In this study, where the accuracy rates for the selective reactions and reaction times of computer game players and table tennis athletes were compared, the reaction times of athletes and players were found to be quite similar. For the selective action array where the selective reactions were evaluated, table tennis athletes obtained the best scores in total points and points with the yellow and pink balls, computer game players had more success with the white balls.

Measurement of the reaction times under 8 different conditions puts this study in a unique situation among other studies (3-6). Evaluation of all extremities both visually and aurally and obtaining a mean reaction time made it possible to analyse the subjects as a whole. The subjects went below the mean value of 200 ms in 5 of 8 different situations in both groups. Right hand-light reaction time for table tennis athletes was significantly shorter than left hand-light reaction time. 7 out of 9 table tennis athletes had a dominant right hand. In table tennis sport, the ball approaching from the opposite side is perceived visually and the reaction is given using the racket. Naturally, a more rapid response while using the dominant side could be expected.

However, the lack of such a difference in reactions given as a response to sound stimuli demonstrates that visual perception is dominant in the sport of table tennis.

The second significant difference between the right and left sides was observed in the reactions given by the right foot as a response to sound stimuli among the computer game players when compared to the left side foot. It was difficult to explain this difference of 11 ms. This difference could be explained by the existence of computer games that assign a special function especially to the right foot. However, although this situation was questioned in the study, this occurrence was not identified.

The fact that the standard deviations for the right hand reaction times for both auditory and visual stimuli by table tennis athletes had the lowest values when all analyses were compared demonstrated without doubt that they could concentrate consistently for longer periods of time and the effects of the sports on the hand utilized for these athletes, most of which were right-handed. The significance of visual perception in both the sport of table tennis and computer gaming is obvious. The right-hand visual reaction times demonstrated that table tennis athletes were an average of 11 ms more quick than the computer game players (189.9  $\pm$  7.8; 201.0  $\pm$  20.2). This could be explained by the effects of the sport on muscle coordination.

Several studies demonstrated that table tennis athletes had lower reaction times when compared to other racket sports' athletes and individuals that do not participate in sports (3-6). However, the findings of this study did not reflect a significant difference between the reaction times of table tennis athletes and computer game players. This result shows the skills of computer game players in maintaining the game they play by concentrating on the immediate action, just like an athlete, using responses to minute visual and auditory stimuli on the computer screen and by implementing the accurate action with the accurate timing. It was considered that by keeping the attention and readiness of the player intact continuously, this process enables the players to maintain their reaction times and responses to the selective reaction dynamically.

While the similarity of the reaction times of the computer game players and table tennis athletes was an expected finding, the similarity in achievement scores in selective action array was not. The finding that the computer game players achieved better scores with the white balls and table tennis athletes achieved better scores with yellow and pink balls demonstrated that the array utilized in this study was set up accurately. But the lack of difference could be due to the limited number of subjects. The fact that table tennis athletes react to each and every ball that their opponent sends was totally contradictory to the action they should take with the white balls in the array set up in the study. Computer game players recognized this difference better than the athletes did. However the action requested by the subjects for the yellow and especially the pink balls was a more difficult one to perform accurately. Table tennis athletes, who are aware of the exact bounce rates of the ball and with better coordination, performed better with the yellow and especially the pink ball, albeit not significantly.

The gradual nature of the success rates for different coloured balls, and the highest success rates with the white balls and the lowest success rates with the pink balls demonstrated the difference between the degrees of difficulty between the balls with different colours. Based on the degree of difficulty of the action, white ball was the easiest, yellow ball was with medium level of difficulty and the pink ball was the hardest.

The reaction time and selective action array applications used in the study required very high levels of attention and concentration within a very short period of time. After an interruption during the application, it was very difficult to concentrate again. Reaction time is closely related to attention and concentration. Thus, the most significant effect of training in competitive sports is to learn how to concentrate and focus in the game. Reaction time in sports is considered as a motor trait that could be developed via training (12-14). Effect on the cognitive function of computer games is a fact now accepted (8,15,16).

#### Conclusion

The findings of this study demonstrated expected reaction times and unexpectedly good selective action array achievements levels with computer game players. This result could be interpreted as computer games and/or advanced computer programs developed for sports could support to decrease reaction times, to increase visual perception and attention and to retain concentration for extended periods of time in training of the athletes. By affiliating appropriate computer games/software with training programs, in addition to improving cognitive features such as reaction time, attention, concentration and visual perception, rapid and accurate adaptation to new situations and the skill to develop strategies could be achieved among athletes. Especially in injury and rehabilitation periods of the athletes, computer games/software could be used to retain existing capabilities.

Acknowledgements: This study was presented as a oral presentation in the "9th International Computer Sciences in Sports Congress" (June 19-22, 2013 – Istanbul, TURKEY)

This study was supported by Uludağ University Scientific Research Projects Department [KUAP (E) - 2013/57].

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 98-102

Original Article

Doi: 10.17546/msd.13603

# Diet induced weight loss reduces mean platelet volume in people with obesity

Huseyin Kurt<sup>1\*</sup>, Davut Demirkiran<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

**Objectives:** To investigate is there a relationship between obesity parameters, mean platelet volume (MPV) and neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and to examine is there a change in MPV and NLR level with weight loss.

**Material and Methods:** The retrospective study consisted of two groups as the group losing weight after 24 weeks of diet (WLG) and the control group not losing weight (CG). Body mass index (BMI), MPV, NLR and lipid values of each group were recorded at the beginning and at the end of the study.

**Results:** The study consisted of 186 individuals 94 of whom were in WLG and 92 were in CG. There was a statistically significant positive correlation between the initial value of MPV and BMI in WLG (p < 0.05). There was a significant difference existed in the initial and final lipid parameters of WLG (p < 0.001). Changes in initial and final MPV values in WLG and CG were different from each other (p < 0.01). The difference between the initial and final MPV values and BMI values in WLG was statistically significant (P < 0.001). No significant correlation was found between obesity and weight loss with NLR.

**Conclusions:** There was a statistically significant correlation between MPV and BMI. MPV levels decreased in obese individuals with weight loss. No correlation existed between BMI and NLR.

Keywords: Diet, weight loss, mean platelet volume, neutrophil lymphocyte ratio, obesity, body mass index

## Introduction

The importance of inflammatory markers is increasing as coronary artery diseases are currently the most common causes of death in the world, which is related to inflammation (1). Therefore, a number of studies have recently been conducted on inflammation and biomarkers which reflect inflammatory conditions (1, 2). In obesity whose prevalence is gradually increasing due to the decrease in physical activity and increase in high-energy food consumption, body mass index (BMI) above normal increases mortality and morbidity (3, 4). According to World Health Organization (WHO), an individual is defined as overweight (preobese) if BMI is above 25 kg / m<sup>2</sup> and as obese if BMI is above 30 kg / m<sup>2</sup> (4). Furthermore, obesity plays an important role in the formation of many pathological conditions. The most frequent conditions can be listed as cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, hypertension (HT), diabetes mellitus (DM), dyslipidemia, infertility, certain types of cancer such as prostate, breast and colon (5).

Although obesity-related causes of inflammation are not fully understood, it is estimated that it occurs due to direct activation of immune cells in the circulatory system (6, 7). The inflammatory process also occurs in liver, pancreas, adipose and muscle tissue with circulation. Adipose tissue has both initiatory and contributory role in systemic inflammation (6, 7).

Mean platelet volume (MPV) associated with cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases and accepted as an indication of atherosclerosis is a parameter used to evaluate the size and activity of platelets (8). The volume of activated platelets increases, which causes MPV rise. Large platelets including more granules and produces more vasoactive and prothrombotic factors make more aggregation compared to small platelets (9, 10). MPV is known to increase in acute myocardial infarction, acute ischemic stroke, preeclampsia and renal artery stenosis (8). Additionally, in some studies, it has been discovered that MPV is positively correlated with

BMI and high in obesity (11). In recent studies on humans and animals, it has been demonstrated that the change in neutrophil and lymphocyte numbers poses a potential risk for the development of obesity-related metabolic disorders (12, 13).

Received 11-01-2015, Accepted 22-01-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, The University of Balikesir, Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Huseyin Kurt E-mail: hsynkurt@yahoo.com

It is believed that Neutrophil / Lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is a marker of systemic inflammation and has a prognostic significance for cardiovascular diseases. These hematological markers are important in terms of making assessment without creating extra costs during the complete blood count (14). Although there are a number of studies conducted on the relationship between MPV and obesity and no common conclusion is drawn. In this study, our aim is to investigate the relationship between obesity parameters, which are known to accelerate the development of atherothrombosis and the incidence of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity, MPV and NLR. We also aim to examine whether there is a change in MPV and NLR levels with weight loss thanks to a diet plan in obese individuals.

# **Material and Methods**

This study was conducted retrospectively after the approval of Ethics Committee of Balıkesir University School of Medicine was granted. When individuals go to Balıkesir University School of Medicine Health Application and Research Hospital with complaints related to being overweight, the arterial blood pressure is measured and physical examination is performed. After those procedures, complete blood count and biochemical tests (12 hour fasting glucose, total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, and HOMA-IR TSH) are performed routinely. For complete blood count, blood sample is taken from the antecubital vein, put into tubes with EDTA and studied with Beckman Coulter LH 780 Hematology Analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., CA, USA) device within an hour. If metabolic syndrome (MS), DM, and dyslipidemia are detected in those individuals medical treatment is given and they are directed to diet clinic. Measuring weight and height, BMI of obese individuals are calculated through weight (kg) / (height) <sup>2</sup> (m<sup>2</sup>) formulas, and appropriate nutrition programs are given by dieticians. Weight changes of these individuals are followed for 12-week periods. During the controls in internal medicine clinic, detailed physical examination, complete blood count and biochemical tests are performed, and individuals meet the dieticians again. We scanned the files of obese individuals who were directed to dieticians between 2013-2015, had  $\geq$  30 kg / m2 body mass index (BMI) according to WHO classification, and followed at least 24 weeks of dieting. The individuals who were found to have DM (fasting blood glucose  $\geq$ 126 and hemoglobin A1c> 6.4%), cardiovascular disease, HT (systolic blood pressure  $\geq 140 \text{ mm Hg}$  diastolic blood pressure  $\geq 90$ ), cerebrovascular disease, liver failure, renal failure, smoking and alcohol habit were excluded from the study. On the other hand, individuals who were eligible for the study were divided into two groups as weight loss group (WLG) including individuals with

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 98-102

body weight change higher than 5%, and the control group (CG) consisting of individuals who had weight loss less than 5%. The initial values of WLG and CG were recorded as MPV1, NLR1, BMI1 and the values after 24 weeks were recorded as MPV2, NLR2 and BMI2.

#### **Diet Plan**

Patients' daily energy requirements were calculated according to age, gender, weight and height. A weight loss diet was implemented ensuring that energy intake was above the basal metabolic rate (BMR). Gerrior et al. formulae was used to calculate BMR: "BMR = 247  $-2.67 \times \text{age (year)} + 401,5 \times \text{height boy (meter)} + 8,6 \times \text{weight (kg)}$ " (15). The diet consisted of 55-60% carbohydrates 12-15 % protein and 25-30 % lipid and the energy value of the diets given ranged between 1300-1800 kcal.

Statistical analysis: The values of the obese group losing weight as a result of dieting and control group losing weight without diet were evaluated using SPSS software version 20.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Chi square test was used for determining the relations of gender and age between groups. In addition, groups were compared using the Student's t-test. The groups' initial and final results were compared using the Paired sample t test. The correlation between BMI, MPV and NLR was calculated via Pearson correlation test. MPV changes within the group were demonstrated through univariate covariance analysis. P<0.05 value was accepted as significant.

#### Results

186 obese individuals (153 females, 33 males) appropriate for the study criteria were included in the study. WLG consisted of 94 individuals (79 females and 15 males) between 21-64 years old, while CG included 92 individuals (74 females and 18 males) between 19-64 years old. No difference was found between groups in terms of gender and age distribution (P>0.05). Moreover, no significant difference existed between MPV values of males and females (P>0.05). The mean MPV1 level of all individuals in the study was found to be  $8.38 \pm 0.95$ while the mean MPV2 was  $8.21 \pm 0.94$ . The mean MPV1 of WLG was  $8.40 \pm 0.95$  whereas the mean MPV2 was found to be  $7.93 \pm 0.84$  (Table 1). When the initial BMI values of both groups were compared, a significant difference was found (p < 0.05). The mean BMI 1 value of WLG was  $36.68 \pm 5.72$ , whereas it was  $34.62 \pm 5.09$  for CG. At the end of the study, when the mean BMI 2 of WLG  $(32.17 \pm 5.04)$  and the

	Non weight loss (n: 97)					
	First count	Last count	р	First count	Last count	р
Body weight (kg)	$89.0\pm14.2$	$90.5\pm14.5$	0.001	$94.3\pm15.3$	$82.8\pm14.0$	0.001
BMI (kg/m2)	$34.6\pm5.0$	$35.2 \pm 5.1$	0.001	$36.6\pm5.7$	$32.1\pm5.0$	0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	$224.1\pm46.7$	$217.7\pm43.2$	0.137	$239.1\pm55.0$	$190.1\pm\!\!39.8$	0.001
LDL- cholesterol (mg/dL)	$138.9\pm42.2$	$139.7\pm36.5$	0.161	152. 5± 52.5	$107.4\pm33.9$	0.001
HDL- cholesterol (mg/dL)	$50.2\pm12.1$	$49.6 \pm 11.2$	0.462	$50.8 \pm 11.6$	$56.4\pm10.4$	0.001
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	$175.1\pm65.6$	$170.7\pm65.6$	0.359	$190.3\pm85.8$	$134.0\pm55.1$	0.001
MPV (fl)	$8.3\pm0.9$	$8.5\pm0.9$	0.023	$8.4\pm0.9$	$7.9\pm0.8$	0.001
NLR (%)	$1.6 \pm 0.9$	$1.7 \pm 1.2$	0.405	$1.8 \pm 0.9$	$1.9 \pm 0.8$	0.001

 Table 1: The anthropometric measurements and haematological values of non-weight loss and weight loss groups

BMI: body mass index; LDL: Low Density Lipoprotein; HDL: High Density Lipoprotein; MPV: mean platelet volume; NLR: neutrophil lymphocyte ratio



Figure 1: The correlation between the initial and final body mass index and mean platelet volume values

mean BMI2 of CG  $(35.20 \pm 5.19)$  were compared, no significant difference was found (p> 0.05).

While no difference existed in the initial and final lipid parameters of CG (p>0.05), a significant difference existed in the initial and final lipid parameters of WLG (p<0.0001) (Table 1). A positive correlation existed between MPV and BMI values of all individuals in the study (r = 0.140; p =0.05). When this correlation was examined separately for both groups, it was found that there was a significant difference between BMI1 and MPV1 in WLG (r =0.267; p <0.01), whereas no difference was found in CG.

While no difference existed in the initial mean MPV values of each group, a significant difference was found at the end of the study (p < 0.001). The reason of this result was to be decrease of MPV in WLG at the end.

It was discovered through univariate covariance analysis test that the change in initial and final measurement of MPV values of each individual in WLG was different from the change in CG (p < 0.01).

There was a statistically significant correlation between the initial and final MPV and BMI values of individuals in the study (r = 0.509; p < 0.001) (Figure 1). No correlation was found between NLR and BMI for both WLG and CG. Additionally, there was no correlation between weight loss and NLR (p > 0.05).

## Discussion

In previous studies, it was stated that the level of obesity and MS are associated with inflammation and thus cause atherosclerosis (16). MPV which indicates platelet activity is associated with the pathological conditions in thrombopoiesis (16, 17). MPV levels in obese individuals are higher than non-obese individuals.

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 98-102

Coban et al. demonstrated in their study that MPV is higher in obese individuals than non-obese individuals (11). The results of studies examining the relationship of MPV with obesity and MS are incompatible with each other.

In a comprehensive study conducted by Kutlucan et al., it was found that MPV values of obese individuals with MS were different from values of obese individuals without MS (18). They claimed that MPV levels are more affected by obesity than MS. On the other hand, Tavil et al. stated that MPV is higher in MS and the reason for this was that it is related to HT, waist circumference, BMI, and fasting plasma glucose (19).

In literature, there are many studies in parallel with our study investigating the impact of diet on MPV in obese individuals. In the study conducted by Toplak et al., weight loss with hypocaloric diet and low calorie diet was examined. It was found in that study that MPV values increased in the first 8 weeks compared to the initial value, and MPV levels of individuals losing weight after 48 weeks dropped to the initial level. MPV did not change compared to initial level and no change was observed in lipid values (20). In our study, it was found that MPV and lipid values decreased after weight loss. When we compare our study and the study conducted by Toplak et al., it can be said that lipid levels have an important role in the effect of weight loss on MPV levels. In a study conducted by Coban et al., obese and non-obese individuals were compared. They found that MPV values in obese individuals were higher than nonobese individuals, and MPV values measured after weight loss whit diet decreased compared to the initial MPV values (21). However, the non-existence of control group consisted of obese individual without weight loss is the major limitation of that study. Unlike those studies, we investigated the changes in MPV levels of two groups including individuals with weight loss and without weight loss following the same diet. It was discovered that MPV levels decreased in obese individuals even if obesity continued after at least %5 weight losses.

Positive correlation existed between BMI and MPV values of individuals who participated in the study at the beginning. When this correlation is examined separately for both groups, it was discovered there was a significant correlation between BMI and MPV in WLG. However, no correlation existed between BMI and MPV in CG. Coban et al. stated that there was a significant correlation between BMI and MPV levels of obese individuals who lost weight, which is similar to our results (21). In addition, we found a positive correlation between the initial and final weight changes of individuals (Figure 1). Accordingly, it can be said that MPV values decrease when

individuals lose weight. While the mean MPV value of both groups was similar, the mean BMI value of WLG was higher than CG. At the end of the study, the mean BMI value of both groups was similar due to weight loss in WLG. Yet, the mean MPV value of WLG was lower than the mean MPV value of CG. Even if the mean BMI was similar, the likely reason of declining in MPV could be the decrease in lipid level of WLG. These findings suggest that MPV, which is an atherosclerotic marker in obese individuals, are more affected from lipid changes than weight loss.

There is no consensus about the use of NLR as a marker similar to MPV. NLR is an indicator of systemic inflammation, and there exists several studies asserting that it provides survey estimation after coronary intervention (22) and coronary artery bypass grafting operations (14). In the study conducted by Ryder et al., they found that NLR was not a useful marker in obese individuals (23). When Agacayak et al examined NLR in obese individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCO), and obese individuals without PCO, they discovered that NLR was higher in obese individuals with PCO and they stated that high NLR might be a contributor in the formation of cardiovascular disease in individuals with PCO (24).

Bahadır et al claimed that NLR was lower in individuals who had a low BMI level than individuals who had a high BMI level. But it was not statistically significant (25). Additionally, in that study, it was reported that NLR, itself, could not be a reliable marker of inflammation, and did not differ according to the degree of obesity (25). Similar to that study, we found that there was no difference between the initial NLR value and the value after weight loss and NLR was not affected by BMI.

The present study had several limitations. First, design of the study is retrospective study. Obese individuals with no chronic diseases can investigate with prospective studies in the future. Second, our findings are based only on the Turkish population; different results might be observed in other ethnic groups.

## Conclusion

As a conclusion even if obesity continues after at least 5% weight loss, MPV levels reduce. The changes in MPV values are profoundly affected by the changes of lipid values.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank to dietician Hayrettin Kara for his help in the process of collecting data for the study.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that they have no competing interest.

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 98-102

- Folsom AR, Aleksic N, Catellier D, Juneja HS, Wu KK. Creactive protein and incident coronary heart disease in the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study. American heart journal. 2002;144(2):233-8.
- Folsom AR, Wu KK, Rosamond WD, Sharrett AR, Chambless LE. Prospective study of hemostatic factors and incidence of coronary heart disease: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Circulation. 1997;96(4):1102-8.
- Adams KF, Schatzkin A, Harris TB, Kipnis V, Mouw T, Ballard-Barbash R, et al. Overweight, obesity, and mortality in a large prospective cohort of persons 50 to 71 years old. The New England journal of medicine. 2006;355(8):763-78.
- Waxman A. Prevention of chronic diseases: WHO global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Food and nutrition bulletin. 2003;24(3):281-4.
- 5. Poirier P, Giles TD, Bray GA, Hong Y, Stern JS, Pi-Sunyer FX, et al. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight loss: an update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease from the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation. 2006;113(6):898-918.
- Elgazar-Carmon V, Rudich A, Hadad N, Levy R. Neutrophils transiently infiltrate intra-abdominal fat early in the course of high-fat feeding. Journal of lipid research. 2008;49(9):1894-903.
- Pecht T, Gutman-Tirosh A, Bashan N, Rudich A. Peripheral blood leucocyte subclasses as potential biomarkers of adipose tissue inflammation and obesity subphenotypes in humans. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2014;15(4):322-37.
- Bath PM, Butterworth RJ. Platelet size: measurement, physiology and vascular disease. Blood coagulation & fibrinolysis : an international journal in haemostasis and thrombosis. 1996;7(2):157-61.
- Cay S, Biyikoglu F, Cihan G, Korkmaz S. Mean platelet volume in the patients with cardiac syndrome X. Journal of thrombosis and thrombolysis. 2005;20(3):175-8.
- 10. Jagroop IA, Clatworthy I, Lewin J, Mikhailidis DP. Shape change in human platelets: measurement with a channelyzer and visualisation by electron microscopy. Platelets. 2000;11(1):28-32.
- Coban E, Ozdogan M, Yazicioglu G, Akcit F. The mean platelet volume in patients with obesity. International journal of clinical practice. 2005;59(8):981-2.
- Talukdar S, Oh da Y, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, et al. Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. Nature medicine. 2012;18(9):1407-12.
- Dixon JB, O'Brien PE. Obesity and the white blood cell count: changes with sustained weight loss. Obesity surgery. 2006;16(3):251-7.

- Gibson PH, Croal BL, Cuthbertson BH, Small GR, Ifezulike AI, Gibson G, et al. Preoperative neutrophillymphocyte ratio and outcome from coronary artery bypass grafting. American heart journal. 2007;154(5):995-1002.
- Gerrior S, Juan W, Basiotis P. An easy approach to calculating estimated energy requirements. Preventing chronic disease. 2006;3(4):A129.
- Davi G, Patrono C. Platelet activation and atherothrombosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;357(24):2482-94.
- Chu SG, Becker RC, Berger PB, Bhatt DL, Eikelboom JW, Konkle B, et al. Mean platelet volume as a predictor of cardiovascular risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH. 2010;8(1):148-56.
- Kutlucan A, Bulur S, Kr S, Bulur S, Onder E, Aslantas Y, et al. The relationship between mean platelet volume with metabolic syndrome in obese individuals. Blood coagulation & fibrinolysis : an international journal in haemostasis and thrombosis. 2012;23(5):388-90.
- Tavil Y, Sen N, Yazici HU, Hizal F, Abaci A, Cengel A. Mean platelet volume in patients with metabolic syndrome and its relationship with coronary artery disease. Thrombosis research. 2007;120(2):245-50.
- Toplak H, Wascher TC. Influence of weight reduction on platelet volume: different effects of a hypocaloric diet and a very low calorie diet. European journal of clinical investigation. 1994;24(11):778-80.
- Coban E, Yilmaz A, Sari R. The effect of weight loss on the mean platelet volume in obese patients. Platelets. 2007;18(3):212-6.
- Duffy BK, Gurm HS, Rajagopal V, Gupta R, Ellis SG, Bhatt DL. Usefulness of an elevated neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in predicting long-term mortality after percutaneous coronary intervention. The American journal of cardiology. 2006;97(7):993-6.
- Ryder E, Diez-Ewald M, Mosquera J, Fernandez E, Pedreanez A, Vargas R, et al. Association of obesity with leukocyte count in obese individuals without metabolic syndrome. Diabetes & metabolic syndrome. 2014;8(4):197-204.
- 24. Agacayak E, Tunc SY, Sak S, Basaranoglu S, Yuksel H, Turgut A, et al. Levels of Neopterin and other Inflammatory Markers in Obese and Non-Obese Patients with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research. 2015;21:2446-55.
- Bahadir A, Baltaci D, Turker Y, Turker Y, Iliev D, Ozturk S, et al. Is the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio indicative of inflammatory state in patients with obesity and metabolic syndrome? Anatolian journal of cardiology. 2015;15(10):816-22.

- Lees A. Science and the major racket sports: a review. J Sports Sci.2003;21(9):707-32.
- Tang H, Mizoguchi M, Toyoshima S. Speed and spin characteristics of the 40 mm table tennis ball. International Journal of Table Tennis Sciences. 2002;4-5:278-84.
- Akpinar S, Devrilmez E, Kirazci S. Coincidenceanticipation timing requirements are different in racket sports. Percept Mot Skills. 2012;115(2):581-93.
- Ak E, Koçak S. Coincidence-anticipation timing and reaction time in youth tennis and table tennis players. Percept Mot Skills. 2010;110(3):879-87.
- Mouelhi Guizani S, Tenenbaum G, Bouzaouach I, Ben Kheder A, Feki Y, Bouaziz M. Information-processing under incremental levels of physical loads: comparing racquet to combat sports. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2006;46(2):335-43.
- Bhabhor MK, Vidja K, Bhanderi P, Dodhia S, Kathrotia R, Joshi V. A comparative study of visual reaction time in table tennis players and healthy controls. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2013;57(4):439-42.
- Hutchins B. Signs of meta-change in second modernity: the growth of e-sport and the World Cyber Games. New Media Society. 2008;10(6): 851-69.
- 8. Granic I, Lobel A, Engels RC. The benefits of playing video games. Am Psychol. 2014;69(1):66-78.

- Funk JB. Video games. Adolesc Med Clin. 2005;16(2):395-411.
- Crawford G. Digital Gaming, Sport and Gender. Leisure Stud. 2005;24(3):259-70.
- Jonasson K, Thiborg J. Electronic sport and its impact on future sport. Sport in Society: Cultures, Commerce, Media, Politics. 2010:13(2):287-99.
- Iida Y, Miyazaki M, Uchida S. Developmental changes in cognitive reaction time of children aged 6-12 years. Eur J Sport Sci. 2010;10(3):151-8.
- Mori S, Ohtani Y, Imanaka K. Reaction times and anticipatory skills of karate athletes. Hum Movement Sci. 2002;21:213-30.
- Schwab S, Memmert D. The impact of a sports vision training program in youth field hockey players. J Sport Sci Med. 2012;11:624-31.
- Latham AJ, Patston LL, Tippett LJ. The virtual brain: 30 years of video-game play and cognitive abilities. Front Psychol. 2013;4:629.
- Oei AC, Patterson MD. Enhancing cognition with video games: a multiple game training study. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58546.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 103-6

# Case Report

Doi: 10.17546/msd.89363

ISSN: 2148-6832

# An early breathing disorder in a newborn: Jeune syndrome

Fatma Narter<sup>1</sup>, Ozlem Turkoglu<sup>2</sup>\*, Hakan Sarbay<sup>3</sup>, Muferret Erguven<sup>3</sup>

# Abstract

**Introduction:** Jeune syndrome affects an estimated 1 in 100.000 to 130.000 people. The syndrome causes breathing disorders accompanying upper and lower respiratory tract infections in consequence of a respectively small and narrow thoracic cage instead of the normal stance.

**Case:** Here we report a male newborn with narrow thoracic cage and short limbs. Radiological evaluation of the chest radiograph showed short ribs due to congenital abnormalities. Findings in the X-Ray computed tomography were decreased antero-posterior diameter of chest cavity accompanying short-rib dysplasia and respectively shallow acetabular cavity. Abdominal ultrasonography was also made and findings were small kidneys in bilateral stance accompanied by pelvicaliectasis and milimetric intraparenchymal liver calcification. Following the recurrent lower respiratory tract infections, the baby expired within fourth month. The final diagnosis was Jeune syndrome.

**Conclusion:** Jeune syndrome is a rare seen congenital anomaly. Radiological evaluation is essential for diagnosis. Characteristic finding include many skeletal abnormalities on costochondral junctions, clavicles, iliac bones, long bones of the extremities, and phalanges of both hands and feet. About %60 to %70 of children with this condition die from respiratory failure since they are at greater risk. Early detection is key for decreasing the incidence of death from this syndrome.

Keywords: Jeune syndrome, short-rib dysplasia, newborn

## Introduction

Jeune syndrome (asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy) was first reported in 1955 by Jeune et al (1).

Respiratory distress is caused by the dystrophic narrow thorax that restricts the growth and expansion of the lungs. Other accompanying anomalies can be short or cone shaped bones and extra fingers or toes (polydactyly).

Newborns may develop liver diseases, fluid-filled sacs (cysts) in pancreas and retinal dystrophy that causes vision loss. They may live only into infancy or early childhood, whereas those with mild chest bone dysplasia may live into adolescence or adulthood.

It is also possible for life-threatening kidney abnormalities, heart defects and subglottic stenosis to arise after infancy

## Case

Our case is the second child of mother married to her cousin at 19 years of age. Labor was spontaneous on 29 week 6/7 day of gestational period.

Male infant was 1204 g with abnormally short extremities. He was transferred to the newborn intensive care unit due to the serious respiratory distress. Physical examination showed abnormal narrow thorax in addition to short extremities. The Jeune syndrome was considered for the differential diagnosis. The baby was put on continuous positive airway pressure and surfactant was given through an endotracheal tube for once. Radiological evaluation of chest radiograph showed short ribs with wide spectrum of abnormalities. In X-Ray computed tomography was shown decreased anterio-posterior diameter of chest cavity accompanying short-rib dysplasia and shallow acetabular cavity (Figure 1).

During echocardiogram session a thin patent ductus arteriosus was seen. Abdomen ultrasonography detected bilateral small kidneys accompanied by left pelvi-caliectasis (Figure 2) and millimetric intraparenchymal liver calcification. Following the recurrent lower respiratory tract infections, the baby expired within fourth month.

Received: 07-12-2015, Accepted 22-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Dept. of Pediatrics Division of Neonatology, Kartal Dr Lütfi Kirdar Education and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Dept. of Radiology, Kartal Dr Lutfi Kırdar Education and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Dept. of Pediatrics, Umraniye Education and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Ozlem Turkoglu E-mail: ozlemkolcak@hotmail.com



Figure 1. Decreased antero-posterior diameter of chest cavity and shallow acetabular cavity on 3D CT



Figure 2. Left pelvi-caliectasis

## Discussion

Jeune syndrome has autosomal recessive inheritance and transmitted on the short arm of 12th chromosome (3). The prevalence of Jeune's syndrome is 1 in 100.000 to 130.000. Radiological evaluation is essential for diagnosis. Characteristic findings include a narrow, bell-shaped thorax with short ribs and irregular bulbous costochondral junctions. Typical radiographic findings include a narrow bell-shaped thorax with short horizontally oriented ribs with irregular costochondral junctions, elevated clavicles, short iliac bones with a typical trident appearance of the acetabula, relatively short and wide long bones of the extremities and hypo-plastic phalanges of both hands and feet with cone-shaped epiphyses (5-10).

Costachondral irregularity which is similar to rachitic rosary is caused by irregular endochondral osteogenesis. Unusual pelvic bones are small and hypo-plastic (3,5). Horizontal diameter of iliac bones are short and acetabular angle is narrow (trident acetabulum). Epiphysis of femur heads can show early ossification. Vertebra and skull bones are not effected (6).

29 weeks-old male premature baby with his short extremities was diagnosed as achondroplasia on his first impression. Later it was for narrow bell shaped thorax and short extremities becoming a reason for the certain diagnosis of the Jeune syndrome in subsequent to first impression. In the consequence of the observation process mother was not followed up effectually during pregnancy. In theory, it also indicates that 40-50% of Jeune syndrome was diagnosed within the first month after delivery (4, 5).

Generally newborns with the Jeune syndrome face respiratory failure resulting death. However there are some reported cases without any respiratory involvement (11). In most of the cases the survival of the diagnosed patient depends on thorax dystrophy.

Our case suffered from recurrent respiratory infections and died on the 15th week after his birth. Hypoplastic ribs and narrow thoracic cage result in nonexpansible lungs. Autopsy specimen made clear of disturbed pulmoner vascular structure and pulmonary hypertension. It was shown that bronchial and alveolar structures were not affected (12).

Children with this syndrome may encounter renal dysplasia (6). Mortality depends on cystic changes and diffuses interstitial fibrosis (13-17). Abdominal USG examination of our case reported bilateral small kidneys and pelvi-caliectasis of left kidney.

Laboratory measurements of urea and creatinine were in the normal limits.

In our case we mentioned a millimetric intraparenchymal liver calcification. In literature liver involvement had been reported (17). Liver involvement may progress to cirrhosis (13). According to this information blood levels of transaminase and gamma glutamyl transferase were taken into account (17). Transaminase levels were normal. The most common histopathological anomaly seen with liver involvement is portal fibrosis and bile canaliculus proliferation (2). Sonography didn't detect any abnormality of portal structures. Pancreatic cysts and exocrine insufficiency are very rare (2). We didn't observe either.

In differential diagnosis of Jeune syndrome there are chondroectodermal dysplasia (Ellis-van Creveld syndrome) and thoraco-laryngo-pelvic dysplasia (Barnes syndrome). All of the cases of Ellis-van Creveld syndrome are accompanied by polydactyl and ectodermal dysplasia (18). Our case didn't have both features. Barnes syndrome includes bell shaped thorax and laryngeal stenosis together (19). In our case there was no laryngeal stenosis.

Jeune syndrome is a rare congenital abnormality and differential diagnosis is difficult due to its characteristic features. In most of the cases the mortality is as a result of respiratory failure. Therefore early diagnosis to decrease mortality depends on doctor's recognising the concerned symptoms.

**Financial Support:** This research received no specific grant from any funding agency, commercial or not-for- profit sectors.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### References

- Jeune M, Beraud C, Carron R. Dystrophie thoracique asphyxiante de caractere familial. Arch Fr Pediatr 1955; 12: 886-91.
- Vries J, Yntema JL, Van Die CE, Crama N, Cornelissen AM, Hamel BCJ. Jeune syndrome: description of 13 cases and proposal for follow-up protocol. Eur J Pediatr 2009; May 10. [Epub ahead of print].
- Nagai T, Nishimura G, Kato R, Hasegawa T, Oashi H, Fukushima Y. Del [12] [p11.21p12.2] associated with asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy or chondroectodermal dysplasia-like syndrome. AM J Med Genet 1995; 55: 16-8.
- Poggiani C, Gasparoni MC, Mangili G, Colombo A. Asphyxiating thoracic dysplasia in a lethal form:radiological and sonographic findings. Minerva Pediatr 2000; 52: 63-7.
- Barnes ND, Hull D, Simons JS [1969] Thoracic dystrophy. Arch Dis Child 44:11–17. doi:10.1136/adc.44.233.11

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 103-6

doi

doi

- Cortina H, Beltran J, Olague R et al [1979] The wide spectrum of the asphyxiating thoracic dysplasia. Pediatr Radiol 8:93–99.
- Friedman JM, Kaplan HG, Hall JG [1975] The Jeune syndrome [asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy] in an adult. Am J Med 59:857–862.
- Hennekam RCM, Beemer FM, Gerards LJ, Cats B [1983] Thoracic pelvic phalangeal dystrophy [Jeune syndroom]. Tijdschr Kindergeneeskd 51:95–100
- Herdman RC, Langer LO [1968] The thoracic asphyxiant dystrophy and renal disease. Am J Dis Child 116:192–201
- Hudgins L, Rosengren S, Treem W, Hyams J [1992] Early cirrhosis is survivors with Jeune thoracic dystrophy. J Pediatr 120:754–756.
- 11. Kozlowski K, Masel j. Asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy without respiratory disease: report of two cases of the latent form. Pediatr Radiol 1976; 5: 30-3.
- 12. Williams AJ, Vawter G, Reid LM. Lung structure in asphyxiating thoracic dystrophy. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1984; 108:658-61.

- Verma A, Gurudatta HS. Jeune syndrome. Indian Pediatr 2004; 41: 954-5.
- Donaldson MDC, Warner AA, Trompeter R, Haycock GB, Chantler C. Familial juvenile nephronophtisis, Jeune's syndrome, and associated disorders. Arch Dis Child 1985; 60: 426-34
- Amirou M, Bourdat-Michel G, Pinel N, Huet G, GaultierJ, Cochat P. Successful renal transplantation in Jeune's syndrome type 2. Pediatr Nephrol 1988; 12: 293-4.
- Özçay F, Derbent M, Demirhan B, Tokel K, Saatçi U. A family with Jeune-sydrome. Pediar Nephrol 2001; 16[8]:623-6.
- 17. Labrune P, Fabre M, Troche P, et al. Jeune sydrome and liver disease: report of the three cases treated with ursodeoxycholic acid. Am J med Gene 1999; 87: 324-8.
- Ellis RW, van Creveld SA. A sydrome chracterised by ectodermal dysplasia, polydactyly, chondroplasia ad congenital morbus cordis; report of three cases. Arch Dis Child 1940; 15: 65-84.
- Burn J, Hall C, Marsden D, Mathew DJ. Autosomal domiant thoracolaryngopelvic dysplasia: Barnes syndrome. J Med Genet 1986; 23: 345-9.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 107-8

# Case Report

Doi: 10.17546/msd.24399

# Late Presentation of Pericarditis After Honey Bee Sting: Case report

Celaleddin Soyalp<sup>1</sup>, Suleyman Cagan Efe<sup>2</sup>

# Abstract

Honey bees are members of the hymenopteran family. The sting of honey bees venom can cause a range of effects from irritation to severe form of anaphylactic shock. Anaphylactic shock occurring after honey bee sting is reported in literature for about 5% of cases. Pericarditis occurring due to honey bee sting is a rare complication, which was previously not reported. We reported a case of pericarditis following a honeybee sting with late clinical manifestations. In our case, ECG demonstrated pericarditis at the third day of hospitalization as a late complication

Key words: Anaphylactic shock, honey bee sting, pericarditis, late presentation

# Introduction

Honey bee sting complications can range from abdominal pain, vomiting-nausea, headache, anxiety, itching, palpitations, and high blood pressure to severe form of anaphylactic shock. Anaphylactic shock occurring after honey bee sting is reported in literature for about 4.4-6.4 % of cases (1,2). Pericarditis occurring due to honey bee sting is a rare complication, which was previously not reported. Kounis syndrome, myocardial infarction and myocarditis induced by allergic hypersensitivity and anaphylactoid reactions, was described in the literature. We reported a case of pericarditis following a honeybee sting with late clinical manifestations

# **Case Presentation**

A 48-year-old woman was admitted to our hospital thirty minutes later after being stung. Her past medical history included only hypertension. The patient exhibited a mild drowsy mental state with urticarial rash in the neck and upper abdominal region. In the emergency room, periorbital and perioral edema subsequently developed. She became agitated, tachypneic with stridor, desaturated (SaO2: 72% on oxygen mask) and hypotensive (Blood pressure was 80/50mmHg) with moist extremities. After intravenous adrenaline (2mg), intravenous steroids (Hydrocortisone 100mg), antihistamines (Chlorpheniramine 10mg) and intravenous fluids were immediately given; she was intubated and subsequently transferred to the intensive care unit.

Her vital signs became more stable after an hour (blood pressure, 120/75 mmHg; heart rate, 98 bpm; SpO2: 98%). At the first day of hospitalization, electrocardiography (ECG) and high sensitivity troponin assays did not demonstrate any evidence of myocardial injury. On second day the patient was extubated.

Third day of hospitalization she complained of pleuritic substernal chest heaviness, and dyspnea. The laboratory results were as follows: leukocytes 14000 (normal range:  $4-10\times103$ ), CRP (C-reaktif protein): 32mg/L (normal value: 0-8), CK (Creatine Kinase): 140 (normal value: 55-170 u/L), CK-MB: 3 (< 5ng/ml) with mild elevation in the troponin I: 0.024 (< 0.014 ng/ml).

The other laboratory results were normal. ECG (Electrocardiography) showed significant ST-segment elevation in all leads except avr compatible with pericarditis (Figure 1). ECG showed normal left ventricular systolic and diastolic functions with no pericardial effusion.

At the second day of colchicine and ibuprofen treatment her complaints significantly decreased. The cardiac enzymes were returned to the normal values and the control echocardiography showed normal findings on the sixth day. The patient was discharged with ibuprofen and colchicine treatment.

1 Ağrı State Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology, Agri, Turkey

2Ağrı State Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Agri, Turkey

Received: 19-12-2015, Accepted 21-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Celaleddin Soyalp E-mail: c.soyalp@hotmail.com



Figure 1: Electrocardiography of patient

# Discussion

Honey bees are members of the hymenopteran family. The honey bee sting can cause a range of side effects from irritation to severe form of anaphylactic shock (3). Multi organ failures, rhabdomyolysis, electrocardiographic changes, acute kidney injury and myocardial infarction are well known complications (4,5). Several cases of myocarditis and Kounis syndrome occurring after the honey bee sting have been reported. Type I Kounis syndrome includes patients with normal coronary arteries caused by acute release of inflammatory mediators during the allergic reaction Epinephrine, dopamine (6). and thromboxanes in honey bee venom can cause severe platelet aggregation, direct vasoconstriction and myocardial damage or dysfunction (7).Hypersensitivity myocarditis is diagnosed in the presence of eosinophils, atypical lymphocytes, and giant cells in myocardial biopsy, whereas biopsy in Kounis syndrome is typically normal (6). Late gadolinium enhancement in magnetic resonance imagination is highly specific for diagnosing of Kounis syndrome and myocarditis (8).

In our case, ECG demonstrated pericarditis at the third day of hospitalization as a late complication. Direct toxin effect on pericardial damage and inflammatory response secondary to allergenic effect of toxin may have an additional role in pericarditis mechanism.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### References

- Witharana EW, Wijesinghe SK, Pradeepa KS, Karunaratne WA, Jayasinghe S. Bee and wasp stings in Deniyaya; a series of 322 cases. Ceylon Med J. 2015; 60(1):5-9.
- Wijerathna BT, Rathnayake GK, Agampodi SK. Hornet stings presenting to a primary care hospital in Anuradhapura district in Sri Lanka. J Wildness & Environmental Medicine 2014; 25: 122-6.
- Gruchalla RS. Immunotherapy in allergy to insect stings in children. N Engl J Med 2004; 351: 707-9.
- Kularatne SAM, Gawarammana IB, De Silva PHJG. Severe multiorgan dysfunction following multiple wasp (Vespa affinis) stings. Ceylon Med J 2003; 48: 146-7.
- Levine HD. Acute myocardial infarction following wasp sting. Report of two cases and critical survey of the literature. Am Heart J 1976; 91:365–74.
- Kounis NG, Mazarakis A, Tsigkas G, Giannopoulos S, Goudevenos J. "Kounis syndrome: a new twist on an old disease," Future Cardiology 2011; 7 (6):805–824.
- Brasher GW, Sanchez SA. Reversible electrocardiographic changes associated with wasp sting anaphylaxis. JAMA 1974;229:1210–1211.
- Almpanis GC, A. Mazarakis DA. Dimopoulos et al. "The conundrumof hypersensitivity cardiac disease: hypersensitivity myocarditis, acute hypersensitivity coronary syndrome (Kounis syndrome) or both?" International Journal of Cardiology; 2011; 148(2):237–240.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 109-11

# Case Report

Doi: 10.17546/msd.77772

# A Case of Crohn's Disease Admitted with Acute Abdomen

Yeliz Cagan Appak<sup>1</sup>\*, Guzide Dogan<sup>1</sup>, Serdar Tarhan<sup>2</sup>, Semin Ayhan<sup>3</sup>, Erhun Kasırga<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

Crohn's disease is an inflammatory disorder and may affect any part of gastrointestinal tract. The signs and symptoms of Crohn's disease are similar to many other abdominal disorders. Crohn's disease does not typically present as an acute abdomen. However, Crohn's disease should be considered in the differential diagnosis of patients with abdominal pain, especially relevant to patients with a long history of vague abdominal complaints and those with unexplained weight loss or growth retardation. In this case report, we present such a patient of acute abdomen admitted to us after appendectomy and diagnosed Crohn's disease finally.

Key words: Crohn's disease; abdomen; child

#### Introduction

Crohn's disease (CD) is a disorder that can involve the whole gastrointestinal system (GIS) and that can show diversified clinical symptoms (1). Therefore, it may be difficult to make differential diagnosis in case of CD. Concerning the classical CD, typical story, right lower quadrant tenderness or mass, characteristic radiographic symptoms may ease diagnosis (2). For CD patients who do not come with classical symptoms, acute abdominal symptoms may lead to confusion in diagnosis and to unnecessary surgical interventions. In this report, we present the case of a 17-year old male patient who came with acute abdominal clinic and appendectomy was applied, but when the symptoms did not regress, he was considered and diagnosed to have CD.

## **Case Presentation**

The seventeen year-old male patient reportedly applied to emergency service for having abdominal pain for the last two weeks that was more explicit in the abdominal right lower quadrant and epigastric region. The patient was evaluated by the department of general surgery and mesentery lymphadenitis was detected; as the abdominal pain lessened in the followup, the patient was discharged with ciprofloxacin and ornidazole treatment. One week later he applied to the emergency service again with the increase in abdominal pain. In the physical examination; weight: 46.8 kg (<3p), length: 164 cm (3-10p); the patient had epigastric region and abdominal right lower quadrant tenderness and rebound, and was hospitalized by the department of general surgery. In the abdominal ultrasonography (USG) free fluid around of cecum was detected and the patient was followed on suspicion of perforated appendicitis. Computerized tomography (CT) of the abdomen revealed wall thickening in the part descending to duodenum and indicated duodenitis. The patient was operated by the department of general surgery, duodenum perforation was not detected and appendectomy was applied. The abdominal pain repeated 10 days after application of appendectomy and following his application to general surgery, he was directed to pediatric gastroenterology. When the patient applied to us, his physical examination showed that he had prevalent abdominal pain more explicit in both of the lower quadrants and he lost 5 kilos in one month. In the repeated CT, mucosal thickening was seen in the terminal ileum, intermittent wall thickening was seen in the jejunum and ileum, and free fluid in pelvis (Figure 1). White blood cell count of the patient: 13700 /Ul, hemoglobin: 13,7g/dl, platelet count: 576000 /Ul, aspartate aminotransferase: 17 U/L, alanine aminotransferase: 25 U/L, total protein: 7 g/dL, albumin: 4 g/dl, Creactive protein: 2,3 mg/dl (normal: 0-0,5 mg/dl), erythrocyte sedimentation rate: 46 mm/s, vitamin B12: 230 pg/mL, ferritin: 176 ng/mL, folic acid: 18 ng/mL, ANCA: negative. In the upper GIS endoscopy, apparent aphthous and convoluted ulcer, fragile and granular mucosa was observed in the duodenum second part and there were also regions where usual mucosa could be observed (Figure 2).

Received: 27-11-2015, Accepted 29-12-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Manisa-Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Manisa-Turkey

<sup>3</sup> Celal Bayar University School of Medicine Department of Pathology, Manisa-Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Yeliz Cagan Appak E-mail: yelizcagan@yahoo.com

The colonoscopy of the patient revealed partly faintness in mucosa, nodularity and granular pattern in the colon and there were skin tag and haemorrhoidal formations in the anal region.



Figure 1. Increase in wall thickness of the patient in jejunum and ileum presented by abdomen CT.



Figure 2. Apparent aphthous and convoluted ulcers, fragile and granular mucosa in the second part of duodenum as presented by the upper GIS endoscopy.

The patient was reported to have edematous colon mucosa with the result of colonoscopic histopathology and as a result of the upper GIS endoscopy pathology edema was seen in the lamina propria of duodenum, little number of leukocyte with polymorphic nuclei infiltration and the findings were evaluated nonspecifically. The patient's abdominal pain continued and he was reported to have normal appendix vermiformis as the pathology result of appendectomy material, and together with the clinic and laboratory

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 109-11

symptoms he was considered to have CD. The patient started to receive methylprednisolone and mesalamin treatment and he was supported by enteral feeding. The clinical symptoms of the patient regressed and azathioprine treatment was added and the steroid treatment was gradually cut down and terminated. The patient put on weight in the follow-up and his complaints did not repeat.

# Discussion

CD is a chronic, recurrent, inflammatory disorder characterized by transmural inflammation that may affect any part of the GIS, mostly involving ileum and colon (1). The clinical symptoms of the CD varies greatly according to its location and severity of the disease and may be confused with the symptoms of many abdomen based diseases such as tuberculosis, ulcerative colitis and irritable bowel disorder. Although there are many examinations used for diagnosis of CD, there is no gold standard method for establishing a differential diagnosis (2). Therefore, diagnosis of CD to differ it from other diseases is difficult. While non-caseating granuloma indicates CD, its non-existence does not exclude the diagnosis. There is no histopathological symptom specific to CD and the symptoms detected can also be seen in other disorders. The CD diagnosis is given when the story and the physical examination symptoms are supported by detectable laboratory, radiological, serologic or pathological data (3). The duodenal lesions in the upper GIS endoscopy, colonoscopy findings, wall thickening at jejunum, ileum and terminal ileum revealed by abdominal CT, loss of weight, height percentile retardation and the highness of acute phase reactants in our patient led to consideration of diagnosis of CD and the patient gave response to the medical treatment.

The antibiotics treatment that the surgery department gave at the initial application of our patient might have provided a temporary relief. In perforated appendicitis, especially as the disorder prolongs, the standard method of appendectomy is inadequate in preventing the development of complications such as intestinal fistule, peritonitis, intraabdominal abscess and acute intestinal obstruction (4). In the recurrent application of the patient, he received diagnosis of urgent surgical indication probably with the consideration that the patient had right lower quadrant tenderness, rebound and the USG was interpreted as perforated appendicitis.

Concerning the distinctive diagnosis of abdominal pain, CD should be considered especially for those patients who have long term indeterminate abdominal complaints, loss of weight and growth retardation. Abdominal pain may accompany CD, but typically acute abdominal symptoms are not frequent. For this reason, patients who come with acute abdominal symptoms and other symptoms that may recall CD are soft, may receive late diagnosis in the aftermath of many examinations and unnecessary surgical interventions (3,5). As is the case for our patient, loss of weight, height percentile retardation, together with the story and physical examination are cautionary with regards to chronic diseases and especially for children, these features should lead to consideration of further examination before surgery.

There is the case of a fourteen-year old male patient in the literature who, following recurrent application to emergency service due to abdominal pain and vomiting, was considered to have perforated appendicitis. After he received resection for reasons of dilatation, increase in thickness and mass image in distal ileum in laparotomy, he received the diagnosis of CD (5). For patients who apply with CD complications such as stricture, obstruction and perforation in GIS in the first diagnosis, acute abdomen symptoms can be observed and the diagnosis can be made with difficulty. The literature includes cases of patients who apply with acute abdomen symptoms and considered as intestinal obstruction after application, and following surgery, terminal ileum involvement is in the foreground and the patients receive CD diagnosis histopathologically (6). It was seen that acute abdomen symptoms in our patient were not related with CD complications, and perforation, fistule, stricture was not detected, and the symptoms lessened with medical treatment. The abdomen pain of the patient was connected to small bowel involvement.

Inflammatory disorders of the right lower quadrant can mimic CD. There is also a case who had recurrent abdominal pain and was taken under treatment for having CD and whose abdominal pain repeated while under treatment and consequently received diagnosis of chronic non-granulomatous appendicitis in the literature (7). Therefore, as in this case, appendicitis can receive a wrong CD diagnosis and CD may cause confusion in diagnosis including appendix or can be seen only with appendix involvement (8).

In 0.5-4% of CD patients, duodenum involvement is observed (9,10). In our patient the lesions could be seen in in the second part of duodenum with the upper GIS endoscopy and this helped in diagnosing CD. The patients having duodenal involvement very rarely have duodenal stricture requiring surgical treatment (10). Therefore, the follow-up of our patient is important with regards to long term complications.

Consequently, because CD can involve many parts of the GIS and because its symptoms can be confused with many other disorders the diagnosis of CD becomes difficult. Especially for patients, like our patient, who have acute abdomen like recurrent abdominal pain, CD should definitely be taken into account in the definitive diagnosis.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### References

- Podolsky DK. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 417–429.
- Stange EF, Travis SP, Vermeire S, Beglinger C, Kupcinkas L, Geboes K, et al. European evidence based consensus on the diagnosis and management of Crohn's disease: definitions and diagnosis. Gut 2006; 55; 1-15.
- Laass MW, Roggenbuck D, Conrad K. Diagnosis and classification of Crohn's disease. Autoimmun Rev 2014; 13: 467-471.
- Shiryajev YN, Volkov NN, Kashintsev AA, Chalenko MV, Radionov YV. Appendectomy and resection of the terminal ileum with secondary severe necrotic changes in acute perforated appendicitis. Am J Case Rep 2015; 16: 37-40.
- Judge J, Giordano BP, English J. Crohn's disease masquerading as an acute abdomen. J Pediatr Health Care 2014; 28: 444-450.
- Gupta M, Goyal S, Goyal R. Crohn's disease presenting as acute abdomen: Report of two cases. N Am J Med Sci 2011; 3: 209-211.
- Shaoul R, Rimar Y, Toubi A, Mogilner J, Polak R, Jaffe M. Crohn's disease and recurrent appendicitis: a case report. World J Gastroenterol 2005; 11: 6891-6893.
- Hsu WF, Wu CS, Wu JM, Chung CS. Ileal Crohn's disease with perforation misdiagnosed as ruptured appendicitis: a case report. J Formos Med Assoc 2013; 112: 652-653.
- Nugent FW, Roy MA. Duodenal Crohn's disease: an analysis of 89 cases. Am J Gastroenterol 1989; 84: 249– 254
- Racz JM, Davies W. Severe stricturing Crohn's disease of the duodenum: A case report and review of surgical options. Int J Surg Case Rep 2012; 3: 242-245.

doi

Copyright © 2014 The Author(s); This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. All Rights reserved by international journal of Medical Science and Discovery.



Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 112-5

Case Report

Doi: 10.17546/msd.32281

# An unusual reason of abdominal pain: Rapunzel syndrome case report and literature review

Sevgi Buyukbese Sarsu<sup>1\*</sup>, Ali Karapur<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

Bezoar is defined as a mass formed as a consequence of the accumulation of indigestible foreign substances within the gastric outlet or small bowels with resultant dysfunctional gastric emptying Gastric bezoar extending into the small or large bowel and causing a clinical condition called Rapunzel syndrome This rare pediatric condition is observed in young girls with psychiatric problems such as trichotilomania, who frequently feel an irresistable desire to pluck out, and swallow their hairs. A 12-year-old girl was admitted to our hospital with complaints of abdominal pain, growth retardation, and partial hair loss. Endoscopic examination revealed the presence of gastroduodenale trichobezoar, and her giant trichobezoar was extracted using conventional laparotomy, and anterior gastrostomy. With this case representation we reported a case with Rapunzel Syndrome in the light of literature data.

Key words: Unusual abdominal pain, gastroduodenal trichobezoar, trichotillomania, abdominal mass, growth retardation, laparotomy, child

# Introduction

Bezoars are defined as masses formed by indigestible materials which aggregate, solidify in the stomach and bowels of humans after the oral intake. Bezoar is a word derived from Persian (Persian pad-zahr, from pad ) which means antidote. In the literature, formation of bezoars from drugs, sand particles, chewing gum, mushrooms, antacids, sponge, and sunflower seeds have been reported (1,2). They are classified based on the content. For instance, continuous intake of plastic material (plastobezoar), antacid-like drugs (pharmobezoar), vegetable, and fruit -based materials (phytobezoar), milk and milk plucked products (lactobezoar) and hairs (trichobezoar) cause development of various kinds of bezoars indicated in the brackets.

Trichobezoar is a rarely encountered condition emerging with symptoms and signs generally involving the gastrointestinal system. Human hair can easily accumulate between gastric mucosal folds because of its smooth surface. Ingested food particles and gastric mucus together with human hair can form a trichobezoar (2). Trichobezoars can be localized only in the stomach or they can extend into pylorus, duodenum, jejunum, and colon.

Fragments broken from the terminal part of the trichobezoar which is localized in the proximal part of

the stomach or small bowel can cause intestinal obstruction termed as Rapunzel syndrome. (2).

It was firstly reported in the literature in 1779 as an autopsy finding in a patient who died due to peritonitis development as a consequence of gastric perforation. This clinical condition was named after a 12 –yearold, long-haired fairy tale character Rapunzel.The first use of the term was recorded in 1968 by Vaughan et al. to define a case with trichobezoar (3-6). Since it manifests itself with nonspecific symptoms of intraabdominal mass, abdominal pain, weight loss, nausea and vomiting, constipation or diarrhea. This syndrome generally cannot be diagnosed at its early stage. Most of the time, underlying mental or psychiatric diseases accompany this condition (2).

Cases of mucosal ulcer, and perforation, proteinenergy malnutrition, obstructive jaundice, pancreatitis and death related to trichobezoar have been reported (2). Even though laparoscopic and endoscopic methods have been used in the treatment, most of the time, because of the presence of bulky masses, conventional laparotomy has been preferred (2,3). In this case, report diagnosis and treatment approach in a female child with rarely encountered Rapunzel syndrome has been reported in the light of the literature.

Received: 19-01-2016, Accepted 04-02-2015, Available Online 15-02-2016

<sup>1</sup> Dept. of Pediatric Surgery, Cengiz Gokcek Obstetrics and Children's Hospital, Gaziantep, Turkey

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding Author: Sevgi Buyukbese Sarsu E-mail: sarsusevgi@yahoo.com.tr

#### Case

A 12-year-old girl was referred to the outpatient clinics of Pediatric Surgery of Cengiz Gokcek Obstetrics and Children's Hospital with complaints of growth retardation persisting for nearly a year. It was determined from patient's anamnesis that her abdominal pain was of colicky type and localized on the epigastric region. She had not had any known disease or undergone surgery previously. Her family history revealed that she had lost her parents at an early age and brought up by her second-degree relatives. On physical examination, her general health state was in good condition. She was 136 cm (< 3 %) tall, and weighed 30.5 kg (<3 %). She had partial alopecia. On abdominal palpitation, a solid, mobile mass with irregular contours was detected over epigastric region. Laboratory tests did not reveal any pathology apart from iron deficiency- anaemia. Standing, plain abdominal radiograms demonstrated an opacity localized in the left upper abdominal quadrant. Accordingly, on EGD examinations performed, a giant mass completely filling the stomach and extending into the duodenum was detected. On abdominal CT, over distended stomach, and an image extending from the gastric lumen into duodenum which suggested the presence of a foreign body was observed. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy, the fixed mass extending from gastric cardia into duodenum, which did not allow passage of the endoscope was evaluated as trichobezoar. Since the mass was very bulky, which was not amenable to endoscopic extraction, and its surface was too hard to be fragmented with a biopsy forceps through supraumbilical midline laparotomy incision exploratory surgery was started. Anterior gastrostomy incision was performed on gastric body, and a trichobezoar which completely filled the stomach which then extended into the second part of the duodenum, and took its shape was extracted (Figures 1, and 2).



Figure 1: Anterior gastrotomy incision on the gastric body

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 112-5



Figure 2: Trichobezoar which took the shape of the stomach, and the duodenum

In the histopathological examination, a hairball which contained food residues and took the shape of the stomach measuring 32x11cm and weighing 1.8 kg was detected. The patient did not experience any complications during the postoperative period, therefore she was discharged on the 7th postsurgery day. The pediatric psychiatry detected obsessivecompulsive disorder and trichotillomania (impulsive hair plucking) with recommendation of ambulatory controls. Enlightened consent form was obtained from the patient

### Discussion

Trichobezoar is a type of bezoar which can generate unusual, abdominal pain in childhood and adolescence. Since the mass grows slowly and yields nonspecific symptoms, it generally remains concealed for a long time. Symptoms like abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, weakness, growth retardation, alopecia, history of psychiatric disease, nutritional, and vitamin deficiencies, iron deficiency anemia, palpable epigastric mass (Lamerton sign), detection of hair strands in stool in addition to radiological findings aid in the diagnosis of trichobezoars (2). In our case, colicky abdominal pain, growth retardation, and partial alopecia were found. Especially contrastenhanced radiograms can be helpful in the differential diagnosis of the masses localized in the upper gastrointestinal system. Endoscopy is known to have the highest sensitivity and specificity because it provides information about the structure of the mass. On ultrasonograms, they can be seen as a wide hyperechoeic band localized in the stomach, and bowels. CT examination can yield information about the location, and distribution characteristics of the bezoar. In our case, even if a mass lesion was detected in EGD examinations and abdominal CT, the diagnosis could not be confirmed till GIS endoscopy was applied. In the literature, it has been indicated that a case of trichobezoar which cannot be detected in the 113

short-term can cause ileus, perforation, ulceration, bleeding, pancreatitis, obstructive jaundice, superior mesenteric artery syndrome, invagination, peritonitis or even death (3).

Continuous intake of indigestible materials is mostly held responsible from development of trichobezoar (2). The etiological factos include psychiatric problems including underlying depression, anxiety, obsessive compulsive disorder, emotional factors such as stress, problematic family environment, loss of mother and/or father or mental retardation. Our patient had lost her parents. Generally, the underlying cause of trichobezoars is an impulse control disorder named trichotillomania. Trichotillomania which was firstly described in 1889, is a condition of partial alopecia (partial baldness), mainly caused by impulsive hair pluckings. Patchy areas of baldness were also detected in our case. Some authors have also reported that these patients had felt a desire even to eat their eye brows, eyelashes, arm, leg, and pubic hair. The incidence of trichotillomania ranges between 0.6, and 1.6 %, and in 30 % of these patients.

Although trichobezoars are known to be most prevalent in the age of 13-20 years, a 54-year-old case has been reported in the literature. They are most frequently localized in the stomach and take the shape of this organ in the long-term. Their migration from the stomach into the small bowel may cause obstructive jaundice, pancreatitis, protein-loss enteropathy (7). Giant trichobezoars develops only in one percent of the cases. Our case was quiet a large trichobezoar in a small girl. In "Rapunzel syndrome," the terminal end of trichobezoar localized in the stomach extends towards small bowel. This condition is a very rarely seen form of trichobezoar, and more than 90 % of the cases consist of girls younger than 20 years of age (2,4). In our case, a trichobezoar completely filling the stomach of a 12-year-old girl, and extending into the duodenum was observed.

Phytobezoar is the most prevalent type of bezoar which is usually encountered in adult patients secondary to gastric motility, and consequently decrease in gastric acid levels. Risk factors for the development of phytobezoar include history of gastric surgery like vagotomy, pyloroplasty, Billroth II and gastroenterostomy. In the pathogenesis of phytobezoar formation in these patients include decrease in truncal gastric acidity and delayed gastric emptying. More rarely, it can be seen in cystic fibrosis patients who had lung transplantation following or cholecystectomies (2). However, lactobezoars can develop during neonatal period secondary to use of concentrated baby formulas for premature infants.

The objectives of the treatment include extraction of the mass as a whole and prevention of recurrences. Very small bezoars at the time of diagnosis can be

Medical Science and Discovery 2016; 3(2): 112-5

thrown out naturally through gastrointestinal route by using a liquid diet and prokinetic drugs (2). In the endoscopic treatment, bezoar mass is fragmented into small pieces using biopsy forceps before the extraction. Success rates of this method ranges between 85-90 percent (2). Use of extracorporal shock waves or Nd-YAG laser for the fragmentation of the bezoar is already acknowledged (2,8). Apart from endoscopic fragmentation, application of intragastric enzymes (cellulose, lipase, and N-acetylcysteine) enables disintegration of bezoars (8). Phytobezoars and lactobeozoars are relatively small and can easily be broken into pieces, so endoscopic treatment is effective in their fragmentation. However, in trichobezoars the success rates of endoscopic treatments are not so great.

Since hairs contained in trichobezoars are resistant to mechanical fragmentation or enzymatic disintegration, generally surgical treatment is preferred instead of endoscopic interventions. Besides, emergence of complications caused by bezoars creates an indication for surgical interventions (9). In this case, open or laparoscopic surgery can be used. In the laparoscopic method, broken fragments of trichobezoars can cause intestinal occlusion and hair strands falling into the peritoneal space may result in complications. In the Rapunzel syndrome, currently open surgery and anterior gastrotomy are recommended so as to extract giant gastric bezoars (8). Success rate of 99 % has been reported for conventional surgery (3). In this case, we made a diagnosis of trichobezoar based on endoscopic examination, and then we performed conventional laparotomy. Bezoar can sometimes simultaneously occur in more than one foci, so complete gastrointestinal system exploration should be made. In our patient, since the hair ball was very bulky we extracted it with open surgery and complete intestinal exploration was performed. Some authors reported development of recurrences following surgical interventions (3,10). During our two years of follow-up, we haven't encountered recurrences related to the presence of bezoar.

Trichobezoar is an important condition which should be treated before the development of complications. Therefore, in young girls complaining of abdominal pain and abdominal mass who have psychiatric diseases accompanied with habits of hair plucking (trichotillomania) in addition of trichophagia (eating hairs) possibility of trichobezoar should be contemplated. In its treatment, still conventional laparotomy is used prevalently. Besides, as an important issue, young girls with trichobezoars should be also followed up by pediatric psychiatry in order to prevent development of recurrences.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### References

1. Lopes LR, Oliveira PSP, Pracucho EM, Camargo MA, de Souza Coelho Neto J, Andreollo NA. The rapunzel syndrome: an unusual trichobezoar presentation. Case Report Med 2010; 2010: 841028.

2. Kırkıl C, Böyük A, Bülbüller N, Aygen E, Karabulut K. Nadir rastlanan bir trikobezoar olgusu: Rapunzel sendromu. Gaziantep Tıp Derg 2011; 17(2): 108-110.

3. Gorter RR, Kneepkens CM, Mattens EC, Aronson DC, Heij HA. Management of trichobezoar: case report and literature review. Pediatr Surg Int 2010; 26: 457-63.

4. Vila S, Garcia C, Piscoya A. Giant gastroduodenal trichobezoar: Rapunzel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104: 2864-5.

5. Crawley AJ, Guillerman RP. Rapunzel syndrome. Pediatr Radiol 2010; 40: S100.

doi http://dx.doi.org/10.17546/msd.32281

6. Bashir EA, Samiullah, Sadiq MA, Yusuf O, Karim K. Rapunzel syndrome. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 2010; 22: 218-20.

7. Chogle A, Bonilla S, Browne M, Madonna MB, Parsons W, Donaldson J, Alonso E.Rapunzel syndrome: a rare cause of biliary obstruction. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010; 51: 522-3.

8. Sharma D, Srivastava M, Babu R, Anand R, Rohtagi A, Thomas S. Laparoscopic treatment of gastric bezoar. JSLS 2010; 14: 263-7.

9. Hernandez-Peredo-Rezk G, Escarcega-Fujigaki P, Campillo-Ojeda ZV, Sanchez-Martinez ME, Rodriguez-Santiba-ez MA, Angel- Aguilar AD, et al. Trichobezoar can be treated laparoscopically. J Laparoendoscop Adv Surg Tech A 2009; 19: 111-3.

10. Tiwary SK, Kumar S, Khanna R, Khanna AK. Recurrent rapunzel syndrome. Singapore Med J 2011; 52(6): 128-30.



MEDICAL SCIENCE & DISCOVERY

ISSN: 2148-6832 Lycia Press LONDON UK



International Journal of Medical Science and Discovery

Open Access Scientific Journal February 2016, Vol.3, No.2

www.medscidiscovery.com